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(Chinese Accounting Standard for Business
Enterprises)
Chief Executive
Tier Common Equity Tier 1
Chief Financial Officer
China
Investment Corporation
(Chief Risk Officer)
Credit Valuation Adjustment
Central
Huijin Investment Limited
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Po Sang Securities
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.................................... (Fitch Ratings)
FVOCE e
FVPL e
GDP Gross Domestic Product
HIBOR oo e Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
HKAS  ............ Hong Kong Accounting Standard
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
HKFRS e
HKICPA ... Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants
HKMA - .l Hong Kong Monetary Authority
Hong Kong Special
HKSAR e Administrative Region of the PRC
ICAAP e Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process
IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standard)
IMM Internal Models Method
I
LCO oottt ittt et et e

Legal & Compliance and Operational Risk Management

Department
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LOR ot Liquidity Coverage Ratio
LIBOR ittt e e London Interbank Offered Rate
MC Management Committee
MCO e
MPE Mandatory Provident Fund
MPE 485

.............................. Moody s Investors

Service

NZA
NED e
NSFR e

.............................. 426
OTC e Over-the-counter
P

....................................... BOCI
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Price Value of a Basis Point
Risk Committee
Renminbi RMB
Risk Management Department
Risk-weighted Assets
571 Securities and Futures Ordinance

Standardised (Credit Risk)

Standardised (Market Risk)

Standardised (Operational

Risk)

(Standard &

Poor s Ratings Services)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings)

Limited
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3.1.1
2010 11 9
2014 12 10
2015 2016
2018 (AEOI)
129 AEOI
3.1.2
2023
16.5
3.1.3
2023
2024
15
16 2024 /2025 16.5
2008 2009
3.1.4
1,000 1.00
1,000 2.00
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2005
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
34,738 31,941 38,750 51,078 52,334
(637,095) (585,798) (710,675) (936,771) (959, 806)
10,842 11,872 9,800 9,167 9,893
(198,842) (217,732) (179,732) (168,123) (181,438)
18,460 15,704 - - -
(338,556) (288,011) - - -
] - 1,137 946 1,751
- - (20,853) (17,350) (32,113)
76,641 65,575 - . _
(1,405,596) (1,202,646) - - -
- - 54,215 65,498 71,253
- - (994,303) (1,201,233) (1,306,780)
51,767 46,837 51,867 59,165 66,171
(949,407) (858,991) (951,241) (1,085,086) (1,213,576)
35,420 30,430 34,917 42,558 48,677
(649,603) (558,086) (640,378) (780,514) (892,736)
33,583 29,968 33,162 40,914 46,754
(615,912) (549,613) (608,191) (750,363) (857,468)
28,468 24,999 27,230 34,857 39,118
(522,103) (458,482) (499, 398) (639,277) (717,424)
26,487 22,970 25,940 32,723 38,233
(485,772) (421,270) (475,740) (600, 140) (701,193)
@ 13,131 11,947 14,347 17,678 21,029
(240,823) (219,108) (263,124) (324,215) (385,672)
28,951 22,517 15,045 37,898 37,148
(530,961) (412,962) (275,925) (695,049) (681,294)
3,320,981 3,639,430 3,666,505 3,868,783 4,194,408
(60,906,792) | (66,747,146) | (67,243,702) | (70,953,480) | (76,925,443)
3,001,326 3,311,969 3,340,670 3,545,354 3,852,178
(55,044,319) | (60,741,511) | (61,267,888) | (65,021,792) | (70,648,945)
290,302 297,999 299,788 320,145 338,716
(5,324,139) (5,465,302) (5,498,112) (5,871,459) (6,212,051)
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27.46 28.18 28.35 30.28 32.03
(504) (517) (520) (555) (587)
2.5052 2.1726 2.4535 3.0950 3.6162
(46) (40) (45) (7) (66)
) 22.10 21.44 21.52 21.18 22.00
Tierl ® 19.67 19.11 19.30 19.02 20.02
® 9.05 7.67 8.50 10.60 11.61
@ 49.6 52.0 55.3 54.0 55.0
142,620 88,000 (25,820) 197,117 1,875
(2,615,651) (1,613,920) ((473,539))|  (3,615,126) (34,388)
(1,324) (1,329) (1,223) (1,959) (2,333)
((24,282)) ((24,374)) ((22,430)) ((35,928)) ((42,787))
(30,474) (15,427) 60,309 (43,400) (22,758)
( )
((558,893)) ((282,931))|  (1,106,067) ((795,956)) ((417,382))
12 31 456,058 531,915 540,925 686,930 649,288
(8,364,104) (9,755,321) (9,920,565) | (12,598,296) | (11,907,942)
14,915 14,553 14,832 14,916 15,309
(€Y
@
) 2023 HKFRS 17 2022
@ (@ 2024 29 2024 1 0.570 6,026
() 2025 26 2024 12 31 1 1.419 15,003
2025
2025 12 31
®) HKMA
®)
©)
2001 12
2001 10 BOC BOC
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BOC
100 BOCHK
2024 12 31 71,253
38,233 2024 12 31 4,194,408
338,716
2024 12 31
2024 12 31
A+ A-1
Aa3 P-1
A+ Fl+
2024 11 14 A+
Fl+
3.2
2006 BOCG BOC 51 BOC
BOCG
BOC BOC
BOCG 2010 10

BOCHK
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3.3
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RPC( )

3.3.1
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2019
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BOC
1980
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PlanAhead
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3.3.2

small

and medium enterprise( SME )
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3.3.3

2024 12 31
9.14 352,052
14.15 593,595

ALM

2024
223.79 250.58 231.81 201.06

HKMA
HKMA
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ALM
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3.4
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4.2

VaR
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99
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4.2
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LCO
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3.4.1.7

3.4.1.8

LCO

FCC LCO FCC CRO

3.4.1.9
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3.4.1.10
ALM
HKMA
internal capital adequacy assessment process(
HKMA 1
ICAAP
Tier 1
HKMA BOCHK BOC
C X - ) ( LAC
3.4.1.11
ALM
3.4.2 BOC
BOC
BOC
3.4.2.1
BOC
BOC
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BOC

4.4

3.4.2.2

BOC
BOC

3.4.2.3
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3.4.2.4

BOC
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BOC

BOC BOC

BOC

BOC

3.4.2.5
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3.5
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ATM
ATM

ATM i x24

API1

3.6

3.6.1

3.6.2
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2004 26
66.06

66.06

14A
3.6.3

2002 18
3.6.4
BOCI
BOCI
BOCI
BOCI BOCI
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BOCI
BOCI
BOCI
BOCI
2002
4.1
2024 12 31
(2024 12 31 )
100028 828,209 66.06
100818 294,388 66.06
BOC 34,805,603,955 66.06
53
4,462,256,913 66.06 BOC
V61110
BVI 1
(1) 2004
@ BOC  ( ) BvD)

BOC  ( )
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(BVD) (BVD
6,984,175,056
[€) BOCI
BOCI
BOCI BOCI
BOCI 24,479 72,000
BOCI 2,678
O] 2025
336
BOCI 143,522
2024 12 31 336
4.2
/
100.00
1964 10 16 43,042,840,858
BOC 51.00
1997 12 3,538,000,000
BOCHK 100.00
2010 10 383,000,000
BOC 100.00
1980 565,000,000
BOC 66.00
1997 12 200,000,000
BOCI- 42.24
1999 10 11 300,000,000
814,734,790 100.00
2000 14
100.00
2014 10,000,000,000
100.00
1985 10
100.00
1987 11 3,000,000
BOC 100.00
*x 2019 19 60,000,000
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BOCHK 100.00
*x 1990 16 70,000,000
BOCHK 100.00
xx 1993 26 40,000,000
100.00
1980 23 335,000,000
100.00
1993 10 19 335,000,000
100.00
1978 10 27 3,000,000
100.00
2014
100.00
2014
100.00
2014
100.00
2014
100.00
2014
100.00
2014
100.00
2014 13
100.00
2014
100.00
2014 13
100.00
2014
100.00
2014 13
100.00
2014
100.00
2014 18
100.00
2014 18
BOCHK 100.00
2010 10 28 372,500,000
100.00
GP) 2021
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2024 1 12 BOC
2024 12
2024 11 18
2025 28 54,216,310 814,734,790
14,916 393 2024 15,309
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1.1

2025

2025

2024
20

2024

2019
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BOCHK

2021 2025

2024 ESG
2023

2021-2025
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2026-2030

2031-2035

GBA
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100
BOCHK

BOCHK

BOCHK 2030

2030 2060
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2019
2024
60
GHG !

GHG 2024 2023 2022
GHG

GHG 1 2 tC0e 517 548 575

GHe , 3 C0,e 50,537 50,953 48,522

g 4 00 79 89 86
5 C0,e 12,024
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1 2 tC0,e 51,054 51,501 49,097
1 2 3 tCOye 51,133 51,590 49,182
GHG 2024 2023 2022
1 tC0,e/ 3.34 3.46 3.32
1 2 tCOZe/mz 0.12 0.12 0.13
6
2024 2023 2022
GJ 7,947 8,429 7,445
GJ 2,116 2,048 1,616
GJ 5,831 6,381 5,830
GJ 343,343 339,956 308,635
GJ 341,259 337,936 307,111
GJ 2,084 2,020 1,524
GJ 351,290 348,385 316,081
2024 2023 2022
1 GJ/ 22.95 23.36 21.31
1 GHG EPD EMSD
2010
GHG
2010 ESG
2 KP1 GHG €02 CH4
N20 HFC PFC SF6
NF3
2
3 GHG
4 GHG
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BOC BOC
GJ ESG

2024 2023 2022

304.00 336.48 356.36
2024 2023 2022

kg/ 19.86 27.98 29.23
2024 2023 2022

245.83 210.99 172.09

0.44 0.31 0.15

0.29 0.22 0.10

68.68 63.24 29.68

315.24 274.76 202.02
2024 2023 2022

No. 153 125 92

No. 2,821 2,346 1,789

No. 1,040 2,600 3,797

No. 4,014 5,071 5,678
2024 2023 2022

465.40 572.24 622.90
2024 2023 2022
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1 0.030 0.048 0.051
2024 2023 2022
98.26 109.83 97.80
2024 2023 2022
/ 0.0064 0.0091 0.0080
Ad
BOC BOC BOC
BOC BOC
2024 2023 2022
No. 385 590 975 365 575 940 360 558 918
No. 3,765 3,669 7,434 3,599 3,511 7,110 3,540 3,431 6,971
No. 4,573 2,327 6,900 4,569 2,297 6,866 4,590 2,353 6,943
No. 8,723 6,586 15,309 8,533 6,383 14,916 8,490 6,342 14,832

2024 2023 2022
20 80 18.18 81.82 18.18 81.82
2024 2023 2022

2.51 3.85 2.45 3.85 2.43 3.76
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24.59 23.97 24.13 23.54 23.87 23.13
29.87 15.20 30.63 15.40 30.95 15.86
* 56.98 43.02 57.21 42.79 57.25 42.75
2024 2023 2022
90.05 89.05 87.79
66.67 83.33 87.50
26.88 32.95 32.53
83.59 83.72 82.79
x 100
2024 2023 2022
No. No. No.
No. 1,279 8.35 1,415 9.49 1,841 12.41
No. 1,075 7.02 1,157 7.75 1,627 10.97
18-30 No. 1,268 8.28 1,499  10.05 1,888 12.72
31-40 No. 731 4.77 668 4.48 1,034 6.97
41-50 No. 244 1.59 248 1.66 370 2.50
51 No. 111 0.73 157 1.05 176 1.19
No. 1,738 11.35 1,984 13.30 2,795 18.84
No. 328 2.14 236 1.58 277 1.87
No. 288 1.88 352 2.36 396 2.67
No. 2,354 15.38 2,572 17.24 3,468 23.38
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2024 2023 2022
No. 8,425 6,339 14,674 8,247 6,211 14,458 8,235 6,141 14,376
No. 244 168 412 254 181 435 215 147 362
No. 225 167 392 244 177 421 206 145 351

92.21 99.40 95.15 96.06 97.79 96.78 95.81 98.64 96.96

12 |No. 213 158 a1 217 162 379 176 124 300
12 87.30 | 89.27 88.12 | 105.34 | 111.72 | 107.98 | 88.00 | 84.35 86.46
2024
2024 TCFD SASB SDGs
3.4
4.1
2024 2023
71,253 65,498 8.8
(17,494) (16,607) 5.3
53,759 48,891 10.0
48,677 42,558 14.4
46,754 40,914 14.3
39,118 34,857 12.2
38,233 32,723 16.8
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2024
RCEP
2024 71,253 5,755
8.8
39,118
4,261 12.2 38,233 5,510
26.1
2024 2024 581
1.6
1,808 8.8
4.1.1
2024 2023
139,439 128,489 8.5
(87,105) (77,411) 12.5
52,334 51,078 2.5
3,577,886 3,334,799 7.3
1.07% 1.12%
1.46% 1.53%
1.64% 1.63%
2024 52,334
8.0 58,856
243,087 7.3
1.64
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2024 1,222
4.2 2024
1.67
2024 2023
( ) () «( ) ()
646,302 2.15 430,345 2.03
1,264,395 3.74 1,208,912 3.37
1,654,660 4.66 1,682,932 4.65
12,529 5.39 12,610 6.80
3,577,886 3.89 3,334,799 3.85
527,819 - 528,473 -
4,105,705 3.39 3,863,272 3.33
( ) () ( ) ()
288,524 2.30 267,957 1.89
2,610,964 2.84 2,403,303 2.78
75,255 3.24 76,571 3.28
104,929 3.44 91,343 3.24
3,079,672 2.82 2,839,174 2.73
1,026,033 - 1,024,098 -
4,105,705 2.12 3,863,272 2.00
4.1.2
2024 2023
2,559 2,430 5.3

54/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2

OooooOodd
2,266 1,826 24.1
2,236 2,413 (7.3)
1,018 651 56.4
909 790 15.1
745 714 4.3
669 431 55.2
540 398 35.7
444 481 @.7
290 290 -
42 28 50.0
1,567 1,735 9.7)
13,285 12,187 9.0
(3,392) (3,020) 12.3
9,893 9,167 7.9
2024 9,893 726 7.9
24.1
56.4 55.2 35.7 15.1 4.3 50.0
7.3
2024 107 2.1
4.1.3
2024 2023
10,988 8,315 32.1
2,673 32.1 10,988
2024 438 8.3
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4.1.4
2024 2023
(782) 2,277
2023 2,277
2024 782
BOC BOC
2024 868
2024 86
BOC
4.1.5

2024 2023

11,470 10,725 6.9
1,525 1,394 9.4
2,867 2,919 (1.8)
2,839 2,721 4.3
(1,207) (1,152) 4.8
17,494 16,607 5.3

2024 12 31 2023 12 31
15,309 14,916 2.6
17,494 887 5.3
24.55
6.9
9.4 2023
1.8
4.3
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2024 1,252 15.4
4.1.6
2024 2023
1 1,262 53 2281.1
2 753 2,475 (69.6)
3 2,930 3,891 (24.7)
4,945 6,419 (23.0)
4.1.7
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
0.89 0.87
2024 1,474 23.0
4,945 1,209 1,262
2023 2024
753 2023
2023
2,930
0.08 0.30 2024 12 31
0.89
2024 811
2024
24
41
4.1.8
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
609,935 14.5 406,571 50.0
223,510 5.3 213,000 4.9
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! 1,456,278 34.7 1,351,730 34.9 7.7
1,666,302 39.7 1,693,144 43.8 (1.6)
52,288 1.3 56,613 1.5 (7.6)
2 186,095 4.5 147,725 3.8 26.0
4,194,408 100.0 3,868,783 100.0 8.4
1.
2.
2024 325,625 8.4 4,194,408
203,364 50.0
104,548 7.7 25,416
1.5 1,597 42.6 26,842
1.6
4.1.9
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
1,253,401 74.7 1,253,163 73.6 0.0
669,434 39.9 683,604 40.1 @.1)
583,967 34.8 569,559 33.5 2.5
44,850 2.7 47,691 2.8 (6.0)
378,635 22.6 401,448 23.6 .7
1,676,886 100.0 1,702,302 100.0 (1.5)
2024
BOC
2024
1,676,886 2023 25,416 1.5
238
14,170 2.1

58/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2

OOooOoOoOoo
14,408 2.5
2,841 6.0 22,813 5.7
4.1.10
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
1,676,886 1,702,302
1.05% 1.05%
! 14,961 14,750
0.89%% 0.87%
2 —
3
0.06% 0.02%
3
- 0.31% 0.32%
2024 2023
- 4 1.82 1.39
1.
2.
3.
4.
2024
2024 12 31
1.05 145 17,652
0.06
1.82 0.43
4.1.11 *
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
230,347 8.5 216,366 8.6 6.5
1,033,457 37.9 971,113 38.8 6.4
1,449,606 53.2 1,314,203 52.5 10.3
2,713,410 99.6 2,501,682 99.9 8.5
10,811 0.4 2,159 0.1 400.7
2,724,221 100.0 2,503,841 100.0 8.8
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2024
2024
2,724,221 220,380 8.8
6.5 6.4 10.3
CASA 46.4 1.0
4.1.12
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
52,864 52,864 -
34,853 36,899 (5.5)
(5.105) (6,470) 21.1
6,028 7,974 (24.4)
(2,199) (1,883) (16.8)
1,132 1,637 (30.8)
251,143 229,124 9.6
285,852 267,281 6.9
338,716 320,145 5.8
2024 12 31 338,716 2023 18,571
5.8 5.5
21.1
24.4 2023 9.6
4.1.13
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
Tier 266,651 247,109
Tier 266,651 247,109
292,980 275,145
1,331,828 1,298,956
Tier 20.02% 19.02%
Tier 20.02% 19.02%
22.00% 21.18%
2024 12 31 Tier CET 7.9
2024 2023 6.5
2023 2.5 2024
HKMA
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CET Tier 1
20.02 22.00
4.1.14
2024 2023
223.79% 189.68%
250.58% 188.89%
231.81% 193.47%
201.06% 207.12%
2024 2023
140.36% 134.51%
140.96% 131.56%
140.29% 138.67%
141.83% 137.28%
2024
4.2
2024 - -
)

2024 2023

14,264 30.5 14,681 35.9 (2.8)

16,195 34.7 15,866 38.8 2.1

12,681 27.1 6,968 17.0 82.0
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1,744 3.7 1,198 2.9 45.6

1,870 4.0 2,201 5.4 (15.0)
46,754 100.0 40,914 100.0 14.3

45
4.2.1
2024 14,264 417 2.8
4.2
18.7
4.2
BOC
2024 48
BelLeaf
BOCHK
2024
BOC
BOCHK 2024
BOCHK
2024
19 2,000
80 20 2024 BOCHK The Asian
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Banker 2024
BOC
BOC
BOC BOC
2024
BOC PAY 111.8
7.9 9.8
2024 2023
10
BOC Mastercard®
Banking can be
TrendyToo
2024
Banking can be TrendyToo 40
BOCHK The Asian Banker 2024
BOC
2024
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BOC -
2.0
2024 BOC -
330
2023
HKMA
2024
2024
10 12
QR
BOC
QR
VietQrR
QRIS UnionPay QR BOC
UnionPay QR
4.2.2
329 2.1 16,195
1,884
5.4
6.2 1.5
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- 20
e_
24
2024 49 BOCHK
The Asian Banker 10
Asian Banking & Finance 11
CorporateTreasurer CorporateTreasurer
Treasury Today
BOC
2024
2023 7.9
BOC
BOC

iGTB
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HKMA
HKMA CDI
17 Hong Kong Economic Journal
etnet
2024
32.5 BOCHK
FinanceAsia 2024 FinanceAsia ESG -
BOC
2024
2023 30
BOCHK The Asset
2024
Bond Connect Company Limited
BOCI- BOCI-
2024 MPF 957 MPF
BOCI-
ETF 34
Hong Kong Economic Journal
2024 LSEG The Asset 2024 A
ETF
4.2.3
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12,681 5,713 82.0
CFETS NDF
CFETS
mBridge
CFETS
2024
0TC
oTC
2024 HKMA
BOCHK BOCHK AM
BOCHK AM
BOCHK AM BOCHK
BOCHK AM
Asia Asset Management 2024
- BOCHK

2024 Asianlnvestor

BOCHK
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4.2.4

2024

49.5 17,295 65.4
3,117 45.6 1,744

BOC

BOC
BOC
12 80
BOC RetireCation
BOC
Assure2gether
BOC BOC
BOC
BOC
STEAM
2021 600 BOC
BOC 2024 BOC
BOC
BOC
2024 870 BOC
2024 10 - 2024
Bloomberg Businessweek Chinese Edition 2024
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World Green Organisation

4.2.5
2024
86,180 58,744 16.5
9.9 4,932
16.7 2024 2.78 2023 0.08
BOC BOC
9
AliPay QR
CSs UnionPay
CFETS
BOC

Nanyang Siang Pau
4.2.6

2024 BOCHK 2021 -2025
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mBridge
BOCHK
HKMA
HKMA wCBDC
ECzone
BOCHK
BOCHK ATM UnionPay
QR
QR
BOC Pay HA GO
BOC Pay
BOC Pay WeChat Pay QR
2025 BOC Pay+
2024 BOC Pay 2023 17.9 2024 3.7
BoC
BoC MTR
2024 BoC
9.8
iGTB
ToDo
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iGTB MOBILE

BOC BOC i

HKMA 1ADS
2024 2025

LAPNet 24

Al Al RPA

Al

HKSAR
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HKMA
2024

ESG 2024 BOCHK

3.6
4.2
3.3
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3.1
4.2
28. 29.

53

2024 12 31 2023 12 31 14,875 14,046

2024 12 31 2023 12 31 41,738 38,242

2024 12 31 2024 12 31
28.

29.
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2024 12 31
20,000,000, 000 10,572,780,266 9,427,219,734
2024 12 31
10,572,780, 266
( ) | «( )

2001 9 12 2 2 2 2

€)) €1))

2001 9 30 10,221,060,465 | 10,221,060,467 10,221,060,465 10,221,060,467
(187,454,248,928) | (187,454,248,965) @)
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2001 10 1 35,744,965,551 | 45,966,026,018 35,744,965,551 45,966,026,018

NCB

BOC
(655,562,668,205) | (843,016,917,170)
BV
6,897,875,307 | 52,863,901,325 6,897,875,307 52,863,901,325
(126,507,033,130) | (969,523,950, 301)
2002 6 17 5 | 52,863,901,330 5 52,863,901,330
BvD
92)|  (969,523,950,392)
2002 7 10 (42,291,121,064) | 10,572,780,266 - 52,863,901,330
1
)
20,000,000,000
(969,523,950,392) | " 200" e
@ 622 2014 3 3
2024 12 31 10,572,780,266 34 0.26
ADS 62,522
5
2024 12 31
62,424 99.84 193,023,141 1.83
97 0.16 3,438,679,369 32.52
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1 0.00 6,941,077,756 65.65
62,522 100.00 10,572,780,266 100.00
336 2024 12 31
6,984,274,213 66.06
BOCI
SFO 336 2024 12 31
SFO
2024 12 31
100028 6,984,274,213 66.06
100818 6,984,274,213 66.06
1
BOC ( ) 6,984,175,056 66.06
53F
VG1110 6,984,175,056 66.06
(BVD 1
1. 2004 8
2. BOC  ( ) (BVD)
BOC  ( )
(BvVD (BVD)
6,984,175,056
3. BOCI
BOCI
BOCI BOCI
BOCI 24,479 72,000
BOCI 2,678
4. 2025
336
BOCI 143,522
2024 12 31 336
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40

2025

2023 12 31

27

6,026

2.1

HKMA

2024

2025
15,003

60

29

26

C1

ADS
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@ 1.2.9
ADS
1.145 12,106 2024
2024 15
2024 0.570
2024 12 31 1.419
2025
2025 12 31
BVI
2024 12 31 22,998
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BOCHK HKMA CG-1

@)
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Good to Great
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2021-2025 4 1

BOCHK BOCHK
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2023
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EfEEAs fag, - HM yxpERS L1 s R THERE
RS Hils s
(www . bochk .. com) About Us Corporate Governance
10
1 98 B.2.2
2025
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102

2025

10/10

10/10

9/10

9/10

8/10

7/10

6/10
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ESG 6/10
6/10
5/10
/ 4/10
4/10
70 3 1
/
NED 7 (70 ) 2 (20 ) 1(10 ) 10
INED 5 (100 ) 0 ) 0 ) 5
INED 4 (80 ) 10 ) 0@ ) 5
INED 4 (100 ) 0 ) 0 ) 4
NED 6 (66.7 ) 2 (22.2 ) 111 ) 9
INED 7 (87.5 ) 0 ) 1 (12.5 ) 8
&)
www . bochk . com About Us Organization
www .. bochk..com
20
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C1

57

2024
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Al
ESG
/
/
/ESG
GE Haijiao o o o o o
LIN Jingzhen o o o o o
2025
CHENG Eva o o o o o
CHOI Koon Shum o o o o o
FUNG Yuen Mei Anita o o o o o
LAW Yee Kwan Quinn o o o o o
LEE Sunny Wai Kwong o o o o o
LIP Sai Wo o o o o o
MA Si Hang Frederick o o o o o
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SUN Yu o o o o o
2024 97
14
2024 2024

6 7 2 5 4 2 1 1
GE Haijiao ( 6/6 - - - 4/4 - 11 /1
LIU Jin ( ) -
(2024 25 ) 3/3 0/1 2/2 1/1
LIN Jingzhen
(2025 ) 4/6 - - - 2/4 /1 1/1
CHENG Eva 6/6 777 - - 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
CHOI Koon Shum 6/6 - 2/2 - 4/4 1/2 /1 1/1
FUNG Yuen Mei Anita 6/6 77 2/2 5/5 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
LAW Yee Kwan Quinn 6/6 77 - 5/5 - 2/2 1/1 1/1
LEE Sunny Wai Kwong 6/6 4 2/2 5/5 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
LIP Sai Wo 6/6 717 - 5/5 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
MA Si Hang Frederick 6/6 - 2/2 - 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
SUN Yu 6/6 - - - 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1

97 100 90 100 95 94 100 100
CEO

87/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2
oOoOooodn

3/10 30

4/10 40

3/10 30
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LIPSai o 2( )

CHENG Eva 2

FUNG Yuen Mei Anita >

LAW Yee Kwan Quinn

LEE Sunny Wai Kwong

2023 12 31

2024 30

2024 31 2024 9 30
2023

2025
2025
2023
BOCHK BOCHK BOCHK
BOCHK
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CHOI Koon Shum ( )

ZHANG Hui >

FUNG Yuen Mei Anita >

LEE Sunny Wai Kwong

MA Si Hang Frederick
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FUNG Yuen Mei Anita 2 ( )

LAW Yee Kwan Quinn

LEE Sunny Wai Kwong

LIP Sai Wo

ICAAP
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GE Haojiao

ZHANG Hui 2

SN yu B

CHENG Eva *

CHOI Koon Shum

FUNG Yuen Mei Anita

LEE Sunny Wai Kwong

LIP Sai Wo

MA Si Hang Frederick
2021 2025

2024
2025
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CHENG Eva 2

SN yu B

CHOI Koon Shum

FUNG Yuen Mei Anita

LAW Yee Kwan Quinn

LEE Sunny Wai Kwong

LIP Sai Wo

MA Si Hang Frederick

2023
2023 TCFD
BOCHK BOC
BOCHK
BOCHK
BOC
1
C3

2024
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2024 21
400,000
100,000
50,000
2024 12 31
HKMA

95/507



BOCHK
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2024 BOCHK BOCHK BOCHK
2025
HKMA
2024
2024 2025
BOCHK
2025
2024 45 (2023 32
) 36 (2023 30 )
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(2023 ) (

2024

ESG

2024
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2024
2024
2024 27 2024 24 2024
( ) 2024
(2024 25 ) (
)
2024
2024
2024
99.97
99.99
99.26  99.84
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2024 99.97
99.01
99.96
99.99
(www _bochk .com)
2024
2025 17
2025
(M (
) 10 (
)
10 ii
10
2025
2025
1 53
566 568
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() 2.5
() 50
1 53 6
615 616
1 53 @
) ©
99
1 53

investor_relations@bochk.com

www . bochk .com
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13 19

GE Haijiao 53
ZHANG Hui ¢ 53
SUN Yu 52
CHENG Eva 65
CHOI Koon Shum 67
FUNG Yuen Mei Anita 64
LAW Yee Kwan Quinn 72
LEE Sunny Wai Kwong 66
LIP Sai Wo 65
MA Si Hang Frederick 73
LIU Chenggang 52
XU Haifeng 53
XING Guiwei 52
WANG Huabin 51
CHAN Man 56
L1 Tong 54

ZHANG Hui 2025

LIU Jin 2024 25

LIN Jingzhen 2025
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GE Haijiao

53 )
2023 4 BOCHK
BOC BOC(BVI)  BOCHKG
2023 BOC 2021 11 2023
2019 2021 11
2018 12 2019
2019 2019
( )
2016 12 2018 12
( )
( )
14 13 14
12
1993
1999
2000 2008
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(53 )
ZHANG Hui 2025 BOCHK
BOC BOC(BVI)  BOCHKG
2024  BOC 2021 2024 11
2020 2020 11
2019 2020 11 2017
2019 2016 11 2017
1993
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62 )
SUN Yu 2020 12 BOCHK
BOCHK 2021
BOC 2020 2020 12
BOCHK
: 1998  BOC 2019 2020 12
BOC 2018 2019 BOC
2015 2018 11 BOC
(UK) 2015 12 2018 11
BOC
( )
) BOC
2012 2014 12 BOCHK
2021 (UK)
2018 12 2021 (UK)
2019 2020 12 BOC ( )
2019 11 2020 12 BOC
2019 12 2020 12 BOC
HKSAR
: 1998
5 )
CHENG Eva 2014 10
HKSAR
1983
2012 30 HKSAR
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67 )
CHOI Koon Shum 2016
2021 14
2005
2007 2009
2011 2013
2014
2015 2020
( ) 2022
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(64 )
FUNG Yuen Mei Anita 12022 BOCHK
: 2008 2015 HSBC
2011 2015 ( HSBC )
HSBC
( )
( )
M
: 1983 1995
@2 )
LAW Yee Kwan Quinn :2019 BOCHK
(HKUST) HKUST( )
HKBN
ENN
HKICPA
HKUST
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66 )
LEE Sunny Wai Kwong 1 2022 BOCHK
40
( )
c1m)
( HKIC ) IT
HKIC IT HKJC
iCare.com
MTR
( )
IT
1982 1983
(65 )
LIP Sai Wo 2023
40
2022
: 1983
HKICPA
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3 )
MA Si Hang Frederick MA 2023 10 BOCHK
FWD
C0SCO
I 2022 1
MTR
HH&L
RBC
JP
PCCW
2011
2014 2016 2024
2017 2020
(52 )
LIU Chenggang LIv 2022
Livi
BOC
1994 BOC
BOC
(CFA)
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(33 )
XU Haifeng XU 2022
BOC
( )
BOC 1993
BOC
(52 )
XING Guiwei XING 2022
BOC
BOC
2000 BOC
NetsUnion
UnionPay IT
IT
(¢1 )
WANG Huabin WANG 2024
BOCI- BOC
BOCG
BOC
2000 BOC BOC
BOC BOCHK
(56 )
CHAN Man CHAN 1990 BOC
BOC
1990 7 2001 9
2001 10
2022 8
( ) ( )
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G4 )
LI Tong LI 2024
BOCHK
BOCI
1993 BOC

2025
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2024 12 31 352
c3
15
H
/ H
SUN Y 10,000 - - 10,000 0.00 @
CHOI Koon Shum 4,000,000 40,0009 1,120,000 5,160,000 0.01
i Ani 550,000 - - 550,000 0.00 @

FUNG Yuen Mei Anita » s -
LIP Sai Wo 201,000 - - 201,000 0.00 ©

(1) SUN Yu BOC H 0.00001

(@) CHOI Koon Shum

(3) CHOI Koon Shum Choi Koon Shum

1,120,000
(4) FUNG Yuen Mei Anita BOC H 0.0007
(5) LIP Sai o BOC H 0.0002
2024 12 31
352
15
21
1.1.1
(€))
i)
i)
2024 12 31
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iii)
iv)
39 54 93
@
v)
2024
2024 2024 24
2021 17
2024
2024
2024
2025
2024
2023 2024
30 2 36 9
(550) @37 (660) (165)
) ) ) )
30 2 36 9
(550) @37 (660) (165)
@
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38 59 328

2024 12 31
23 103
193

331 2025 30 UFJ
18.34
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@
12 31
2024 2023
139,439 2,557,311 128,489 2,356,488
129,804 2,380,605 121,459 2,227,558
9,635 176, 706 7,030 128,930
(87,105) (1,597,506) (77,411) (1,419,718)
6 52,334 959,806 51,078 936,771
13,285 243,647 12,187 223,510
(3,392) (62,209) (3,020) (55,387)
7 9,893 181,438 9,167 168,123
2,695 49,426 1,897 34,791
@,217) (22,320) (1,059) (19,422)
273 5,007 108 1,981
1,751 32,113 946 17,350
8 10,988 201,520 8,315 152,497
/ 9 (782) (14,342) 2,277 41,760
10 (1,416) (25,969) (1,468) (26,923)
11 (2,139) (39,229) (5,430) (99,586)
12 624 11,444 613 11,242
71,253 1,306,780 65,498 1,201,233
13 (5,082) (93,204) (6,333)  (116,147)
66,171 1,213,576 59,165 1,085,086
14 (17,494)  (320,840) (16,607)  (304,572)
48,677 892,736 42,558 780,514
/ 15 (1,487) (27,272) (1,270) (23,292)
/ 16 (332) (6,089) (135) (2,476)
27 (104) (1,907) (239) (4,383)
46,754 857,468 40,914 750,363
17 (7,636)  (140,044) (6,057)  (111,085)

39,118 717,424 34,857 639,277
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@
12 31
2024 2023
38,233 701,193 34,115 625,669
38,233 701,193 32,723 600,140
1,392 25,529
885 16,231 742 13,608
39,118 717,424 34,857 639,277
19 3.6162 66.3211 3.0950 56.7623

137 303
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12 31
2024 2023
39,118 717,424 34,857 639,277
29 (2,548) (46,730) (985) (18,065)
36 508 9,317 202 3,705
(2,040) (37,414) (783) (14,360)
360 6,602 646 11,848
(23) (422) ®3) (55)
337 6,181 643 11,793
3 55 (6) (110)
(1,700) (31,178) (146) (2,678)
13 (23) (422) (48) (880)
112) (2,054) 4,260 78,128
13 59 1,082 13 238
10 1,394 25,566 1,457 26,721
D (202) (91) (1,669)
(226) (4,145) (864) (15,846)
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1,088 324 127 81 1,340 2,960 (41) 2,919
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46.
2024
56,770 56,770 (31,851) (18,675) 6,244
27,879 27,879 (27,879)
3,800 3,800 (3,800)
15,585 (8,694) 6,891 [6)) 6,890
104,034 (8,694) 95,340 (63,531) (18,675) 13,134
2024
42,548 42,548 (31,613) (8,613) 2,322
96,933 96,933 (96,933)
8,995 (8,694) 301 @ 300
148,476 (8,694) 139,782  (128,547) (8,613) 2,622
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116,933

2023
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2023
37,191 37,191 (23,668) (12,310) 1,213
21,771 21,771 (21,771)

3,800 3,800 (3.,800)

15,689 (11,684) 4,005 4,005
78,451 (11,684) 66,767 (49,239) (12,310) 5,218

2023
28,454 28,454 (23,614) (2,288) 2,552
44,495 44,495 (44.,495)
14,964 (11,684) 3,280 3,280
87,913 (11,684) 76,229 (68,109) (2,288) 5,832
oTC

31,957 2023 38,253
2023 84,241
149,091
122,929

3,179 2023 3,271

290/507



48.
49.
FVPL
660
2024 12 31
660
50.

383

2023
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2024 2023

97,135 96,933 44,389 43,866
2024 12 31
302,388 2023 187,435
511
21,317 2023 12,078
776 2023
2024 2023

5 5
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51.
cIc cIc
BOC
@
BOC BOC
cIc
BOC
14 A
2024 2023
3,190 2,520
3,694 4,240
117,459 134,248
585 3,727
14,070 8,009
74,463 75,445
BOC
2024 2023
1,627 516
12,109 2,416
16,693 19,238
BOC 38

BOC
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(b)
cic
(©)
/
2024 2023

12 20

14 70

957 941

49 406
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14 A 304 305
(D
12 31
2024 2023
43 38
52.
HKMA 2024
HKMA
10
2024
339,628 344,179 14,223 63,022 761,052
13,587 17,796 35,876 366,393 433,652
23,897 191,831 58,687 8,145 282,560
2023
330,222 391,169 12,064 116,644 850,099
8,439 16,902 43,698 357,831 426,870
29,635 146,302 14,412 24,334 214,683
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HKMA
BOCHK
2024
HKMA

333,254 43,226 376,480

71,221 3,893 75,114

105,293 11,873 117,166

27,687 2,804 30,491

900 1 901

49,494 6,337 55,831

2,475 2,475

590,324 68,134 658,458

3,925,776

10 15.04
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2023
HKMA
348,102 23,154 371,256
84,392 4,981 89,373
125,112 20,785 145,897
27,853 2,460 30,313
1,406 162 1,568
56,366 10,321 66,687
2,917 2,917
646,148 61,863 708,011

3,621,071

10 17.84
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@
12 31
2024 2023

1,011 1,147
841 822
55,422 55,422
17,906 12,095
685 928
2
75,865 70,416
3 5
3 5
52,864 52,864
22,998 17,547
75,862 70,411
75,865 70,416

2025 26
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()
FVOCI
2023 52,864 (3,180) 18,307 67,991
17,598 17,598
15 15
15 17,598 17,613
(15,193) (15,193)
2023 12 31 52,864 (3,165) 20,712 70,411
2024 52,864 (3,165) 20,712 70,411
23,564 23,564
19 19
19 23,564 23,583
(18,132) (18,132)

2024 12 31 52,864 (3,146) 26,144 75,862
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55.
2023 12 31
43,042,840,858 *100
BOC 3,538,000,000 *51
BOC 565,000,000 100
760,518,480 100
10,000,000,000 100
2025 28 54,216,310
814,734,790
BOC
2024 2023
49 49
2024 2023
678 557
3,206 2,993
191,436 187,153
184,894 181,046
1,384 1,136
485 1,429

25
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56.
BOC
BOC BOC BVI
57.
2025 24 BOCHK  BOCI BOCI
i BOCHK BOCI BOCI
1,000,000 1,914
2,097 il
BOCHK
3,350,000 410 449 BOCI
2025 24
12 31
2024 2023 2024 2023
6 9 381 384
BOCI BOCHK
BOCHK
58.

2025 26
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December Miobes 2023
HES ™
Interest income 139,439 128485
Interest income calculated wsing the effective interest method 128 804 I12] 4589
Cithers 2635 030
Interest expense (87.105) (77411
Net interest income 6 52334 51,078
Fee and commissicn income 13,285 12,187
Fee and commission expense (3,392) {3,020
Net fee and commission income 7 9803 9167
Insurance revenue 1,605 1887
Insurance service expense 1,217 (1,059
Net income from reinsurance contracts beld T3 108
Insurance service result 1,751 948
Net trading gain B 10,988 8315
Net (loss)gain on ather financial instruments at fair value through
prafit or loss 9 (782) 2277
Net lzss on other financial instrumenits 10 (1,416) {1,468)
Insurance finance expenses 1" (2,139 (5,430
Other operating income 12 624 &13
Net operating income before impairment allowances 71,253 65458
Net charge of impairment alkowances 13 (5,082 {6,333)
Net operating income 66,171 59165
O perating expenses 14 (17.494) {1&,607)
Operating profit 48 677 42552
Net lzss from disposal offfair value adjustments on investment properties 15 (1,487 {1,270
Net lzss from disposalfrevaluation of properties, plant and equipment 16 (332) {135)
Share of results after tax of associates and joint ventures 7 (104) (239)
Profit before taxation 46 754 40,914
Taxation 17 (7,636) (6,057
Profit for the year 39118 I AsT
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December

2023

HES'm
Profit attributable to:

Equity halders of the Company and other equity instrument hzlders 38233 115
Equity halders of the Company 38233 32723
Cther equity instrument holders - 13492

Non-controlling interests b5 742

39,118 A5
HEKS HES

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted 19 3.6162 30950

The motes on pages 137 to 303 are an integral part of these financial statemenits.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December t 2023

HES ™
Profit for the year 39,118 34857
Itemns that will not be reclassified subsequently to income statement:

Premises:

Rewaluation of premises 29 (2,548) (985
Related tax impact 3& 508 202
(2,0400 (783)

Equity instruments at fair walue through octher comprehensive income:

Change in fair value 260 51
Related tax impact (23) {3
337 43
Actuarial gain/{less) on retirement benefit plans 3 (&)
{1, 700) (148)

Iterns that may be reclassified subsequently to income statement:

Adwances and octher accounts at fair value through other
comprehensive incame:

Change in impairment allowances credited to income statement 13 (23} (48]

Debt instruments at fair value through ather comprehensive income:

Change in fair value 112 4260
Change in impairment allowances charged to income statement 13 59 13
Release upon disposal/redemption reclassified to income statement 10 1,394 1457
Amortisation of accumu lated amount of fair value hedge adjustment
reclassified to income stabement 11 191)
Related tax impact [226) (B3&4)
1,104 4775

Insurance contracts:

Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued 1,722 {2,165)
Finance income from reinsurance contracts held 537 &35
Related tax impact 195 253
kel {1,277
Currency translation differerce (361) {263)
270 3,187

Crther comprehensive income for the year, net of tax {1,970) 31041
Total comprehensive income fior the year 37148 EX:L )

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity halders of the Company and other equity instrument hzlders 36,703 Iro2
Equity halders of the Company 36,703 35620
Other equity instrument holders - 13492

Non-controlling interests 445 a5

37,148 Eng. )

The rotes on pages 137 to 303 are an integral part of these financial statemenis.

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024 131

303/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2
ooOooodd

Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 31 December

ASSETS
Cash and balances and placements with bamks and

other financial institutions 22 600 935 406571
Financial assets at fair value through profit of loss 23 227,156 373290
Derivative financial instruments 24 73914 4211
Hong Kong 5AR Gowvermment certificates of

indebted ness 123 510 213,000
Adwances and octher accounts 25 1,666,302 14593,144
Investment in securities 26 1,229122 978440
Interests in associates and joint ventures 7 1,196 1275
Investment properties 28 14,046 14875
Properties, plant and equipmernt 29 38,242 41 738
Current tax assets 7 75
Deferred tax assets EL 1,952 1480
Other assets 0 100 006 0 684
Total assets 4,194 408 1 B4R 783
LIABILITIES
Hong Kong 5AR currency mates in circulation 31 123 510 213,000
Deposits and balances from banks and other financial

institutions 352,052 373673
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 32 78821 65,203
Derivative financial instruments 24 56,779 41 553
Deposits from customers 33 2,713,410 2,501 582
Debt securities and certificates of deposit in issue 34 52196 1599
Other acoounts and provisions 35 155,904 84694
Current tax liabilities 6,728 4412
Deferred tax liabilities 3& 3,941 4742
Insurance contract liabilities 7 183,755 177873
Subordinated liabilities 38 71,962 75323
Total liabilities 3852178 1545354

132 BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited Anmual Report 2024
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CONSOLIDATED EALANCE SHEET

As at 31 December

EQUITY

Share capital 39 52864 52As4
Reserves 285852 267281
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company 338,716 330,145
Non-contrzlling interests 1514 1284
Tatal equity 342,230 113429
Tatal liabilities and equity 4,194 408 3568183

The rotes on pages 137 to 303 are an integral part of these financial statemenis.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and sigred on behalf of the Board by:

>k,

GE Haijias SUN Yu
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Airizulable 10 eqity holders of the Compay

Faemves
Fesane
Pz forfinandal Irgurane
malelion emmie Requdds finance
BN ROl ; BENe
Hiin Him Ht'n
it | ey MB S1EE4 e e BEE (] M s N BT L . 1
Profit for the year - - - - - - #115 His - g Ll
Upen deceion of didend to
ther equity irsmumeatt haokders - - - - - - 353 {130 134 - -
- - - - - - i mm 1382 T4E )
(ther comprehen:ive norme
Premises - a3 - - - - - M3 - - ]
Enuiyirsmuments o fiir vike theough
oher comprehenshe noome - - £ - - - - [ - i 8
A s onretienett benef plans - - - - - - ] 2l - - H
Advances and ther aoount: 2
i wae through other
comizhersue income - - 8 - - - - ) - - &
Celrt imstrument:s @ Feirvafue hriough
wrher comprehenshe income - - 4] - - - - 4 - L4 47T
Irsmine conimds - - - - - W - JEET) - #H 130
Cunency mansaion diference - - L] - ] - - {23} - - 3
Totd cangrehensie noone - 3 457 - y LU 50 1382 b6 Y ]
Relzase upon d sosl of equiy
instumats i Tair vakee through otfer
CompEens ncne:
Trarser - - I - - - 1 - - - -
Cefenedia - - - - - - - - - - -
(ot b - - - - - - - - - - -
Redemption of other equity instrumenis - - - - - - M L TP - B
P won dipeal o pemizs -m - - - - e - -
Trarefes from itained eamings - - - 1319 - - 3% - - - -
Diwcends - - - - - - (I5P% (15K {130 e L
#t 31 December M1B 184 EE 4T TH 2] W M I - e IR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to equity hokars ofthe Conpany

Resarves
Resarva far
fimancid Insurance Cithar
Fequlatory Trndation  finane  Retdned ity
sy’ =] warnings Total Instrumsnts
HEf'm  HE$'m L HE§m HES'm HES'n
A MW (8,470 154 1,883 187 1E)4 3W M5 - i mam
- - - - - - Em am - [
- - - - - - Em kL] - [
Orher coreprehensive inome
Bemises - (2,040 - - - - - [2,040] - - [2,040
- - kF - - - - ki1 - 1 r
- - - - - - i i - - F|
ComgiEh - - P ] - - - - ri] - - P ]
Dt ectrument< & fairvahue frough
el compiEnense noome - - 1,81 - - - - 1,061 - L] 1,104
TRNANGE ConiTats - - - = = [305] = [508] = L] L]
Curenay ransiation dference - - (48] - e - - [361] = - (E]
Totd Ccomgrehensive incone - (2,040 138 - [Aa [BE] =56 B0 - L FIALL]
Releaze upon daposl of aquiy
instruments a fii vaue Heough other
COrEREEVE noome:
Trerse - - L] - - - L8]] - - - -
- - 7 - - - - {7 - - 7
- - - - - - ! ! - - 1
- 1] - - - - ] - - - -
Trangferta reizingd aaming: - - - 11,94] - - 1,046 - - - -
Ciicends - - - - - - 18133 pean = @15 (18345
#4131 December 14 HAM MR B, 105 6028 [2199 181 43 3AT - isd Mimo

* I acoomdance with the requiremernis of the HEMA, the armouris are s=t asikde for genemal barking risks, Induding fiture losees ar atber urdorsssesble rkks,
addiiion 1o the loan impaimment allowarces recogriteed under HEFRS 6

The motes on pages 137 to 303 are an integral part of these financial statemenits.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HES'm
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating cash inflow before tasation A01a) 8171 MIAATT
Hong Kong profits tax paid (5,.3449) (5,997
Cutside Horg Kizng profits tax paid (952) (763)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,875 197117
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions of properties, plant and equipment {1,264) (3a48)
Proceeds from disposal of properties, plant and equipment T Ell
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 1 -
Additions of investment properties 28 (AR E] (28]
Additions of intangible assets 30 934) {905]
Additians of interests in associates and joint vertures (25) (1,102)
Cividend received from associates and joint ventures 27 - 431
Net cash outflow from investing activities (2,333) {1,959
Cash flows from financing activities
Cividend paid to equity holders of the Company (18,132) {15,193)
Cividend paid to other equity instrument halders - (1,392)
Cividend paid to non-contralling interests (215) {173)
Paymeni for redemption of other equity instruments - (23,548)
Paymenrit for redemption of subordinated liabilities 40k (73,045) 21,537
Interest paid for subordinated liabilities 40(k) (2,535) [2,423)
Proceeds from subordinated liabilities 40(k) 71,769 21937
Paymenit of lease liabilities L] (600) (613)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (22, 758) (43,4000
{Decreasa)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (23.2186) 151,758
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 686 930 E40525
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (14, 4286) ({5,753)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 406c) 649288 &85 230
Cash flows from operating activities included
- interest received 138,325 123451
- interest paid 89 420 66 204
- dividend received o7 108

The rotes on pages 137 to 303 are an integral part of these financial statemenis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Principal activities

The Company is an investment helding compary and its subsidiaries are principally ergaged in the provision of banking
and related finarcial services.

The Compary is a limited liability company incorporated and lisked in Hong Kong. The address of its registered office is
53/F, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden Rzad, Horg Kzng.

2. Material accounting policies

The material accounting pelicies applied in the preparation of these conselidated financial statemenits are set out below.
These palicies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Heng Korg Financial
Reporting Standards ("HEKFRS5s7) (HKFRSs is a collective term which includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reportirg Standards, HEASs and Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA and reguirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consclidated financial statements hawe been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial assets ard fimancial
liakilities {including derivative financial instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, precious metals at fair value,
irvestrment properties which are carried at fair value, premises which are carried at fair value or revalued amount
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and insurance contracts and reinsurance
contracts held measured on a current value basis. Repossessed assets held for sale are stated at the lkower of their
carryireg amounts and fair values less costs to sell or at fair values as further explained in Note 2.24.

The preparation of financial staternents in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical estimates. k
also requires the Management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies.

The areas inwalving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
critical to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024 137
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EDINETOOOO
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

oOoOooodd

{a) Amendments and interpretation that are initially adepted for the financial year beginning on

1 January 2024

Amendments/
Interpretation

HEAS 1 {&mend ments)
HEAS 1 {Amend ments)
HKFRS 1& {Amerd ments)

HE&AS 7 and HEFRS 7 (Amendmenits)
HE It 5 {2020}

Applicable for

finandal years

beginning

Content on/after

Classification of Current ar 1 January 2024
Mor-current Liakilities
Mon-current Liabilities with 1 January 2024

Covenants
Lease Liakility in a 53k and Leaseback 1 January 2024
1 January 2024

1 January 2024

Supplier Finance Arrargements

Presentation of Financial Staterments
- Classification by the Bormower
of @ Term Loan that Contairs a
Repayment on Demand Clause

Currently
relevant
to the

Group
Ma
Ma
Ma

Ma
Ma

Mone of the amendments or interpretation that are initially adopted for the financial year beginning on
1 January 2024 is currently relevant to the Group.

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited  Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b} Stamdards, amendments and interpretation issued that are not yet mandatorily effective and have
not been eardy adopted by the Group in 2024

Applicable for  Currently

finandal years relevant

beginning to the
Interpretation Content on/after Group
HEAS 28 (2011) ard HEFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets To be Yes
[Amendmenits) between an Investor and its determined

Associate or Jaint Venture

HEAS 21 {Amend ments) Lack of Exchangeability 1January 2025 Ma

HKFR% 9 and HEFRS 7 (Amendments) Amerndments to the Classification 1January 2026 Yes
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Contracts Referencing Mature- 1January 2026 Mo
dependent Electricity

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS 1January 2026 Yes
Accounting Standards
= Wolume 11

HEFRS 18 Presentation ard Disclosure in 1January 2027 Yes
Financial Statements

HEFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 1 January 2027 Yes
Accountability: Disclosures

HE Imt 5 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2027 Ma
- Classification by the Bormower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Cause

Further information about those standards and amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group is as fol lows:

HEAS 28 {2011) and HEFRS 10 {(Amendments), "Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Inwestor and
itz Associate or Joint Verture® The amerdments address an acknowledged inconsistency betwesn
the requirements in HKAS 28 (2011) and those in HEFRS 10, in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main consequence of the
amerdments is that a full gain or lass is recognised when a transaction involes a business (whether
it is housed im a subsidiary or not). If the assets do mot meet the definition of a business, the gain or
koss is recognised by the irwestor only to the extent of the other investor's interests in the associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively and early application is permitted. The
application of the amendments will not have a material impact on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b} Stamdards, amendments and interpretation issued that are not yet mandatorily effective and have
not been eardy adopted by the Group in 2024 [ con tinued]

HEFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 (Amendments), *Amendments to the Cassification and Measurement of Financial
Instrurmenits”. The amendments to HKFRS @ provide clarification regarding the classification of financial
assets with contingent features and the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The amendments also introeduce an accounting policy
option for entities to derecognise financial liabilities that are settled through an electronic payment
systemn before settlement date if specified criteria are met.

Tre amerdments to HEFRS 7 require entities to provide additional disclosure regarding inwestmenis
in equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprebensive income and financial
instrumenits with contingent features.

The amendments are effective for anmual pericds beginning on or after 1 January 2026 with =arlier
application of either all the amendments at the same time or only the amendments related to the
classification of financial assets is permitted. The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the
adoption of the amendments.

*Improvements to HKFRS Accoumting Standards” contain a number of amendments to HEFRSs which
the HKICPA considers mot urgent but necessary. It comprises amendments that result in accounting
charges for presentation, recognition or measurement purpose as well as terminology or editorial
amerdments related to a variety of individual HKFRSs. These improvernents will not have a material
impact on the Group's financial statemenis.

. HKFRS 12, "Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statemernts”. HEFRS 18 supsrsedes HEAS |
*Presentation of Financial Statements® and is effective for annual pericds beginning on or after
1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted. The new standard aims to improve entities’ reporting
af financial performance and give investors a better basis for analysing and comparing entities by
introducing presentation of new defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss, disclosures about
management-defined performance measures, and enhanced requirements for groupirg of information.
The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the adeption of HKFRS 18

HEFRS 19, "Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Cisclosures” HKFRS 19 is a woluntary standard
which permits eligible subsidiaries to use HEFRS: with reduced disclosures and is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted. A subsidiary is eligible
to apply the standard if it does not have public accountability and its ultimate or intermediate parent
produces consolidated financial statements that are awailable for public use and that comply with
HEFRS Accounting Stardards. The application of the standard will not hawe ary impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Consolidation

The consclidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries
far the year ended 31 December 2024.

(1} Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Group. Control
is achiewed when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involement with the
investee ard has the ability to affect those returms through its power over the inwestes (ie. existing rights
that give the Group the ourrent ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee). When the Group has,
directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: (a) the
contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; (b) rights arising from other contractual
or non-contractual arrangements; and (2} the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which controd is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwil] and liabilities
af the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-contrelling interests; and recognises (i) the fair value of
the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment in that former subsidiary retained; reclassifies
the amounts previcusly recognised in other comprehensive income to the income statement or retained
earnirdgs, as appropriate, on the same basis as directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities; recognises
ary resu ltirg differences as gain or loss in the income statement.

If the Group is committed by the Board to a sale plan inveling loss of control of a subsidiary (a disposal
group) that is unlikely to be withdrawn or changed significantly, the Group shall classify all the assets and
liakilities of that subsidiary as held for sale only when the fallowing criteria are met on or before the end of
the reparting period: (i) the carrying amount will b2 recowered principally through a sale transaction rather
than through centinuing use; (i} the subsidiary is available for immediate salke in its present condition subject
only to terms that are wsual and customary for the sale of its kind and its sale must be highly probable,
including a high probability of shareholders’ approval, f needed; (i) an active programme to locate a buyer
at a reasonable price has been initiated and to complete the sale within ore year, regardless of whether the
Group will or will not retain a non-controlling interest after the sale. Disposal group {other than inwestment
properties and financial instruments) is initially recognised and subsequently remeasured at the lower of its
carmying amounit and fair value less costs to sell. Properties, plant and equipment classified as held for sale
are not depreciated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)
{1} Subsidiaries (continuad)

(i) Business combinations not under common control

Acquisitions of businesses mot under commeaon control are accounted far using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred in @ business combination is the fair values at the acquisition date of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred {including comtingent consideration arargement) and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed in the imcome statement as incurred.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquires, and the fair value of the Group's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. I after assessment, the fair value of the acquiree's identifiable net
assets emceads the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in the income statement as a gain on bargain. Subsequenitly,
goodwill is subject to impairment testing at kkast annually.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets aor
liakilities resulting from a contingernt consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at fair value at the acquisition date and corsidered as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement pericd adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the comesponding adjustmenits
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase. Measurement pericd adjustments are
adjustrmeents that arise from additional information obtained durirg the measurement period about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. The measurement period does not
exncesd one year from the acquisition date.

Om an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the ron-contralling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of
the acquire='s identifiable net assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)
{1} Subsidiaries (continuad)

(i} Business combinations under common control

For a combination with 3 company under common contrel, the merger accounting method will be
applied. The principle of merger accounting is @ way to combine companies under common control
as though the business of the acquiree had always been caried out by the acquirer. The Group's
consolidated financial statements represent the consclidated results, consclidated cash flows and
consolidated financial position of the Group as if any such combimation had occurred from the date
when the Company and the acquiree first came under common control (ie. no fair value adjustment
on the date of combination is required). The difference between the consideration and carying
amournit at the time of combination is recognised in equity. The effects of all transactions between
the Group and the acquiree, whether ccoumring before or after the combinatiom, are eliminated in
preparing the consoclidated financial statements of the Group. Comparative amounts are presented as
if the acquiree had been combined at the beginnirg of the previous reporting period. The transaction
costs for the combination will be expensed in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transacticns betwsen group companies are
eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment of
the assets transferred. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company's balance sheet, the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment lasses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received ard receivable. Dividend income from subsidiaries is recognised in the income statement when the
right to receive payment is established.

(2) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with nom-controlling interests without change of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. For purchases from mon-controlling interests of equity intersst, the difference
between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrving value of et assets of
the subsidiary is recognised in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to ron-controlling interests are also
recognised in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value,
with the change in carrying amount recognised in the income statement. The fair value is the initial carrying
amourit for the purposes of subsequent accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recegnised in other comprebensive income in respect of
that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets ar liabilities. Amourits
previously recegnised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the income statement or retained
earnirdgs, as appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)
{3) Associates and joint ventures

An associate is the entity over which the Group has significant influence but not contrel or joint contrzl,
gererally accompanying of between 20% and 50% of the votirg rights.

A joint wventure is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint contraol of the arrangement
hawe rights to the net assets of the joimt wenture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of contrzl
af an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharirg control.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and
are initially recognised at cost, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale). The Group's irwestments in associates and joint ventures include goodwill, net of
acoumulated im pairment loss and any related accumulated foreign currency translation difference.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates or joint ventures is recognised in the
income statement, and its share of post-acquisition movemnents in reserves is recognised in reserves. The
acoumulated post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carmying amounit of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associate or a joint wenture equals or excesds its interest in the associate or
joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses unless the Group has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associates or joint ventures.

Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the
carrying amount of the irvestment.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the associates or joint wentures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred.

If the ownership interest in an associate or a joint wenture is reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to the income statement or retained eamings, where appropriate.

2.3 Segmental reporting

The operating result of segments are reported in @ manrer consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
Management Committee, which is the chief operating decision maker of the Group, that allocates resources and
assesses the performance of operating segments. Income and expenses directly associated with each segment are
included in determinirg operating segment peformance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

ftems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic erwiromment in which the entity operates {the “functional curency”). The consolidated fimancial
statemerits are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.

Fareign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailirg at
the dates of the transactions or exchange rates at the end of the reporting period for items that are remeasured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign curency transactions using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions and monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting pericd are recognised directly in
the income statement, except when deferred in other comprehensive income as gualifying cash flow hedges or
qualifying net investment hedges.

Translation differences on monetary securities held at fair value through profit or loss are reported as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Chamges in the fair walue of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified
as fair walue through other comprehensive income are analysed between translation differences resulting from
changes in the amornised cost of the securities and other changes in the camying amount of the seourities.
Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in the income statement, and other
changes in the carryireg amount are reccgnised in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences an non-moretary ibems, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets such as

equities classified as fair value through other comprehensive income are included in other comprehensive income.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a fumctional curency different from Hong Kong
dallars are translated into Hong Kong dollars as follows:

assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the end of the reporting period;
income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates; and
. all resulting exchange differences are recognised im the currency translation resere in equity.

On conselidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities,
borrowings and other cumency instruments designated as hedges of such inwestments are taken to other
comprehensive income and are accumulated separately in the translation reserve. When a foreign entity is
disposed, such exchange differences are reclassified from eqguity to the income statement, as part of the gain or
loss on sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.5 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the derivative comtract is entered imto ard are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets,
imcluding recent market transactions, and through the use of valuation technigues, including discounted cash flow
midels and option pricing models, as appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive
and as liakilities when fair value is negative.

Certain derivatives embedded in fimnancial liabilities are treated as separate derivatives when their econocmic
characteristics and risks are nat chosely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at
fair value through profit or boss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair walue with charges in fair value
recognised in the income statement.

Derivatives are categorised as held for trading and changes in their fair value are recognised immediately in the
imcome statement unless they are designated as hedges and are effective hedging instruments, then they are
subject to measurement under the hedge accounting requirements.

Far derivative instruments being designated as hedging instrument in an effective hedge, the method of
recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss depends on the mature of the item being hedged. The Group
designates certain derivatives as either:

[a)  hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedge); or

[B) hedges of a particular risk associated with a highly probable future cash flow attributable to a recognised
asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast tramsaction (cash flow hedge); or

[} hedges of a net irvestment in a foreign operation (net irvestment hedoges).

The Group decuments at inceptien the relationship betwesn hedging instruments and hedged itemns, as well as its
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking varicus hedge transactions. The Group also documents its
assessment, both at the hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of the economic relationship, credit risks, the
hedge ratic and an evaluation of the effectivensss of the hedaging instruments in affsetting charges in fair values
or cash flows of hedged itemns. These criteria should b2 met before a hedge can be qualified to be accounted for
urder hedge accounting. Hedge accounting may become ineffective if the hedging instrument and the hedged
itermn lose economic relationship, or a significant change of the counterparties’ credit risks that dominates the fair
value charge of the hedging instruments or the hedged items.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.5 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)
Fair value hedge

Charges in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualified as effective fair value hedges are
recognised in the income statement, together with amy changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability
that are attributable to the hedged risk

When fair value hedge accounting is applied to financial instruments carried at amortised cost, the camying values
of the hedged items are adjusted for changes in fair walue that are attributable to the risk being hedged with the
derivative instruments rather than caried at amerntised cost, such carrying walue adjustment is recognised in the
income statement together with the changes in fair value of the hedging derivatives.

IF the hedge relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or is terminated for reasons other
than derecognition, e.g. due to repayment of the hedged itemn, the unamortised carying value adjustment (the
difference between the camying value of the hedged item at the time of termination and the value at which it
would hawe been camied had the hedge never existed) to the hedged item is amorntised to the income statement
ower the remaining life of the hedged item by the effective imterest method. K the hedged item is derecognised,
the unamzrtised carrying value adjustmeni is recognised immediately in the income statemeni.

Far fair value hedge relaticnships where the hedged items are debt instruments carried at FVIQCI, changes in fair
value are recorded in the income statement whilst hedge accounting is in place. When the hedge relationship
na longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or is terminated for reasons other than derecogniticn, the
cumulative effective hedged portion of fair value charge recognised in the income statement is amortised
by the effective interest method back to the equity. If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised
cumulative effective hedged portion of fair value change recognised in the inrcome statement is reclassified to
equity immediately.

2.6 Offsetting financial instrurments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance shest when there
is a kegally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultareoushy.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.7 Income and expense

{1 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement for all financial assets camied at
amornised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income, and financial liabilities using the
effective interest method. Similar interest income and expense arising from non-derivative financial assets
ard liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are determined using similar method, but excluding
their transaction costs.

The effective interest method is 8 method of calculating the amontised cest of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant pericd. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
af the financial asset or financial liakility. When caloulating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates
future cash flows considerirg all contractual terms of the financial instrument (2.g. prepayment options or
incentives relatimg to residential mortgage loans) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation
includes fess, premiums or discounts and basis points paid or received between parties to the contract, and
directly attributable crigination fees and costs which represent an integral part of the effective yield.

Far all hedge transactions where interest rate is the hedged risk, interest income or interest expense from
hedged instruments such as fixed rate debt securities or fixed rate subordinated notes are disclosed on a
net basis together with met interest incomedexpense arising from the hedging instrument such as interest
rate swap.

{2) Mon-interest income and expense
Income from service is recognised when the Group fulfils its perfarmance obligation, either ower time or at a

pint in time on a basis when a oustomer abtains control of the service.

Fee income from services are recognised over time at a fived or variable price on a systematic basis over the
life of the agreement when the contract requires services to be provided ower time such as account service
ard credit card fees, or recognised at a point in time under transaction-based arramgements when service
has been fully provided to the customer such as broking senvices and loan syndication armrangement.

Cividend income from financial asset is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Mon-interest expenses are charged to profit or loss during the reporting pericd in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.7 Income and expense (continued)

(3] Insurance revenue and expenses

The Group recognises insurance revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations (i.e. as it provides
insurance services) during the coverage pericd. In addition, investment compenents will not be included in
insurance revenue or insurance serdice BXpenses.

Cirectly attributable insuramce acquisition cash flows will be reclassified as part of the fulfilment cash flows
["FCFs™) and will be amortised to insurance revenue and iNsUrance service expenses cwer its coverage period.

The Group elected to present income or expenses from reinsurance contract held as a single amount in et

income from reinsurance contracts held.

In addition, the Group elected the other comprebensive income option far certain portfolios of insurance
contracts without direct participation features to disaggregate insurance finance income or expenses
betwesn amounts included in the income statement and amounts included in other comprehensive income.

2.8 Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets inte one of the following measurement categories at initial recognition
a5 subsequently measured at: fair value through profit or less (*FYPL?, amortised cost and fair value through
other comprehensive income ("PYCCIT). The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing
its fimnancial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instuments, or the election of fair
value option. All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value. Except for financial assets carried at FVPL, all
transaction costs of fimancial assets are included in their initial carmying amounts.

{1} Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets designated at fair walue through profit ar boss at
inception, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair walue through profit or loss,
including those held for trading.

A financial asset which has been acquired or imcurred principally for the purpose of selling in the short term
ar is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is
eviderce of a recent actual pattern of shor-term profit-taking is classified as held for tradirg. Derivatives are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

A financial asset, other than those held for tradimg or mandatorily measured at fair value, will be designated
as a finamcial asset at FVPL, if it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recagnition
inconsistency [(sometimes referred te as "an accounting mismatch®) that would otherwvise arise from
measuring the financial assets or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases, and is s0

designated by the Management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (continued)
{1} Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

These assets are recognised initially at fair value, with transaction costs taken directly to the income
statement, and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.

Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of such assets {(ewcluding the interest component) are
reported in net tradirg gainfloss or net gaindass on other financial instruments designated at FWPL. The
interest component is reported as part of the interest income. Dividends on equity instruments of this
category are also recognised in ret trading gainfless or net gaindless on financial instruments at FYPL when
the Group's right to receive payment is established.

{Z) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions
are met: {i] the financial assets are held within a business model with the cbjective to hold financial assets
in crder to collect contractual cash flows ("hold-to-collect” business model), and (il the contractual terms
af the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount autstanding on specified dates. They are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allewances for impairmenit losses. Interest income which includes the amortisation of premium
or discount is cakulated using the effective interest methed and is recognised in the imcome statemert.
Any gains or losses are recognised in the income statement when the asset is derecegnised, medified

ar impaired.

{3) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

DCebt instruments are classified as subsequently measured at FVMOCI if both of the following conditions are
met: {i] the fimancial assets are held within a business model with the cbjective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling, and (i) the contractual terms of the financial assets giwe rise to cash flows
that are selely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates.

Financial assets at FYOCI are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs,
ard are subssquently measured at fair value. Unrealised gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the financial assets are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, until the financial asset
is derecognised or impaired at which time the acoumulated gain or loss previously recognised in equity
should be transferred to the income statement. However, interest income which includes the amortisation
of premium or discount is calculated using the effective interest methed and is recognised in the
income statement.

Far equity inwestments, an irevocable election can be made at initial recognition to recognise unrealised
ard realised fair value gains or losses in other comprehensive income without subsequent reclassification
af fair value gains or losses to the income statement even upon disposal. Dividends on equity instrumenits
classified as FVCC] are recognised in octher operating income when the Group's right to receive payment is
established. Equity instruments designated at FW2C are not subject to impairment assessment.

The treatment of translation differences on FWOCI securities is dealt with in Mote 2.4,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)
2.9 Financial labilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities under the following classes: trading liabilities, financial liabilities
designated at fair walue through profit or loss, deposits, debt securities and certificates of depesit in issue,
other accounts and prowisions and subordinated liabilities. All financial liabilities are classified at inception and
recognised initially at fair value, and in the case of financial liability rot at fair value through profit of loss, plus or
minus transaction costs.

(1) Trading liabilities

A fimnancial liability is classified as held for trading if it is incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in
the shart term. It is measured at fair value and any gains and losses from changes in fair value are recognised
in the income statement, with interest com ponent being reported as part of the interest expenses.

{2) Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

A financial liability can be designated at fair value through profit or loss if it is so designated at inception. A
financial liability is so designated if it mests one of the following criteria:

eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (semetimes referred
to as "an accounting mismatch?) that would otherwise arise from measuring the financial liabilities or
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases; or

. applies to a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both that is managed and its performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the group is provided internally on that basis to the key management;
ar

. relates to financial liabilities containing ane or more embedded derivatives that significantly modify
the cash flows resulting from those financial liabilities.

Financial liakilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and any gains
ard kosses from chamges in fair value are recognised in the income statement, except for fair walue changes
arising from own credit risks are recognised as other comprehensive income ard subssquently reclassified
to the retained earnirgs upon derecognition, unless such would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in the income statement, then all gains and losses from changes in fair walue are recognised in the
income statement.

(3] Deposits, debt securities and certificates of deposit in issue, other accounts and provisions and
subordinated liabilities
Deposits, debt securities and certificates of deposit in issue, other accounts and prowisions and subordinated
liakilities, other than those classified as tradirg liabilities or designated at fair value through profit or less are

carmied at amortised cost. Any difference (if available) between procesds net of transaction costs and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statemernt ower the periad using the effective interast method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.10 Financial guarantee contracts and undrawn loan commitments

Financial guaramtee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
halder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the
terms of 3 contract between the holder and the debtor.

Financial guarantes contracts are initially recognised as financial liabilities at fair walue on the date the guarantees
were given. Subsegquent to initial recognition, the Group's liabilities urder such guarantees are measured at the
higher of (i) am ECL provisicn as set out in Mote 2.14 and (i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
accumulated amortisation recognised over the life of the guarantee on a straight-lime basis. Any changes in the
liabil ity relating to financial guarantes contracts are taken to the income staterment.

Urdrawen loan commitments are commitments under which, over the duration of the commitment, the Group is
required to provide a loan with pre-s pecified terms to the customer. These contracts are in the scope of the ECL
requirements as set out in Mote 2.14.

The ECL provision for financial guarantees and loan commitments are reported under “Other accounts and
pravisicns” in the financial statements.

211 Recognition, derecognition and modification of finandial instruments

Purchases amd sales of financial assets subsequently measured at FVPL, securities measured at FVOCl and
amortised cost are recognised on the trade date, the date on which the Group purchases or sells the assets. Loans
and advances and other financial assets are recognised when cash is advanced to the counterparties. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the
Group has tramsferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. When the Graup neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ocwnership of the financial asset, the Group either continues to recognise
the transferred financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement if contrzl remains o derecognise it if
there is no retained comtrzl. If the financial instrument measured at amortised cost or FVWOCH is renegotiated or
medified with substantially different terms, the original financial instrument should be derecognised and then a
new fimancial instrument should be recognised at fair value. Othenwise, the difference is adjusted to the original
carryirg value ard accounted for in the income statement.

Tradirg liabilities, financial liabilities designated at FVPL and debt securities and certificates of depaosit in issue are
recognised on the trade date. Deposits that are not designated at FVWPL are recognised when money is received
fram custoemers, other liakilities are recognised when such cbligations arise. Financial liakilities are derecognised
from the balance sheet when and only when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. If the Group purchases its own debt, it is removed from the balance sheet, and the difference betweesn
the carrying amount of a liability and the consideration paid is included in the income statement, except the awn
credit risk compaonent for those designated at FYPL
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Recognition, derecognition and modification of finandial instruments (contimued)

Securities and bills sold to a counterparty with an obligation to repurchase at a pre-determined price on a
specified future date under a repurchase agreement are referred to as repos. Securities and bills purchased from a
counterparty with an obligation to re-sell to the counterparty at a pre-determined price on a specified future date
urider a resale agreement are referred to as reverse repos.

Repos or securities lerding are initially recognised as deposits and balances from banks and other financial
institutions, or designated as financial liabilities measured at FVPL at the actual amount of cash received from the
counterparty which is generally the fair value of these financial liabilities at initial recognition. Financial assets
given as collateral for repurchase agreements are not derecognised and are recorded as inwestment in securities
or financial assets at FVWPL Reverse repos or securities borrowings with a "hold-te-collect” business model and
contractual cash flow of solely payments of principal and interest on the principal cutstanding are initially
recognised as cash and balances and placements with banks and other financial institutions, or reverse repos or
securities bomowing designated as financial assets measured at FYPL are measured at the actual amount of cash
paid to the counterparty which is generally the fair value of these financial assets at initial recognition. Financial
assets received as collateral under reverse repurchase agreements are not recognised on the balance sheet.

2.12 Fair value measurement

The Group measures its premises and irvestment properties, precious metals and certain financial instrumerits
at fair walue at the end of each reporting pericd. Fair walue is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in its principal market or the most
adwantageous market accessible by the Group at the measurement date.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumpticns that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their best economic interest.

The Group uses the price within the bid-offer spread that is most representative of the fair value of financial
instruments, where appropriate, includes using on the residual of the net offsetting risk position of portfolios of
finarcial assets and financial liakilities in cases the Group manages such groups of financial assets ard liabilities
according to their net market risk exposures. Despite the Group measures the fair value of these groups of financial
instruments on a net basis, the urderying financial assets and financial liabilities are separately presented in the
financial staterments unless the offsetting criteria stated in Mote 24 are fulfilled.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account 3 market participant’s ability to gererate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to ancther market participant that
would use the asset inits highest and best use.

IF the market fior assets or liabilities is not active, the Group uses valuation techniques, including the use of recent
arm's length transactions, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and other valuation technigues
commonly used by market participants, that are appropriate in the circumstances ard for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant cbservable inputs and minimising the use of
urobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Material accounting policies (continued)
2.13 Precious metals

Precious metals comprise gold, silver and other precious metals. Precious metals are initially recognised and
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Mark-to-market gains or losses on precious metals are included in met
trading gaindoss

2.14 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses ["ECLs") on the following items:
financial assets measured at amortised cost;

. debt securities measured at PYCC); and
lzan commitments and financial guarantees issued, which are not measured at FYPL.

Finarcial assets measured at FVWPL and equity securities designated at FW3{] {non-recycling) are not subject to the
ECL assessment.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (ie. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive].

Far urdrawn loan commitments and financial guarantees cutstanding, expected cash shortfalls are measured as
the differerce between (i) the contractual cash flows that would be due to the Group if the holderbeneficiary of
the loan commitrment/financial guarantee draws down/claims on the kan/ffinancial guarantee and (i) the cash
flowes that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn down/financial guarartee is claimed.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted where the effect of discounting is material. The maximum pericd
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual pericd owver which the Group is exposed to
credit risk. Where the financial instrument such as revelving credit facilities includes both a drawn ard undrawn
commitmenit, ECL is measured over the period that the Group remains exposed to credit risk that is not mitigated
by management actions in respect of credit risk

I measurirg BCLs, the Group takes into account reascnable and supportable information that is available. This
imcludes information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future ecenomic conditions.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.14 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are kosses that are expected to result from possible default events within 12 months
after the reportirg date; or

lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the BCL midel applies.

The Group will account for expected credit losses within the next 12 months as 5tage 1 when those financial
instruments are initially recognised; and to recognise lifetime expected credit losses as Stage 2 when there have
b=en significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition. Lifetime expected credit losses will be recognised
for credit-impaired financial instruments as Stage 3 if the future cash flows of that financial instruments are
adwersely affected by ome or more events and interest income will then be accrued net of the impairment amount
of the respective Stage 3 financial assets.

Im assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.

In particular, the following informaticon is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal or interest 30 days after their contractually due dates;

an actual or expected significant detericration in a financial instrument’s external or intermal credit rating (if
available);

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

existing or forecast changes in the techmalogical, market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor's ability to mest its obligation to the Group.

Far lcan commitments ard financial guarantees, the date of initial recognition for the purpose of assessing ECLs is
considered to be the date that the Group becomes a party to the irewocable commitment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of a loam commitment or a financial
guarantee, the Group considers changes im the risk of default occurring on the loans and adwances to which the
loan commitment/financial guarantes relates.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.14 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial instruments are considered to be in default when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows occurred such as past due for more than 90 days or the debtor is unlikely to pay in
full for the credit obligations to the Group.

The Group considers that a financial instrument is credit-impaired when there is observable data about:

significant financial difficulty incurred by the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or delingquency in principal or interest payment;

- far economic or legal reasons related to the debtor's financial difficulty, the Group has granted to the debtor
a concession that it would not otherwise consider;

- probable that the debtor will become bankrupt or undergo ather financial reorganisation;

- the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses; or

- ather observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from
such adwances.

The Group considers on an individual basis both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in the income statement.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or boss for all relevant financial instruments with a correspording
adjustmenrit to their carmying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt securities
that are measured at FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recorded in the fair walue reserve.

Interest income recognised in accordance with Mote 2.7 is caloulated based on the gross camying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired (Stage 3), in which case interest imncome is calculated
based omn the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the fimancial asset. The
determination of credit-impaired financial asset is further explained in Note 4.1

When a financial asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the gross camying amount of the financial asset
and the related allowance for impairment losses. Such assets are written off after all the necessary procedures
hawe been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. The assets written off are still subject to
enforcement activity. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of impairment
lzsses in the income statement.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.15 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and non-financial
assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whernever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recowverable. Patential indications of impairment may include significant adverse changes in
the technzlogical, market, economic or legal environment in which the assets operate or whether there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in walue below their cost. "Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the
irvestrment and "prokorged” against the pericd in which the fair value has been below its original cost.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carmying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Impaired assets are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.

In the Compary's balance sheet, impairment testing of investments in subsidiaries, associates o joint wentures
is also required upon receiving dividend from that entity if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
imcome of that entity concerned in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of that entity
in the Company's balance sheet excesds the carrying amount of that entity's net assets including goodwill in its
consolidated balamce sheet.

2.16 Investment properties

Properties (including right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold land on which properties are situated),
that are held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that are not cocupied by the
companies in the Group, are classified as investment properties. Properties leased out within group companies are
classified as investmenit properties in individual companies’ financial statements and as premises in consolidated
finarcial statements.

Irvestment properties are recognised initially at cost, including related transaction costs. After initial recognition,
inwestment properties are measured at fair value.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset's carying amount only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
work in progress item is measured at fair value. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the
imcome statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Any chamges in fair value are recognised directly in the income statement.

IF an investment property becomes owrer-eccupied, it is reclassified as premises, and its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes. If an item of premises becomes an investment property
because its use has chamged, any differemce resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this
item at the date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss in the same way as a
rewaluation of premises under HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”as set out in Mote 2.17.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)
2.17 Properties, plant and equipment

Properties (including right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold land on which properties are situated)
are mainly branches and office premises. Premises are stated at fair value based on pericdic, at least annually,
valuations by external independent valuers kess any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross camying amount of the
asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Imcreases in the carmying amount arising on revaluation of premises are credited to the premises revaluation
reserve through other comprehensive income. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same individual
asset are charged against premises revaluation reserve through other comprehensive income; all other decreases
are expensed in the income statement. Any subsequent increases are credited to the income statement up 1o the
amount previously debited, and then to the premises revaluation reserve. Upon disposal of premises, the relevant
portion of the premises revaluation reserse realised in respect of previous waluations is released and transferred
fram the premises revaluation reserse to retained eamings.

All plant and equipment ard right-of-use assets other than leaseheld land (see Maote 2.18) are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition and installation of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in an asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The item is stated at cost less impairment until it begins to gererate
economic benefits, then the item is subsequently measured according to the measurement basis of its respective
assets class. All other repairs and maintenarce costs are charged to the income statement during the financial
pericd in which they are incurred or provided for.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write down the cost or revalued amount of such assets
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

. Properties (Ower the life of governmenit land leases
Plant and equipment 2t 15 years
Right-of-use assets Shorter of useful lives and lease terms

The useful liwes of assets are reviewed, ard adjusted if appropriate, as at the end of each reporting pericd.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)
217 Properties, plant and equipment (continued)

At the end of each reporting pericd, both intermal and extermal sources of information are considered to determine
whiether there is any indication that properies, plant and equipment are impaired. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss is recognised to reduce the
asset to its recoverable amount. Such an impairment loss is recognised in the income statemnent except where the
asset is carried at waluation and the impairment loss does not exceed the revaluation surplus for that same asset, in
which case it is treated as a decrease in the revaluation surplus. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Impairment loss is reversed through the premises revaluation reserve
or the income statement as appropriate.

Gains or lesses on disposals are determined as the difference between the net disposal preceeds and the carrying
amount, relevant tawes and expenses. These are recognised in the income statement on the date of disposal. Any
related revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retaimed earnings and is not reclassified to
the income statement.

2.18 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. & contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract corweys the right to contral the use of an identified asset for a pericd of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the ecomomic benefits from that use over the contract peried.

{1} As alessee

O the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 moniths or less ard leases of low-value assets. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to recognise the lease as a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability on a kease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with thase
leases which are not recognised as right-of-use assets ard lease liabilities are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present walue of the lease payments payable over the lease
term, after taking into account payments 0 be made in the optional period if the extensicn option is
reasonably cerain to be exercised, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrewing rate. The lease payments include
fined payments (including in-substance fised payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend an an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate.

After initial recognition, interest expense is calculated using a constant pericdic rate of interest. Variable
lease payments that do nict depend on an index or a rate are not included in the measurement of the lease
liakility and hence are charged to the income statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

218 Leases (continued)

{1} As alessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease
liakility plus any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
ard remowe the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is lecated, then
discounted to its present value, ard less any lease incentives received.

Paymenits associated with short-term leases of equipment and all leases of low-value assets are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in the income statement.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see Note 2.17), and adjusted when the lease liabilities are remeasured, except for the fallowing types
af right-of-use asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with Mote 2.16; and

- right-of-use assets related to leasehold lard and buildings that do not mest the definition of
inwestment property and where the Group is the registered owner of the leasehold interest are carmied
at revalued amount in accordance with Nate 2.17.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is 3 change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or a rate ussd to determine those payments, or there is a change in the Group's estimate of
the amount expected to be payable urder a residual value guarantee, or there is a change of lease terms,
or there is a chamge arising from the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasorably cerain to
exercise a purchase, extension or terminaticn option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
coresponding adjustment is made to the camying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in the
income statement if the camrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zemo

The Group presents right-cf-use assets that do not meet the definition of irvestment property in *Properties,
plart and equipment” ard presents lease liabilities in "Other accounts and provisions”

(2] Asalessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or
an cperatirg lkease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks ard rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified
as an op=erating lease.

When a contract contains lease and mon-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each comporent on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.19 Insurance and investment contracts
1) Classification of contracts

The Group issues insurance contracts which are contracts that transfer significant insurance risk and may also
transfer financial risk. As a general guideline, the Group defines as significant insurance risk the possibility
of having to pay benefits on the occurrence of an insured event that are at least 10% more than the berefit
payable if the insured event did not occur ard if there is a scenario that has commercial substance in which
the issuer has a possibility of a loss on a present value basis.

The Group alse issues certain insurance contracts that are substantially investment-related service contracts
where the returm on the underlying items is shared with palicyholders. Underlying items comprise specified
portfolios of investment assets that determine amounts payable to policyholders.

Investment contracts are those contracts that transfer financial risk with no significant insurance risk. Due to
the contractual discretion of the Group ower the inwestment return to the policyholders, these investment
contracts contain a discretionary participation feature ("DPF7). Investment contracts with DPF are accounted
far usimg the same accounting policies as those applied for insurance cantracts.

{2) Level of aggregation

Insurance contracts subject to similar risks and managed together are grouped as a portfolic of insurance
contracts. Each portfolio is further divided into groups of contracts mainly based on profitability, extent of
loss or possibility of becoming orerous contract subsequent to initial recognition. Insurance contracts issued
mizre than ore year apart should rot be included in the same group. The unit of account for the recognition
and measurement of insurance contracts is each individual group of contracts.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.19 Insurance and investment contracts (continued)
{3} Initial recognition - Groups of contracts measured under the GMM and the VFA

Under the GMM and the VFA, the Group measures groups of insurance contracts based on certain FCFs
ard contractual service margin {CSMT on initial recognition. FCFs include the estimates of present valus of
future cash flows and risk adjustment for non-financial risk

- The estimates of present wvalue of future cash flows represent explicit, unbiased and
probability-weighted estimates (i.e. expected value) of the present value of the net future cash flows
that will arise as the Group fulfils insurance contracts.

- Risk adjustment for mom-financial risk is applied to the estimates of present value of future cash flows
and reflects the compensation the Group requires for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and
timing of the cash flows from non-financial risk as the Group fulfils insurarce contracts.

- CEM, which represents the urearned profits that the Group will recognise as it provides insurance
contract services in the future, is a component of insurance contract liabilities and will be amortised
and recognised as insurance revenue over the remaining coverage pericd based on cowerage units as
the services are provided.

O initial recognition, if the sum of cash flows related to the group of insurance contracts results in a met
cash outflow, then the group of contracts is onerous. The amount of the net cash cutflow is recognised in
the income statement and a loss component of the liability for remaining coverage ("LRCY) is established
upon initial recognition.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

2.19 Insurance and investment contracts (continued)
{4) Subsequent measurement - Groups of contracts measured under the GMM and the VFA

At each of the subsequent reporting dates, the carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts issued
is the sum of (i} the LAC, comprising the FCFs related to future service and the C5M of that groups ard (i)
the liability for incurred claims ["LICT), comprising the FCFs related to past sevice allocated to the group of
insurance contracts.

Subsequent changes in the FCFs are accounted for differently under the GMM and the WFA. Charges in the
amount of the Group's share of the fair value of the underlying items and changes in the effect of the time
value of money and financial risks including the effect of opticns and guarantees embedded in the insurance
contracts would adjust the C5M under the VFA, whereas such changes would recognise in the income
staterment under the GMM. In addition, changes in the obligation to pay the policybolder the amount
equal to the fair value of the underlying items do rat adjust the C58 but directly recognise in the income
staterment under the VFA.

& group of contracts that has a C5M on initial recognition can become onerous in subsequent periods. The
excess of the carrying amount of the C5M is the loss component of the LAC and is recoagnised in the imcome
staterment. Subsequent decreases in FCFs arising from chamges in estimates of expected cash flows relating
to future service and, for contracts with direct participation features, any subsequent increases in the amount
af the entity's share of fair value of the underlying items are allocated sclely to the loss component, until it is
reduced to zero. After the loss component has reached zero, a C5M is created for the excess of the decrease
aver the amount allocated.

{5) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement — Groups of contracts measured under the PAA

O initial recognition, the Group measures the LRC at the amount of premiums received, less any acquisition
cash flowss paid and any amounts arising from the derecegnitien of the insurance acquisition cash flows asset
ard the derecognition of ary cther relevant pre-recognition cash flows. At each of the subsequent reporting
dates, the LRC is: (i) increased for premiums received in the period; (i) decreased for insurance acquisition
cash flows paid in the pericd; (i) decreased for the amounts of expected premium receipts recognised as
insurance revenue for the services provided i the period; and (iv) increased for the amortisation of insurance
acquisition cash flows inthe period recognised as insurance service expenses.

If facts and circumstances indicate that a group of insurance contracts measured under the PAA is cnerous
an initial recognition or becomes ocnersus subsequently, the Group increases the cammying amount of the LRC

tothe amounts of the FCFs determined under the GMM with the amount of such an increase recognised in
insurance service expenses, and a loss component is established for the amount of the loss recognised.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)
2.20 Cash and cash equivalents

Far the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with
original maturity less than three manths from the date of acquisition, including cash, balances with banks and
other financial imstitutions, shor-term bills and nobes classified as inwvestment securities and certificates of deposit.

2.1 Provisions

Prowisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past evenits,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embeodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the cbligation can be made.

2.22 Employee benefits
{1} Retirement benefit costs

The Group contributes to defired contribution retirement schemes under either recognised ORS0 schemes
or MPF schemes that are available to the Group's employess. Contributicns to the schemes by the Group
and employees are calculated as a percentage of employess’ basic salaries for the ORSO schemes and
in accordance with the MPF rules for MPF schemes. The retirement benefit scheme costs are changed to
the income statement as incurred and represent comtributions payable by the Group to the schemes.
Contributiors made by the Group that are forfeited by those employees who leave the ORS0 scheme prior
to the full vesting of their entitlement to the contributions are used by the Group to reduce the existing level
af contributions or to meet its expenses under the trust deed of the QRS0 schemes.

The assets of the schemes are held in inrdependently-administered funds separate from those of the Group.

{2} Leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and sick leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for unused annual leave and the amount of sick leave expected
to be paid as a result of senvices rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Compensated absences other than sick leave and special approved annual leave are non-accumulating; they
lapse if the current period's entitlement is not used in full. Except for urexpired annual leave, they do not
entitle employees to a cash payment for unused entitlement @n leaving the Group.

(3] Bonusplans

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constnuctive obligation as a result of sewices rendered by employess and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus plans that are expected to be settled lomger tham twelve
miznths will b2 discounted if the amounts are significanit.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)
223 Current and deferred income taxes

Tax expenses for the period comprise current and deferred tax Tax is recognised in the income statement, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive imcome.

Income tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax law enacted of substantially enacted at the end of the
reporting period in each jurisdiction where the Company and its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income, is recognised as a curent income tax expense in the pericd in which profits arise.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet liability method, on tem porany differences arising
b=tween the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consclidated financial statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the end of the reporting pericd and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the
deferred tax liakility is settled.

The principal temporary differences arise from asset impairment provisions, depreciation of premises and
equipment, and revaluation of certain assets including securities at FW2{ and premises. However, the deferred
imcome tax is not recognised if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
busiress combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does nat give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are provided im full on all taxable temporarny differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised
on deductible temporary differences, the camy forward of any unused tax credits and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the camy forward of unused tax credits and unused tax kosses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is charged or credited in the income statement except for deferred income tax relating to fair
value remeasuremernt of securities at FYCCl and revaluation of premises which are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income, im which case the deferred income tax is also credited or charged to other comprehensive
imcome and is subsequently recognised in the income statement together with the realisation of the deferred gain
and lass.

Deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset arising from an investment property is determined based on the
presumption that the revaluation amount of such investment property will be recovered through sale with the
relevant tax rate applied.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)
2.24 Repossessed assets

Repossessed assets for loans and advances are collateral that the Group takes control from bomowers due to the
restructuring of or inability to repay the related loans and advances. The Group intends to recover the outstanding
debts through disposal of these repossessed assets. Loans and advances with collateral repossessed will continue
to be accounted far in its original accounting classification except when the Group takes legal title of the related
repossessed assets and the risks and rewards of their ownership are substantially transferred to the Group, in which
cases the repossessed assets are recognised under separate accounts as menticned in the below paragraph with
the related loans and advances ard the related impairment allowances derecognised from the balance sheet.

Repossessed assets are recognised at the lower of the carrying amount of the related loans and advances ard the
fair value less costs to sell of the collateral on the date of recognition and reported as “non-current assets held for
sake” included in "Other assets” if they are non-financial instruments, with individual impairment allowance made
on the shortfall between the camying amount and the expected ret realisable value of the repossessed assets; ar
are recognised and subsequently measured at fair values and are reported as “Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss® if they are financial instruments.

2.25 Fiduciary activities

The Group commonly acts as a trustee, or in other fiduciary capacities, that result in its holding or managing assets
on behalf of individuals, trusts ard other institutions. These assets and any gains or losses arising thereon are
excluded from these financial statemerits, as they are not assets of the Group.

2.26 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existerce will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-cccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past ewents that is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannct be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised as a provision but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
When a chamge in the probability of an outflow ocours so that cutflow is probable, it will then be recognised as
a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whaose existence will only be confimed
by the accurrence of non-occurrence of one ar more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of
the Group.

Corntirgent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of
economic berefits is probable. When the inflow is virtually certain, it will b2 recognised as an asset.

2.27 Related parties

For the purposes of these financial staterments, 3 pary is considered to be related to the Group if that party
(i) controls, jointl contrals or has significant influence ower the Groups (i) is a member of the same financial
reporting group, such as parents, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries; (i) is an associate or a joint venture of the
Group or parent reporting group; ({iv) is a key management perscnrel of the Group or parents; (v) is subject to
comman contrzl with the Group; (vi) is an entity in which a person identified in (iv] contrzls; and (vii) provides key
management personnel sendices to the Group or its parent. Related parties may be individuals or entities.
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3. Critical estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the cammying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
reporting pericd. Estimates and judgemnents are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Areas
susceptible to chamges in essential estimates and judgements, which affect the camying amount of assets and liabilities,
are set out below. The effects of changes to either the key assumptions or ather estimation uncertainties are presented
below if it is practicable to determine. It is possible that actual results may require material adjustments to the estimates
referred to below.

3.1 Impairment losses on advances to customers

The Group reviews its credit portfolios to assess impairment at least on a guarterly basis. Under HEFRS 9, the
measurement of impairment losses across all categories of financial asset requires judgemert, in paricular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by @ number of factars,
changes of which can result in different levels of allowances.

The Group's ECL calculations are outputs of complex models. The choice of variable inputs and their
interdeperdencies involes a series of assumptions. ECL models for stage 1 and stage 2 exposures are developed
by leveraging on the parameters implemented under Mote 4.1, where feasible and available. Elements of the ECL
mixdels that are considered accounting judgements and estimates include:

The Group's intermnal credit rating madels, which assign Probability of Defaults to the individual ratings;

Thee Graup's significant credit deterioration criteria (including internal credit ratimg downarade, days past due,
drop in Mark-to-Market and qualitative assessment) for assessing whether the financial assets’ impairment
allowances should be measured on a lifetime ECL basis;

The segmentation of financial assets according to credit risk characteristics (portfolios including Soversign,
Bank, Corporates, Retail Small Medium-sized Enterprise, Residential Mortgage Loan and Credit Card) when
their ECLs are assessed on a collective basis;

Development of ECL maodels, including the determination of macroeconomic factor forecasts (imcluding
Gross Domestic Product growth, Consumer Price Index, Property Price Index ard Unemployment Rate) and
the effect on Probability of Defaults, Loss Given Defaults and Exposure at Defauhts; and

Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarics (including four independent scenarios ie. good,
baseline, bad and alternative) and their probability weightings.

In respect of credit-impaired exposures, expected credit losses are measured on an individual basis by estimating
the future recoverable cash flows. Factors affecting this estimate include, among other thirgs, the granularity of
finarcial information related to specific borrowers and their guarantors, the availability of meaningful information
of competitors and the relevance of sector trends to the future performarce of specific borrowers and cash flows
fram the sale of collateral.

It has been the Group's policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and adjust
witien necessary.

Carrying amounts of adwances to customners as at 31 December 2024 are shown in Mote 25.
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3. Critical estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

3.2 Fair values of financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determired by using valuation
technigues. Valuation technigues used include the use of recent arm's lemgth transactions, discounted cash
flows analysis and models with built-in functions available in extermally acquired finamcial analysis or risk
management systems widely used by the industry such as option pricing models, and other commanly
used market pricing models. Te the extent practical, the models use observable data. In addition, waluation
adjustmenits may be adopted if factors such as credit risk are not considered in the waluation miedels. Managemenit
judgement and estimates are required for the selection of appropriate valuation parameters, assumptions and
modelling techniques.

The Group assesses assumptions and estimates used in valuation technigues including review of waluation madel
assumptions and characteristics, changes to model assumpticns, the quality of market data, whether markets are
active or imactive, other fair value adjustments not specifically captured by models and consistency of application
of techniques between reporting periods as part of its normal review and approwval processes. Valuation techniques
are validated and pericdically reviewed and, where appropriate, have been updated to reflect market conditions at
the financial reporting date. Further details will be discussed in Nate 5.

3.3 Insurance contract liabilities
{a)] Estimate of future benefit payments and premiums arising from long term insurance contracts

Assumptiens including merality and morkidity rates, lapse rates and expenses are used when estimating
future cash flows. The present value of future cash flows is estimated using deterministic scenarios,
except where stochastic modelling is used to measure options and guarantees embedded in the
insurance contracts. The assumptions used in the deterministic scemarios are derived to approximate the
probabil ity-weighted mean of a full range of scenarios.

{b) Determining coverage units
The Group uses the amount that indicates the sum which policyholders are able to validly claim, such as
the contractual cower in each period or number of policies with consideration of policy size subject to
certain scenarics as the basis for the quantity of benefits for all insurance cowerages, inwestment-return and
investment-related senvices.
The total rumber of coverage units in a group is the quantity of service provided by the contracts in the
group ower the expected coverage pericd. The coverage units are determined at the end of each reporting
period pros pectively by considering the following items:
- the quantity of berefits provided by contracts in the group;

- the expected coverage period of contracts in the group; and

- the likelihond of insured ewents occurring, anly to the extent that they affect the expected coverage
period of contracts in the group.

In performing the abowe determination, management applied judgement that might impact the C5M
carrying values and amourits of the C5M allecation recognised in the income statement for the pericd.
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3. Critical estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

3.3 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
(e} Discount rates

Life insurance contract liakilities are calculated by discounting expected future cash flows at a risk-free rate,
plus an illiquidity premium where applicable. Risk free rates are determined by reference to relevant market
yiel information. The iliquidity premium is based on market cbservable liquidity premiums in financial
assets, adjusted to reflect the illiquidity characteristics of the liability cash flows.

The yield curves used to discount expected future cash flows demominated in USD range from 198% to
EE1% as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 3.79% to 5.62%), 1.08% to 4.64% as at 31 December 2024 (2023 2.07%
to 4.03%) for expected future cash flows derominated in RME, 3.56% to 4.61% as at 31 December 2024
[2023; 3.27% to 5.20%) for expected future cash flows demominated in HED, and 2.23% to 5.B1% as at
31 December 2024 (2023: Mil) for expected future cash flows demominated in ather foreign currencies.

{d) Risk adjustment for non-financial risk

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk represents the compensation that the Group requires for bearing
the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows of groups of insurance contracts and covers
insurance risk, lapse risk and expense risk The Group has estimated the risk adjustment using confidence
lewel technigque.

The risk adjustment for life insurance and reinsurance contracts comesponds to 75% confidence level (2023:
7).

3.4 Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets on unused tax losses and unused tax credits are recognised and the determination of the
amount to be recognised requires significant management judgement. Deferred tax asset on unused tax losses
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the lasses can
b= utilised. Judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upizn the likely timing and lewel of future taxable profits. For deferred tax assets on unused tax credits, judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the estimation of
available tax credits and the possibility to recover such deferred tax assets recognised.

3.5 Determination of lease terms of leases

The Group determires the lease term as the ron-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered
by an cption to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to
terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group has the cption, under some of its leases, to renew the leases for additional terms of three to nine years.
The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option on the lease
commencement date. During the evaluation, the Group considers all relevant factors that create am economic
imcentive for it to exercise the renewal option. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term
if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise
[or not to exercise) the option to renew (2.g. a change in business strategy).

Carrying amounts of right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2024 are shown in Mote 29
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4. Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to financial risks as a result of engaging in a variety of business activities. The principal financial
risks are credit risk, market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. This note summarises the
Group's exposures to these risks, as well as its objectives, risk management governance structure, policies and processes
for managing and the methods used to measure these risks.

Financial risk management framework

The Group's risk managemsent govermance structure is designed to cover all business processes and to ensure
various risks are properly managed ard controlled in the course of conducting business. The Group has a robust risk
management organisational structure with a comprehensive set of policies and procedures to identify, measure, monitor
and control various risks that may arise. These risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed and
updated to reflect chamges in markets and business strategies. Various groups of risk takers assume their respective
responsibilities for risk management.

The Board of Directors, representing the interests of shareholders, is the highest decision-making authaority of the Group
and has the ultimate responsibility for risk management. The Board, with the assistance of its commitbees, has the
primary responsibility for the formulation of risk management strategies, risk appetite and risk culture and ensurirg that
the Group has an effective risk management system to implement these strategies.

The RC, a standing committee established by the Board of Directors, is responsible for overseeing the Group's
comprehensive risk and various types of risks, approving Lewel | risk management policies and monitoring their
implementation, and approving significant or high risk exposures or transactions. The Audit Committee assists the Board
in fulfilling its role in cverseeing the internal control system.

The senicr management is responsible for the implementation of comprehensive risk management and warious types of
risk maragemert. The Chief Executive ['CE') is res ponsible for managing the Group's comprebensive and various types of
risks, and approving material risk exposures or transactions within his authority delegated by the Board of Directors. The
Ceputy Chief Executives (*DCEs") assist the CE in fulfilling his responsibilities on the day-to-day management of various
types of risk, and are responsible for approving material risk exposures or transactions within their authorities delegated
by the CE. The Chief Risk Officer {"CRO") assists the CE im fulfilling hiz responsibilities on day-to-day management of
various types of risks and intermal contral; responsible for initisting new risk management strategies, projects and
measures in response to regulatory chamges that will enable the Group to better moniter and manage any risks that
may arise from time to time from new businesses, products and changes in the operating erwironment ard responsible
for reviewing material risk exposures or transactions within the delegated authaority. In accordance with the principle
of setting the hierarchy of risk management policies approved by the Board, senior management is responsible for
approving the detailed risk management policies of their areas.
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Financial risk management (continued)

Financial risk management framework (continued)

Various units of the Group have their respective risk management responsibilities. Business units act as the first line of
defence while risk management units, which are the second line of defence and are independent from the business
units, are responsible for the day-to-day management of different kinds of risks. Risk management units have the primary
responsibility for drafting, reviewing and updating various risk management policies and procedures.

The Group's principal banking subsidiaries are subjected to risk management paolicies that are consistent with those
of the Group. Moreover, the Group's nom-banking subsidiaries, such as BOC Life, are subject to the Group's risk
management requirements. These subsidiaries are required to formulate their respective risk managemenit policies based
on the characteristics of their own industries, perform daily risk management responsibilities and repon to BOCHK on a
regular basis. Risk management units of BOCHK menitor the risk managemeni status of these subsidiaries.

The Group has put in place appropriate internal control systems, including the establishment of an crganisation structure
that sets clear lines of autharity and responsibility for menitaring compliamce with policies, procedures and limits. Proper
reporting lines also provide sufficient independence of the contral functions from the business areas, as well as adequate
segregation of duties throughaout the organisation which helps to promote an appropriate internal control envirenmenrit.

Product development and risk monitoring

To ensure the effectiveness of risk assessment and monitoring, the Group has a comprehensive product development
and risk monitoring system where roles and responsibilities of all related umits are clearly defined and proper due
diligence processes on preduct development are in place.

In accordance with the strategic objectives set by the Board and the Management, respective product management
units are responsible for formulating business and product development plans, and proceeding to specific product
development activities. The department of strategic development shall ensure the plans are aligred with the Group's
owerall strategies. Departments that are responsible for risk management, legal, compliance and finance, etc are
accountable for review of the risk assessment results.

Apart from product development and cngoing monitoring on existing products, respective praduct management
units shall identify and assess the risks of new products and existing products. Risk management units shall conduct
indeperndent review on the product risk assessment results and the corresponding risk management measures.
Praducts can only be launched upon completion of the product due diligence process to the satisfaction of all risk
management units.

A prudert approach is adopted in offering treasury products to our clients. All rew treasury products require approwal
from a dedicated committee before launching.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that a customer or counterpary is unable to or unwilling to meet its contractual
cbligations. Credit risk exists in the trading book and banking book, as well as from on- and off-balance sheet
transacticons of the Group. It arises principally from lending, trade finance and treasury businesses.

Cradit risk management framework

The Group has formulated a comprehensive set of credit risk management policies and procedures, and
appropriate credit risk limits to manage and control credit risk that may arise. These policies, procedures and credit
risk limits are regularly reviewed and updated to cope with changes in market conditions and business strategies.

The Group's crganisation structure establishes a clear set of authority and respansibility for monitering compliance
with paolicies, procedures and limits.

The Chief Credit Officer, who reports directly to the CRO, takes charge of credit risk managemernt and is also
responsible for the control of credit risk exposures of subsidiaries in line with the credit risk management principles
and requirements set by the Group. Various units of the Group have their respective credit risk management
responsibilities. Business units act as the first line of defence in risk management. The Risk Management
Department ("RMO), which is independent from the busiress units, is responsible for the day-to-day management
of credit risks and provides an independent due diligence through identifying, measuring, monitoring and
controlling credit risk to ensure an effective checks and balances, as well as drafting, reviewing ard updating credit
risk management policies and procedures. It is also responsible for the design, development and maintemance of
the Group's intermal rating system and ensures the system complies with the relevant regulatory requiremertts.
Back offices are responsible for credit administration, providing operations support ard supemnvision on the
implementation of prerequisite terms and conditions of credit facilities.

Im accordance with the Group's operating principle, the Group's principal subsidiaries hawe to formulate their own
credit risk policies that are consistent with those of the Group's core principle. These subsidiaries are required to
submit their risk management reports to the Group's Management @n a regular basis.

The Board of Directors delegates credit approval authority to the CE. The CE can further delegate to the
subordinates within his limit authorised by the Board of Directors. The Group sets the limits of credit approwval

authority according to the credit business nature, ratirg, the level of transaction risk, and the extent of the
credit exposure.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.1 Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk measurement and control

In wiew of the rapidly changing market conditions, the Group has been continuously revisiting its credit strategies
and corducting rigonzus reviews on the concermed portfolios.

Advances

Different credit approval ard control procedures are adopted according to the level of risk associated with the
customer, counterparty of tramsaction. The Credit Risk Assessment Committee, comprising experts from credit
and other functions, is responsible for making an independent assessment of material credit applications which
require the approval of DCEs ar above. Credit applications for non-retail exposures are independently reviewed
and objectively assessed by risk management units. Obligor ratings (in terms of probability of default) and facility
ratirgs (in terms of loss given default] are assigned to these portfolios to support credit approval. Retail internal
rating systems are deployed in the risk assessment of retail credit transactions, including small business loans
urder retail exposures, residential mortgage loans, personal loans and credit cards, etc. Loan grades, obligor and
facility ratings as well as loss estimates (if applicable) are used to support credit approval.

The Group alse uses loan grades, obligor ratings and loss estimates (if applicable) to support credit monitoring,
reporting and analysis of credit risk information. For non-retail exposures, more frequent rating review and claser
mnitoring are required for higher-risk custemers. For retail exposures, monthly updated internal ratings ard loss
estimates are used for credit monitoring on a portfolic basis. More comprehensive review is required for cbligors
being identified under high-risk pools

The Group employs an internal master rating scale that can be mapped to Standard & Poor's external credit ratings.
The structure of intermal master rating scale is in compliance with the requirement of the Banking (Capital) Rules

urder the Homg Kong Banking Ordinance.

The RMD prowides regular credit management information repons and ad hoc reports to the Management
Committee ("M, the RC and Board of Directors to facilitate their contimuous monitering of credit risk

I additicn, the Group identifies credit concentration risk by industry, gecgraphy, customer or counterparty.
The Group monitors changes to every counterparties credit risk, gquality of the credit portficlio and credit risk
concentrations, and reports regularly to the Group's Management.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
Credit risk measurement and control (continued)
Advances [continued)

The Group adopts loan grading criteria which divide credit assets into five categories with reference to the HEMA's
guidelires, as below:

"Pass” represents loans where the borrower is current in meeting its repayment obligations and full repayment of
imterest and principal is mot in doubt.

“Special Mention” represents loans where the borrower is experiencing difficulties which may threaten the Group's
recoverability of the loan principal and interest. Ultimate loss is not expected at this stage but could occur if
adwerse conditiens persist.

“Substandard® represents loans where the borrower displays a definable weakness that is likely to
jecpardise repayment.

"Doubtful” represents loans where collection in full is imprebablke and the Group expects to sustain a loss of
principal ardfor interest, taking into account the net realisable value of the collateral.

"Lass” represents loans which are considered uncollectible after all collection opticns (such as the realisation of
collateral or the institution of legal proceedings) have been exhausted.

The Group will write-off the financial assets, either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery
of reasonable expectation of full recovery upon assessment. After realisation of the collateral of secured financial
assets, the net value of the financial assets will be written-off if there is no prospect of recovery.

Debt securities and derivatives

Far irwestments in debt securities, the obligor ratings or external credit ratings and credit limits setting on
customer/security issuer basis are used for managing credit risk associated with the inwestment. For derivatives,
the Group sets customer limits to manage the credit risk involwed and follows the same approval and control
processes as applied for advances. On-going monitoring and stop-loss procedures are established.

Settlement risk arises mainly from foreign exchange transactions with counterparties amd also from derivative
transactions in any situation where a payment in cash, seourities or equities is made in the expectation of a

corresponding receipt in cash, securities or equities. Daily settlement limits are established for each counterparty
of customer to cower all settlement risks arising from the Group's market transactions on any single day.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
Credit risk measurement and control (continued)

Financial instruments are considered to be in default when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows occurred such as past due for more than 90 days or the borrower is unlikely to pay
in full for its debt obligations to the Group.

Credit-impaired financial instruments are classified as 5Stage 3 and lifetime expected credit losses will be
recognised. Evidence that a financial instrument is credit-impaired include obsersable data about the following
BYEnts:

Significant financial difficulty incurred by the borrower;

- A breach of contract, such as a default or delinrquency in primcipal of interest payment;

- For ecomomic or contractual reascns related to the bormower's fimancial difficulty, the Group has granted to
the bormower 3 concession that it would not otherwise consider;

- Probable that the borrower will become bankrupt or underge other financial rearganisation;

- The purchase of crigination of a financial asset at a8 deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses; or

- Cther obsersable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from
such financial instrumenits.

Expected Credit Loss (“ECL™) Methodology

For impairment assessment, an impairment model is introduced in compliance with HEFRS 9, it requires the
recognition of ECL for financial instruments held at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive
imcome. Under HKFRS 9, ECL is assessed in three stages and the financial assets, loan commitments and financial
guarantees are chssified in one of the three stages.

Stage 1: if the financial instruments are not credit-impaired during origination and their credit risk has not
imcreased significantly since arigination, and the impairment allowance is measured at an amount up to 12-month

ECL;

Stage 2: if the financial instruments are mot Credit-impaired during origination but their credit risk has increased

significantly since arigination, and the impairment allowance is measured at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL;

Stage 3: if the financial instruments are credit-impaired and their future cash flows of that financial instruments are
adwersely affected by ore of more events, and the impairment allowance is measured at an amount equal to the
lifetirme ECL.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.1 Credit risk (continued)
Expected Credit Loss (“ECL™) Methodology (continued)

The Group has established the significant credit detericration criteria framework to determine the stage of
the financial instruments. The framework incorporates both gquantitative and gqualitative assessment, taking
imto account of factors such as number of days past due, change in IRE rating, low credit risk threshold and
the watchlist.

The customer credit ratings in the internal model are classified into 27 grades. The lowest (27th) credit grading
equates to defaulted customners while the others are assigned to non-defaulted customers. The quantitative and
qualitative criteria considered in determining significant credit detericration include:

Quantitative criteria

- Failure to make payments of principal or interest 30 days after the contractual due dates;

- At the reporting date, the credit risk is deemed to increase significantly when the remaining lifetime PD rises
by more than a certain range from initial recognition, and reflected as a drop in customer's credit rating by
corresponding level according to the differemt PD at initial recognition. In majority cases, there is a significant
increase in credit risk when the customer's credit rating drops by 5 grades.

Qualitative criteria

- Significant adwverse change in debtor's operations or financial status;

- Customers with sign of credit deteriaration are put into watchlist for staging review.

The Group leverages the parameters implemented under Basel Il IRE models and intermal madels where feasible
and available to assess ECL. For the portfolizs without models, all other reasonable and supportable information
such as historical information, relevant loss experience or proxies are utilised. The measurement of ECL is the

product of the financial instrument’s probability of default P07, loss given default {"LGD ard exposure at default
["EAD") discounted at the effective interest rate to the reporting date.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
Expected Credit Loss (“ECL™) Methodology [continued)

ECL is measured at an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes, the time value of money and reasonable and supporable information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The Group adopts four economic scenarios in
the ECL measurement, including “Good’ “Baseline’ "Bad” and “Akemative” scenarios, to meet the requiremenis
of HKFRS 9. The "Baseline” scenaric represents a most likely outcome. "Good” and "Bad” scenarios represent the
estimated deviations of the "Baseline” scenario, which are either more optimistic or more pessimistic as compared
with "Baseline” scenario. The “Alternative” scenario represents a more pessimistic scenaric than the "Bad” scenario,
to reflect the Maragemert's view on severe downside risks of the idicsyncratic events that may have severs
impact on the performamnce and asset quality of the credit portfolio, when the Management considers the risk
cannot be fully reflected in the three scenarios {i.e. %Good’ "Baseline” and "Bad” scenarios) derived from fiorecasts
and historical data.

The "Baseline® ard “Alternative” scenarics are prepared by the Group's Economics & Strategic Planning Departmeni.
Historical data, economic trend, external economic forecast from gowemmental and non-govermmental
organisation, etc. are also used as reference benchmarks to ensure the "Baseline” scenario is reasonable and
supportable. For the "Good” ard "Bad” scenarics, the Group makes reference to the historical macroeconomics
data for estimating the deviations. The “Alternative” scenario reflects the Management's review of the tail of the
economic distribution, incorporating 3 number of risk events, including further escalation of geopolitical tensions
coupled with other uncertainties, worsening of global supply chains, rising global inflation rate, the monetary
tightening policy of Central Banks and interest rate hikes which eventually pose a significant pressure on economy.

The core macroeconomic factors in the major countries/regions where the Group operates such as Gross Domestic
Preduct {"GDP") growth, and ather key macroeconomic factors such as Consumer Price Index, Property Price Index
and Uremployment Rate are applied in the ecomomic scenarios. These macroecoromic factors are considered
impeortant to the Group's BCL in statistical analysis and business opinion.

The probability weight assigned for each scenario reflects the Group's view for the economic environment,
fallowing the Group's prudent and consistent credit strategy of ensuring the adequacy of impairment allowance.
A higher probability weight is assigned to the "Baseline” scenario to reflect the most likely outcome and a lower
probability weight is assigned to the "Good”, "Bad” and “Alternative” scerarios to reflect the less likely cutcomes. As
of December 2024, the probability weight of the Group's "Baseline” scenario is higher than the sum of probability
weight of "zocd”, "Bad” and “Altermative” scenarios.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
Expected Credit Loss (“ECL™) Methodology [continued)

The core macreeconomic factor used by the Group to assess ECL:

Alternative

nomic Factor io Cemario Enario 2 nario

2025 Heng Kong GOP Grawth 6.00% 2.50% -1.00% -4.00%

The cakulation of ECL is affected by macroecomomic factors and economic scenarios. In principle, an increase
in ECL would be resulted if more pessimistic macroeconomic factors are applied in ECL assessment or a higher
probability weight is assigned to the "Bad” scenaric. The Group reviews the macroeconomic factors used
im the BCL model and the probability weight of economic scenarios om a quarterly basis according to the
established mechanism.

RC is responsible for approving ECL methodalegy and the Management is responsible for the ECL model
implementation. Credit Risk Management is responsible for the maintenance of ECL methodolegy including
models review and parameters update on a regular basis. Independent Maodel Validation Team is responsible for
the annual validation of BCL models. F there is any change in BECL methodology, the Group will follow the proper

approval process.

As at 31 December 2024, the ECL will be increased by 1.67% (2023: 1.21%) if 5% of the probability weight is shifted
from "Baseline” scemario to "Bad® scenario; and will be decreased by 0.B0% (2023: Q.59%) if 5% of the probability
weight is shifted from "Baseline” scenario to "Good” scenaria.

Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements

The valuation and management of collateral have been documented in the credit risk management policies and
procedures which cover acceptance criteria, validity of collateral, loan-to-value ratio, hairout ratio, valuation and
insurance, etc. The collateral is revalued on a regular basis, though the frequency and the methed used varies with
the type of collateral involed and the nature and the risk of the underlying credit. The Group has established a
mechanism to update the value of its main type of collateral, property collateral including the use of public irdices
on a portfolio basis. Collateral is insured with the Group as the primary beneficiary. In the personal sector, the main
types of collateral are real estate, cash deposits and securities. In the commercial and industrial sector, the types of
collateral include real estate, securities, cash deposits, vessels, aircraft, etc.

Far koans guarantesd by a third party, the Group will assess the guarantor's financial condition, credit history and
ability to meet obligations.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of collateral held by the Group that was permitted to sell or re-pledge in
the absence of default by the borrower amounted to HK532,350 million (2023: HK527,532 millicn). The Group had

nat sold or re-pledged such collateral (2023: HEKS703 millicn). These transactions are conducted under terms that
are usual ard customarny to reverse repurchase and seourities borrowing agreements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(A} Credit exposures

The maximum credit exposure is the worst case scemario of exposure to the Group without taking into
account any collateral held or other credit enhancements. For on-balance sheet assets, the maximum
exposure to credit risk equals their carying amount. For letters of guarantee issued, the maximum exposure
to credit risk is the maximum amount that the Group could be required to pay if the guarantees are called
upon. For loan commitment and other credit related liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the
full amiount of the committed facilities.

The nature of the collateral held and other credit enhancements and their financial effect to the different
classes af the Group's financial assets are as follows.

Balances and placements with banks and other financial institutions

Thiese exposures are generally considered to be low risk due to the nature of the counterparties. Collateral is
gernerally rot soughit on these assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and investment in securities

Caollateral is generally not scught on debt securities.

Derivative financial instruments

The Master Agreement published by the Intermational Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (1504 Master
Agreement”) is the preferred agreement for documenting derivative activities of the Group. It provides the
contractual framework under which dealing activities of over-the-counter (*JTC") transactions are comducted,
and sets out close-cut netting provisions upon termination following the ccourrence of an ewent of defaukt
ar 3 termination event. In addition, if deemed necessary, Credit Suppont Annexes will ke included to form
part of the Schedule to the 1504 Master Agreement. Under the Credit Support Annexes, collateral is passed
from ore counterparty to another, as appropriate, to mitigate the credit exposures.

Advances and other accounts, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts

The general types of collateral are disclosed on page 178. Advances and other accounts, lean commitmerits
and financial guarantee contracts are collateralised to the extent considered appropriate by the Group taking
account of the risk assessment of individual exposures. The collateral coverage of advances to customers is
analysed on pages 168 to 189, The components and nature of loan commitments and financial guarantes
contracts are disclosed in Mote 41. Regarding the commitments that are unconditionally cancellable without
prior notice, the Group would assess the necessity to withdraw the credit line in case where the credit
quality of a borrower deteriorates. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, 10.67% (2023:
11.58%) were covered by collateral as at 31 December 2024,
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(B} Advances and other accounts

Gross advances and other accounts before impairment allowances are summarised by product type as

fallows:

2023
HES'm

Adwances to customers

Personal

- Martgages 451,107
- Credit cards 13,204
- Others 136,633

Carporate
- Commercial locans 1,031,002
- Trade finance 44 850
1,676 886
Trade bills 2,154
Advances to banks and other financial institutions 2222
1,681 262

435515
12583
152515

1,053,798
47 £51
1702302
751
1215
1,707 a&8

Advances with a specific repayment date are classified as overdue when the principal or interest is past due

ard remains unpaid. Advances repayable by regular instalments are classified as owerdue when an instalment

payment is past due and remains unpaid. Adwvances repayable on demard are classified as owverdue either
when a demand for repayment has been served on the borrowser but repayment has not been made in
accordance with the instruction or when the advances have remained continucusly to exceed the approved

limit that was advised to the bomower.

Advances classified as Stage 3 may not necessarily result in impairment loss where the advances are

fully collateralised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(B} Advances and other accounts (continued)

Gross advances and other accounts before impairment allowances are analysed by intermal credit grade and

stage classification as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
HKS'mi HK$'m HES'm HKS'm
Advances to customers
Pass 1,621,815 13574 - 1,635389
Special mention 2,188 20,748 - 13,036
Substandard or below - - 17,652 17,652
1,624,103 34322 17,652 1,676,077
Trade bills
Pass 2,153 - - 2,153
Special menticn 1 - - 1
Substandard or below - - - -
2,154 - - 1,154
Advances to banks and other financial
institutions
Pass 2,222 - - 1,222
Special mention - - - -
Substandard or below - - - -
2,222 - - 1,223
1,628 479 34322 17,652 1,680,453

2024

Stage 2 Stage 3
HK$'m HKS'm

Impairment allowances

Advances and other accounts at amortised
cost (5,459) {1,551 (7,950)0 (14,960)

Adwvances and other accounts at fair value
through cther comprebensive income (L] - - 1]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
B)

Advances and other accounts (continued)

Advances to customers
Pass

Special mention
Substandard or below

Trade bills

Pass

Special mention
Substandard or below

Advances to banks and other financial
institutions

Pass

Special menticn

Substandard ar below

EDINETOOOO
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Total
HES'm

1,659,557 16,721 - 1676278
3039 4,325 - T34

- - 17,797 17,797
1,662,596 21046 17,797 1,701 439
x| - - 1751
37E - - 751
1815 - - 1215
1815 - - 1215
1,668,162 21 046 17,797 1,707 005

Impairment allowances
Advances and other accounts at amortised

cost

Total
HES'm

(4,113) [1,058) [%,555) (14.724)

Advances and other accounts at fair value
through cther comprebensive income

[25) - - 125

Az at 31 December 2024 and 2023, advances and cther accounts by internal credit grade and stage
classification did not include advances and other accounts mandatorily classified at fair value through profit

ar loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(B} Advances and other accounts (continued)

Reconciliation of impairment allowances and gross amiount for advances and other accounts is as follows:

Total
HKS 'mi

Impairment allowances

At 1 January 2024 4112 1,056 9555 14724
Transfer to Stage | 208 (205) (3] -
Transfer to Stage 2 (108) 152 (144) -
Transfer to Stage 3 (4] (286) 292 -
Changes arising from transfer of stage (193) 345 647 T99
Charge fior the year® 3,485 1,019 2961 7,465
Rewersal for the year™ [2,007) (811) (6T8) (3,296)
Write-offs - = (4,718} 4,718)
Recoveries - - 168 168
Exchange difference and others (33) 1% 11300 (182)
At 31 December 2024 5,459 1,551 7,950 14,960
Charged to income statement (Maote 13) 4 968

Stage 3 Total
HKS'm HK5'm

Gross amount

At 1 January 2024 1,668,162 21,046 17,797 1,707,005
Transfer to Stage | 3,909 (3,974) (25) -
Transfer to Stage 2 (19,087) 19,393 (206) -
Transfer to Stage 3 (326) (4521) 4,847 -
Met change in exposures (20,360) 2472 &9 (17,799)
Write-offs = = (4,718} 4,718)
Exchange difference ard others (3,909) (94) (32) (4,035)
At 31 December 2024 1,628,479 34322 17,652 1680453
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(B} Advances and other accounts (continued)

Total
HES'm

Impairment allowances

At 1 January 2023 3997 2,511 4502 11500
Transfer to Stage 1 174 [1&3) [11) -
Transfer to Stage 2 [153) 1585 21 -
Transfer to Stage 3 (4] (3,938 3540 -
Changes arising from transfer of stage [156) 1,061 1579 2384
Charge for the year® 2318 2311 2,556 7185
Rewersal for the year™ [20&1) (257 [£44) 13,602
Write-cffs - - [3,088) (3,0848)
Recoweries - - 133 133
Exchange difference ard cthers (3 14 (3000 (288)
At 31 December 2023 4113 1055 9555 14724

Charged te income statement (Mote 13)

Total
HES'm

Gross amount

At 1 January 2023 1,605,892 40,164 B4 1654781

Transfer to Stage | 10,840 (10827 [13) -
Transfer to Stage 2 (8 6800 BEED [ -
Transfer to Stage 3 [363) [12028) 12,358 -
Met change in exposures 59522 [4,535) [185) C4.4032

Write-offs - - [3,088) {3,0838)
Exchange difference ard cthers Q49 (191 (200 910
At 31 December 2023 1,668,162 21046 17,7687 1,707 (05

il Charge for the year comiprises the Impairment kosses acributable bo rew loans, Emalning koars without stage trarafers, and changes: 1o
risk parameters, st

{1l Rewersal for the year comprises reversal of Impalment kosses atiributable to loan repaid, remaining loars without stage tmnsfers, ard
changes 1o sk param eters, eic.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(B} Advances and other accounts (continued)
(a) Impaired advances

Impaired adwances to customers are analysed as follows:

2023
HES'm

Gross impaired advances to customers 17,652 17,787
Percentage of gross advances to customers 1.05% 1.05%
Impairment allowances made in respect of such advances T7.950 G555

The impairment allowances were made after taking into account the walue of collateral in respect of
the credit-impaired advances.

2023
HES'm

Current market value of collateral held against the covered

portion of such advances to customers 14,927 2331
Covered portion of such adwances to customers 8,248 204
Uncovered portion of such advances to customers 9,404 115493

As at 31 December 2024, there were no impaired trade bills and advances to banks and cther financial
institutions (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(B} Advances and other accounts (continued)
(b} Advances overdue for more than three months

The gross amount of advances overdue far more than three months is analysed as follows:

% of gross % of gross

advances to advances to
Amount customers Amount customers
HES 'm HES'm

Gross advances to customers which

have been owerdue for:
- six manths or less but aver three

mcnths 214 0.05% 4 000 0.24%
- one year or less but over six manths 1,321 0.08% 4101 0.24%
— ONET DNE year 9,979 0.60% 2447 0.14%

Adwvances overdue for ower three
months 12,214 0.73% 10,548 0.62%

Impairment allowances made in respect
of such advances
- Stage 3 6,926 5342

2023
HES'm

Current market value of collateral held against the covered

portion of such advances to customers 4594 591
Cowered portion of such advances to customers 3801 4518
Uncowvered portion of such advances to customers 8413 6,030

Collateral held against owerdue or impaired loans is principally represented by charges ower business
assets such as commercial ard residential premises for corporate boans and mortgages owver residential
properties for personal boans.

As at 31 December 2024, there were no trade bills and advances to banks and other financial
institutions owerdue for more than three months (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(B} Advances and other accounts (continued)
(€] Rescheduled advances

% of gross % of gross

advances to advances to
Amount customers Amount customers
HKS 'm HE%'m

Rescheduled sdvances to customers
net of amounts included in
“*Advances owerdue for more than
three months® 1,338 0.08% 1722 0.10%

Rescheduled advances are those advances that have been restructured and renegotiated between the
bank and bormowers because of deterioration in the financial position of the borrower ar the inability
af the borrower to meet the original repayment schedule, and the revised repayment terms, either of
interest or the repayment pericd, are ‘non-commercial” to the Group. Rescheduled advances, which
hawve been owerdue for more than three months under the revised repayment terms, are included in
"Advances cverdue for more than three manths®
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(B} Advances and other accounts (continued)
(d}l Concentration of advances to customers

(i) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers

The following analysis of the gross advances to customers by industry sector is based on
the categories with reference to the completion instructions for the HEMA return of loans
and advances.

Boverad Inpairment
firass by eollateral Inpaiment  allowinces
alvances o arather alkwances - Shigas 1
custamers sty -Sitmged and1
HK§'m HES'm HE§'m
Liewe; for sz in Hongy King
Industiz, commerid and fnanci
- Bropey devslooman 166,412 51t 30 1351 107 140
- Propatyinvesment a0 B4 MY 1,986 1 1L ] 61
- Firendil conems 16,140 160 - - - kL)
- Sockkes 105 I - - - -
-Whalesgle and szt vage Bm Hih L] kL) b L5 ]
- Winufacturing 54 %8 644, ® 1 ] 02
- Trnspos. and 1ranspan equipment 6551 1180% L] 16 7] 125
- Reoestiongl aciviies n w.Hs - - - -
- Iformationbacnology 4087 0.1% - 4 - 1
- ltfers 197084 HAh 418 553 k] m
Incheicet:
- Loansfor the purdhase of datsin
Privere Secue Paricipation
Schere and Teams Furchase
Scheme 51,167 WMN n i 1 02
- Lians for purchase of
oiher residentl propeniss n1oe WA kL] 140 n a8
- et v adances 13192 - m 4 %] o4
- ltfers 122380 PR 4 109 5 168
Toiel lonans for us2iin Fong org 15341 i LH ] 11,859 1,05 1956
Trade finiancing 4850 195% HE] 415 m 61
Lioens for use sutside Hang Fong 865 453% 15M L] 404 18
Gos: athences 10 0ustomers 1,676 66 %1% 17852 1831 T80 15
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(B} Advances and other accounts (continued)
{d} Concentration of advances to customers [continued)
(i) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers (continued)

Scavered Impainark
by callaten| abomanes
ofathe -Sages 1
oty [ and 2
Loens for use:in Heng Kong
Industizl, commerdd ind fnancil
- Brupety devdloomant N5 Hik w El) 5 T
- Propetyinvesment I AR 1M bE ] ] i
- Finanvid conceme 16,506 104% - - - £
- Sckbes 1196 P - - - -
-Whalesze and szt wage il H5ER 13 14] | 1]
- Windfacturing Rl BN & A 1 1]
- Transport and 1eanspant equipment Ly TEI% i ;] ] ']
- Feoestiongl acivities ] Nk - - - -
- Information hacnolgy s 2% k] 1 ] 0
- (nhers 1637 41E5% in: 43 m 1]
Indhicet:
- Loans for the pnchase-of ks in
Home Dwnarshin Scheme,
Privete Secw Parkcipation
Scheme and Tenams Furchase
Scheme £ Lok £ Ll - k)
- Lears for purchase of
otherresidentia propenie: HEITE Lokt s ur 195 7 &
- et cavd aduances 1256E - w LT & W2
- (thers 18EM L L] L] £ 1z
Torel loans for useiin Fong Kerg 1353162 RS &57 L LF1E bl
Tracke financing g BT HE 315 ] ]
Lioens for use sutside Heng Kong 48 417% L) 10413 ] Ll
Gios: ahiances o -Qust omess e Ak jre ) iR L £ 166
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(B} Advances and other accounts (continued)
(d} Concentration of advances to customers (continued)
(i) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers (continued)

For those industry sectors constituting not less than 10% of the Group's gross adwances to
customers, the amounts of new impairment allowances charged to the income statement, and
impaired loans written off during the year are shown below:

2024
New Mew

impairment Impaired loans impaiment  Impaired loans
allowances written off allowances written off
HE$'m HES'm HES'm HES'm

Loars for use in Hare Kong
Irdustrial, commerdd and finandal

- Others 1,996 15 %5 T
Individuals
- Loars for purchase of other
residential properties 186 - n3 -

(i) Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers

The follewing geographical analysis of advances to customers is based on the locations of
the counterparties, after taking into accoumt the transfer of risk For an advance to oustomer
guaranteed by a party situated in a location different from the customer, the risk will be
transferred to the lacation of the guarantor.

Gross advances to customers

2023
HES'm

Hong Kizng, China 1,431,173 1454475
Chinese mainland 71,150 5,131
COthers 174563 162696

1,676 886 1,702,302

Impairment allowances made in respect of
the gross advances to customers

—Stages 1 and 2

Horeg Kizng, China 4 850 31405
Chinese mainland 189 271
Others 1,966 1450

7,005 5,166
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.1 Credit risk (continued)

(B}

Advances and other accounts (continued)

(d} Concentration of advances to customers (continued)

(i) Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers (continued)

Overdue advances

2023
HES'm

Hamg Kizxng, China
Chinese mainland
Others

Impairment allowances made in respect of

the overdue advances
— Stage 3

Haoreg Kizng, China
Chinese mainland
Others

Impaired advances

15,570 16001

506 303
3,296 4767
19,272 21071
4,909 £as

275 51
2,179 2513
7,263 8552

2023
HESm

Horg Kizng, China
Chinese mainland
Others

Impairment allowances made in respect of

the impaired advances
— Stage 3

Horeg Kizng, China
Chinese mainland
Others

13,705 13015
248 295
3,509 4425
17,652 17,797
5326 £367
275 165
2,349 3023
7,950 9555
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(€} Repossessed assets

The nature and carmying value of repossessed assets held as at 31 December are summarised as follows:

2023
HES'm

Car park 1 7
Commercial properties 10 1&
Industrial properties 1 15
Residential properties 25 124
Cthers T -

54 162

The estimated market walue of repossessed assets held by the Group as at 31 December 2024 amounted
to HESED million (2023: HK$232 million). The repossessed assets mainly comprise properties in respect of
which the Group has acquired access or contral (eg. through count procesedings or voluntary actions by the
proprietors concerned) and the carrying amount of the loan corcerred is reduced comespondingly.

When the repossessed assets are not readily convertible into cash, the Group may consider the following
altemnatives:

- adjusting the selling prices
- sellirg the loans together with the assets

- arrangirg loan restructuring
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(D)} Balances and placements with banks and other financial institutions

Balances and placements with banks and other financial institutions before impairment allowances are

analysed by internal credit grade and stage classification as fiollows:

2024
Stage 2 Stage 3
HK$'m HES'm
Central banks
Pass 304,127 - - 04127

Special menticn - - - -
Substandard or below - - - -

304 127 - - 304127
Other banks and other financial
institutions
Pass 285,201 - - 285,201
Special mention - - - -
Substandard or below - - 31 31
285,201 - n 285232
580 328 - n LED 359
Impairment allowances (104) - (31} (135)
589 224 - - CED.224
Stage 1 Stage 2
HKES 'm HES 'm
Central banks
Pass 159777 - - 188777

Special mention - - - -
Substandard ar below - - - -

150,777 - - 156777
Other banks and other financial
institutions
Pass 227 5B% - - 217585
Special mention - - - -
Substandard or below - - 33 33
227 5BS - 33 23T A1
3B7 362 - 33 3BT 395
Impairment allcwances (48] - (33) (81]
3B7 34 - - BT 314
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(D} Balances and placements with banks and other financial institutions [continued)

Reconciliation of impairment allowances for balances and placements with banks and other financial
institutions is as follows:

Stage 2 Stage 3

HK$'m HES'm

At 1 January 2024
Changes arising from transfer of stage - - - -

Met charge for the year 57 - - 57
Exchange difference 1) - 2) 2)
At 31 December 2024 104 - 31 135
Charged to income statement (Maote 13) 57

At 1 January 2023 43 - 1& 59
Changes arising from transfer of stage - - - -
Net charge for the year & - 17 22
Exchange difference - - - -
At 31 December 2023 48 - 33 a1
Charged te income statement (Mote 13) 22

As at 31 December 2024, gross overdue or impaired balances and placements with banks and other financial
institutions amounted to HKS31 million (2023: HKS33 million). The aforesaid balances and placemerits have
been owerdue for more than one year as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(E} Debt securities and certificates of deposit

The followirg tables present an analysis of the carying value of debt securities and cerificates of deposit
by issue rating and stage classification. In the absence of such issue ratings, the ratings designated for the
issuers are reported.

2023
HES'm

Investment in securities at fair value threugh

other comprehensive income

- Stage 1
faa 227 802 125,180
Aal to Aad 412,573 318118
AltoAZ 340,936 260343
Lowesr than A3 23,081 26404
Unrated 42777 31,139
1,047,169 765,182

- Stage 2
Lower than A3 - 474
- Stage 3 - -
1,047,169 T6L 656
Cf which: impairmerit allowarces (253) {152

Investment in securities at amortised cost

- Stage 1
faa 102,083 114557
Aal to a3 11912 25,055
Al to A3 37,722 EE358
Lower than A3 7553 BALE
Unrated 7202 1559
177,472 208,125
- Stage 2 - -
- Stage 3 - -
177,472 208,125
Im pairment allowances (500 47
177,422 208078

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

faa 4769 3148
Aal to a3 B2 966 44165
Al to A3 82189 71,040
Lower than &3 11,347 12562
Urirated T.756 4,185
180 027 135,100
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(E} Debt securities and certificates of deposit (continued)

Reconciliation of impairment allowances for debt securities and certificates of deposit is as follows:

2024

Stage 2 Stage 3
HKS'm HES 'm

Investment in securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income

At 1 January 2024 195 3 - 198
Changes arising from transfer of stage 3 (3} - -
Met charge for the year 59 - - 59
Exchange difference ard others (&) - - 4)
At 31 December 2024 153 - - 153
Charged to income statement (Maote 13) 59

Investment in securities at amortised cost

At 1 January 2024 47 - - 47
Changes arising from transfer of stage - - - -
Met charge for the year E - - 3
Exchange difference ard others - - - -
At 31 December 2024 50 - - 50
Charged to income statement (Maote 13) 3
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit risk (continued)
(E} Debt securities and certificates of deposit (continued)

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
HKS 'm HKS'm HES'm

Investment in securities at fair value
threugh other comprehensive income

At 1 January 2023 182 4 - 187
Changes arising from transfer of stage - - - -
Net charge/{reversall for the year 14 m - 13
Exchange difference ard cthers (3 - - ]
At 31 December 2023 105 3 - 198
Charged te income statement (Maote 13) 13
Investment in securities at amortised cost

At 1 January 2023 62 - - &2
Changes arising from transfer of stage - - - -
Net reversal for the year [15] - - {15]
Exchange difference ard cthers - - - -
At 31 December 2023 47 - - 47
Credited to income statement (Maote 13) {15)

As at 31 December 2024, there were no impaired debit securities and certificates of deposit (2023: Nill. Debt
securities and certificates of depoesit which have been overdue for one year or less but over six months and
owerdue for cwer ane year amounted to HES 12 millicn and HKS31 million respectively (2023: Debt securities
and certificates of deposit which hawve been overdue for sic months or less but over three months amounted
to HESS1 million) and were measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.1 Credit risk (continued)
{(Fl] Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts

Loan commitments and financial guarantes contracts are analysed by intermal credit grade and stage
classification as follows:

Lean commitments and fimancial

guarantee contracts
Pass 847,909 2670 = 850,669
Special mention 865 1,498 - 1,363
Substandard or below - - 1,127 1,127

848,864 4,168 1,127 854,159

Loan commitments and fimancial

guarantee contracts
Pass BE54,175 2,750 - A58 965
Special menticn T44 119 - 1599
Substandard ar below - - &7 &7
B54,919 3,745 &7 -1 b |
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.1 Credit risk (continued)

{F}] Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts (continued)

Recorciliation of impairment allowances for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts is as
fallowes:

Stage 2 Stage 3

HKS'm HK$'m
At 1 January 2024 319 30 21 370
Transfer to Stage 1 - - - -
Transfer to Stage 2 (14) 14 - -
Transfer to Stage 3 - - - -
Changes arising from transfer of stage - 21 - 21
Wet {reverzallfchange for the year 71 32 - (38)
Exchange difference ard cthers 2) - - (2)
At 31 December 2024 32 o7 1 350
Credited to income statement (Mote 13) 18

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage

HKS'm HKS'm

At 1 January 2023

Transfer to Stage | 7 7 - -
Transfer to Stage 2 (4 4 - -
Transfer to Stage 3 - - - -
Changes arising from transfer of stage (&) 7 - 1
Met reversal for the year (4 (1o {107) 121)
Exchange difference ard cthers - - - -
At 31 December 2023 319 £ 21 370
Credited to income statement (Mote 13) (1200

Majority of credit risk exposures of loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts are classified as
Stage 1 and categorised as "Pass” in the internal credit grade throughout the year.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.2 Market risk

Market risk refers to the risk of loss arising from movements im the value of foreign exchange, interest rate, equity
and commodity positions held by the Group due to the wolatility of financial market price (foreign exchange
rate, interest rate, credit spreads, equity price, commaodity price]. The Group adopts 3 moderate market risk
appetite to achieve a balance between risk and return. The Group's objective in managing market risk is to secure
healthy growth of the treasury business, by the effective management of potential market risk in the Group's
business, according to the Group's overall risk appetite and strategy of the treasury business on the basis of a
well-established risk management regime and related management measures.

In accardance with the Group's corporate govermance principles in respect of risk management, the Board and
RC, senicr management and functional departmentsfunits perform their duties and responsibilities to manage the
Group's market risk. The RMD is responsible for the Group's market risk management, assisting senicr management
to perform their day-to-day duties, independently monitoring the market risk profile and compliance of
management palicies and limits of the Group and BOCHE, and ensuring that the aggregate and individual market
risks are within acceptable levels.

The Group's market risk management covers BOCHK and its subsidiaries. The Group establishes market risk
management policies to regulate BOCHKs and its subsidiaries’ market risk management; meanwhile, the Group
sets up the Group's WaR and stress test limits, which are allocated and monitored across the Group according
to the business requirements and risk tolerance kevels In line with the requirements set in the Group's policy,
the subsidiaries formulate the detailed policies and procedures and are responsible for managing their daily
market: risk.

The Group sets up market risk indicators and limits to identify, measure, monitor and contral market risk. Major
risk indicators ard limits include but are not limited to VaR, Stop Loss, Open Position, Stress Testing and Sensitivity
Analysis (Basis Point Yalue, Greeks), etc. To meet management’s requirements, major risk indicators ard limits are
classified into three levels, and are approved by the RC, senior management or the head of the respective business
unit respectively. The treasury busimess units of BOCHK and subsidiaries (as for Group Limit) are required to
conduct their business within approved market risk indicators and limits.

{A) VaR

The Group uses the VaR to measure and report gereral market risks to the RC and seniocr management on a
periodic basis. The Group adopts a uniformed VaR calculation medel, usirg a historical simulation approach
and twa years of historical market data, to calculate the YWaR of the Group and its subsidiaries owver 3 one-day
helding periad with a 99% confidence level, and sets up the VaR limit of the Group and its subsidiaries.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market risk (contimued)
{A) WVaR [continued)

The followirg table sets out the VaR for all general market risk exposures’ of the Group.

At Minimum Maximum Average

31 December  forthe year fortheyear  forthe year

HES'm HES'm HES'm HES'm
aR for all market risk 2024 138.2 67.9 148.7 107.0
2023 B4.3 a7 E7E T3
VaR for foreign exchange risk 2024 9.7 26.0 64.4 42.1
2023 07 165 454 289
VaR for interest rate risk in 2024 1115 64.0 130.8 103.6
the trading book 2023 A 321 El4 513
VaR for equity risk in the 2024 5.1 0.3 8.0 1.3
trading book 2023 B 03 B £4
VaR for commedity risk 2024 0.1 0.0 T.6 1.2
2023 0z 0o 243 45

Mate:

1. Structural FX poskiors have been excluded

Although there is a valuable guide to market risk, VaR should always be viewed in the context of its
limitations. For example:

- the use of historical market data as a proxy fior estimating future events may not encompass all
potential events, particulary those which are extreme in natun;

- the use of a ore-day holding period assumes that all positions can be liquidated or hedged in one day.
This may not fully reflect the market risk arising at times of severe illiquidity, when a one-day holding
period may b= insufficient to liquidate or hedge all positions fully;

- the use of a %% confidence level, by definition, does not take into account kosses that might occur
beyand this level of confidence; and

- WaR is calculated on the basis of exposures outstanding at the close of business and therefore does not
niecessarily reflect intra-day exposures.

The Group recegnises these limitations by formulating stress test indicators and limits to assess and manage
the market risk uncovered by VaR. The stress testing programme of the market risk includes sensitivity testing
an chaniges in risk factors with various degrees of severity, as well as scenario analysis on historical everits
including the 1987 Equity Market Crash, 1994 Bond Market Crash, 1997 Asian Fimancial Crisis, 2001 9-11 event
ard 2008 Financial Tsunami, etc.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market risk (contimued)
{B) Currency risk

The Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in major currencies, particularly HE Dollar, US Dellar and
Renminbi. To emsure the curency risk exposure of the Group is kept to an acceptable level, risk limits (=.g.
Pasition and WaR limit] are used to serve as a monitoring toal. Moreover, the Group seeks to minimise the
gap between assets and liabilities in the same currency. Foreign exchange contracts (e.g. FX swaps) are
usually used to manage FX risk associated with foreign ourrency-denominated assets and liabilities.

The following is a summary of the Group's major foreign currency exposures arising from trading,
non-trading and structural positions and is prepared with reference to the completion instructions for
the HEKMA return of foreign currency position. The net optiors position is calculated based on the basis of
delta-weighted positions of all foreign exchange options contracts.

0¥

Equivaleritin millian of HKS

Dther Total

Peund Muastralian  foreign  foreign

Sterling Eure Renmirki  Dellars cumendes currendes

Spot assets 1088738 22899 1M0AF  452TE TRLOM 13868 04 208
Spat labiities [188,258) [705T) [(8)48) [A85S3) [(STGRST] (31561)  [B5208) [1977.855)
Forwerd purcheses 1131602 24750 SEEE3 1MW 1178400 51133 91755 3700755
Fomwerd salzs EN5T3E  @0ATO) (18A87T) (130446 NITLIND (43ATE)  (97.584) (3.9EEE1N)
Ket ations positicn 1651 [ am (18 (2533 581 (50 (128
Het kengishoit) position 18,077 m 5,255 1| a4n L] [1036) #.114

Equivalent in million of HKS

Cther Total

HAustralian foreign foreign

Rerminbi Dollas  currencies  cumendes

Spat assets 1062468 nng 0 4 73,031 M5 B3I 1M05T
Spat akilifies (EEE  O7E) A4 (REMR [EOONg (330N [RLETS) [1BIZEAY
Forward purchases 1846507 EA R M TREST 4B 41035 RIS 14T H0
Fomward sk (13770 MR ITATY MEIR NG BIES  [BIAMR [2EERSOT
Net options pasition 10z 23] L] nay [1€8}) [54] i 1452
Het lengshort) position 1734 ] B 40 121 b {1084 ez

202 BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited Anmual Report 2024

374/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2
oOoOooodd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market risk (contimued)
(B} Currency risk [continued)

1024
Equivalent in million of HKS
Orther Total
Malaysian Philippine foreign foreign
Baht Ringgit Peso Rupiah curremcies currencies

Wt structral position 8,550 2,97 3,682 2,155 4,076 1836 23379

Equivalent in million of HKS

Other Total
Malaysian  Philippine foreign fareign

Baht Ringgit Peso Rupiah currencies currencies

Nat structural position amr 2,648 3,140 1,926 3474 1,343 21,153

{€) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk means the risks of loss to 3 bank's eamings and economic value arising from mowemenits
in irmterest rate and term structures of the bank's asset and liability positions. The Group's interest rate risk
exposures are mainly from structural positions. The major types of interest rate risk from stuctural positions
are:

Gap risk mismatches in the maturity or repricing periods of assets and liabilities that may affect net
interest income and ecoromic value;

Basis risk: different pricing basis for different transactions resulting that the yield on assets and cost of
liabilities may change by different amounts within the same repricing pericd; and

QOption risk: exercise of the options embedded in assets, liabilities or off-balance sheet items that can
cause a change in the cash flows of assets and liakilities.

The Group's risk management framework applies also to interest rate risk management. The ALCD exercises
its owersight of interest rate risk in accordance with the "Banking Book Interest Rate Risk Management Palicy
af BOCHK Group® approwed by the RC The RMD is responsible for the Group's interest rate risk managemenrit.
With the cooperation of the Financial Management Department and Investment Management, etc., RMD
assists the ALCO to perform day-to-day interest rate risk management. Its roles include, but are not limited
to, the formulation of management policies, selection of methodologies, setting of risk indicators and limits,
assessment of target balance sheet, monitoring of the compliance with poelicies and limits, and submission of
interest rate risk management reports to senior management and the RE, etc.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market risk (contimued)
I€) Interest rate risk [continued)

The Group sets out interest rate risk indicaters and limits to identify, measure, monitor and contral interest
rate risk on a daily basis. The key indicators and limits include, but are not limited to, repricing gap, basis
risk, duration, price value of a basis point {"PVEP"), et interest income sensitivity ratio {"HIIYl, economic
value sensitivity ratio ("EVE"), etc. The key indicators and limits are classified into different levels, which are
approwed by the CFO, CRO, ALCO and RC accordingly. Risk-taking business units are required to conduct
their business within the boundary of the interest rate risk limits. Before launching a new product or business
in the banking book, the relevant units are required to go through a risk assessment process, which includes
the assessment of underlying interest rate risk and corsideration of the adequacy of current risk manitoring
mechanism. &ry material impact on interest rate risk noted durirg the risk assessment process will be
submitted to the RC for approval.

MIl and EVE assess the impact of interest rate movement on the Group's net interest income and capital
base. They are the Group's key interest rate risk indicators. The former assesses the impact of interest rate
movement on ret interest income as a percentage to the projected net interest income for the year. The
latker assesses the impact of interest rate mowvement on economic value (e the net present walue of
cash flows of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet itemns discounted using the market interest rate) as
a percentage to the latest Tier 1 capital. Limits are set by the RC on these two indicators to monitor and
control the Group's banking book interast rate risk.

The Group uses scenario analyses and stress tests to assess the banking book interest rate risk that the Group
wiould face under adverse circumnstances. SCenario analyses and stress tests are also used to assess the
impact on net interest income and econocmic value arising from the opticnality of non-maturity deposits, the
prepayment of mortgage loans and the prepayment of debt securities with embedded options, etc.
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Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market risk (contimued)
{€) Interest rate risk [continued)
The Group is principally exposed to HE Dellar, US Dollar and Renminbi in terms of interest rate risk. As at
31 December 2024, if market interest rates had a 100 basis point parallel shift of the yield curve with other

variables held constant, the sensitivities on net interest income owver a twelve-month pericd and on reserves
far the Group would have been as fiollows:

Impact on net interast income

over the next twelve months Inpact on reserves
at 31 December at31 December
2024 2023
HK$'m HES'm
100 basis point parallel up of
yield curve
Tatal 956 2125 (13,333) (11,477
O wehich:
HE Ciallar 3,873 3902 [804) (726
U35 Dollar 2,177) 778 (9,530) (20E3)
Renminbi (T0z) (9&0) 12,132) 12,424)
100 basis point parallel down of
yield curve
Tatal (959) 12,123) 13,333 11477
Cf which:
HE. Drallar i2,873) 13,902) 804 726
U5 Dollar 2,175 e 9,530 5063
Renminbi TO2 @63 2,132 2424
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market risk (contimued)
I€) Interest rate risk [continued)

In a parallel shift up of 100 basis points of yield curse, the owerall impact @n net interest income of the above
currencies is positive in 2024, Reserwes of the Group would hawve been reduced because of the expected
reduction in waluation of the debt securities portfolic and relevant interest rate derivatives under hedge
accounting due to 3 parallel shift up of 100 basis points in the yield curse. The positive impact on net
interest income decreased compared with 2022 as the size of debt securities portfolic with longer tencr
increased and the average remaining temor of customer time deposits shortened, and the reduction of
impact on resenses rose compared with 2023 as the size and duration of debt securities pontfolic increased.

In a parallel shift down of 100 basis points of yield curve, the owverall impact @n net interest income of the
abowe currencies is regative in 2024, Reserves of the Group would have been increased because of the
expected increase in valuation of the debt securities portfolio and relevant interest rate derivatives under
hedge accounting due to a paralkel shift down of 100 basis peints in the yield curve. The negative impact on
net interest income decreased compared with 2023 as the size of debt securities portfolic with longer tencr
increased and the average remaining teror of customer time deposits shonened, and the increase of impact
an reserves rase compared with 2023 as the size and duration of debt seourities portfolio increased.

The sensitivities above are for illustration only and are based on seweral assumptions, including, but not
limited to, the change in the comelation between interest rates of relevant currencies, parallel movement
af irnterest rates, the absence of actions that would be taken to mitigate the impact of interest rate risk, the
effectiveness of hedge accounting, all positions being assumed to run to maturity, behavioural assumptions
af products in which the actual repricing date differs frem the contractual repricing date or products without
contractual maturity. The above exposures form only a part of the Group's overall interest rate risk exposures.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market risk (contimued)
I€) Interest rate risk [continued)

The tables below summarise the Group's on-balance sheset exposure to interest rate risk. Included in the

tables are the assets and liabilities at carmyirg amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing
date and maturity date.

Upto
1 manth
HES'm
Rssirts
{Cash ared balances and placements with barks and
ather fnancial institutions BOET M 2,266 R - 51407 608535
Firancidl assets ot fair vahe theough profit or boss fapdr 46835  Wua  MESE 0 MAad 1680 158
Cerivative financial instruments - - - - - nmE TN
Hong Koreg 5AR Govemmenit certificabes of
indetriedness - - - - - 1350 1nRse
Advences and other accounts 1307031 16450  BEEDT  GRASE 10051 Bada 1 gss3m
Investment in seaifies
- ArRoa N3 846 ETTS3 1IA3M 101535 4531 1051700
- At amodised cost 650 logsr  15M BRS8N - s
Interests in associates and jint veriturss - - - - - 1,196 1,188
Investment properties - - - - - 14,045 14,046
Properties, plant and equipment - - - - - e
Ottt asets [cduding current and defemed Gy anets) 16,081 - - - - a4 10885
Total assets 1084514 40371 ST M62M 1N A6 BT 41 A
Liabilities
Hang Koreg 5AR oumency notes in crculation - - - - - nisw  1nS50
Crepasits and balances from banks and other firanca
nstitutiors 320,081 138 EAL - - 17313 15005
Firancial Bakuities o fair vabee theough profitor loss |y 4215 1,82 433% 120 - TRE1
Certvative finan dal instruments - - - - - 56779 55,718
Cepasits fram customers 1867379 B41555 126444 1,18 - 1Tem3 LTI3M0
Dbt serurities and osrtificabes of depositin issue - - - 5,208 - - 5,296
Other accounts and pravisiare [inchiding oument and
deferied G liabditizs] 0,036 12 m T8 560 135035 18553
Inswrance coniract liabiities - - - - - 1875 1RJEs
Subordinated zbiities - - - ME 15776 - T
Tottal liabilities 1065703 &&3174  2S5EN4 ETTOE 26456 TEA 435 3ASLTR
ierest seritivity gap W1 [RS5803)  IALNAT 35AA0R 104000 [56313) ML
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market risk (contimued)
I€) Interest rate risk [continued)

Mon-
Upto Ower  interest
| manth 3 Syears  bearing
HEE'm HE&'m HES'm
Rsserts
{Cash ard balances and placements with barks and
ather financial instibtions FLEALHY 15368 10830 146 - 51,783 46N
Firancial asssts & fair vahe theouoh profiter loss 115681 1740 w7E a4 E1oa 1£m IRA
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - Hin 541
Hang Koreg 5AR Govemment certificabes of
ndatriednes - - - - - 13000 213000
Advences and other accounts 14738 13 £6,135 40452 L] T 164
Investment in securiies
-AtFoa 145,175 14224 1540 M4 Brpad 47e T2
- A amedised cost 9482 11487 a4 13471 n4A - KL
Interests in associates and joimt ventures - - - - - 127 11595
Investment propertiss - - - - - 14375 14575
Properties, plant and equipment - - - - - 417 41738
Other ansets [ncluding current and defemed Gy asets) (323 - - - - B 50 0315
Total assets L1564 e BEe 40 1% 4T 3BeRTE
Liabilities
Hang Koreg 5AR oamency notes in crculation - - - - - 13000 13000
Cepasits and belances from banks and ather francil
nstitutiors 51 Fl& m - - B AR
Firancial Bakuities o fair vabee theough profitor loss 13257 Xar 15652 155 I - 603
Cerivative financial instruments - - - - - 4155 41,553
Cepasits fram customers 1540018 45888 mEs 1 B4 - 173180 2501602
Dbt seurities and osrtificabes of depositin issue - 1595 - - - - 1595
Other accounts and pravisians [inchiding cument and
defemed G liabditiss] LY 4 i3 T ELY 0l e
Inswrance coniract liabiities - - - - - 177 17753
Subordinated abiities - - - [EEE] - - 1533
Tottal liabilities 153301 48N M7 0167 M TOETED  ZEAE34
ierest seraitivity gap WA N3 EEREE MM 1534 QN B4R

Assets and liabilities in the tables, including insurarce contract liabilities, are measured in accordamce with
relevant accounting standards as described in Mote 2 material accounting policies.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that banks may not be able to obtain sufficient and timely funding at a reasonable cost
to meet their obligations as they fall due. The Group maintains a sound liquidity risk appetite to provide stable,
reliable and adequate sources of cash to meet liquidity needs under normal circumstances and stressed scenarios.

In accardance with the Group's corporate govermance principles in respect of risk management, the Board and
the RC, seniocr managemernt and functional departments/units perform their duties ard responsibilities to manage
the Group's liquidity risk. The RC is the decision-making authcrity of liquidity risk management, and assumes
the ultimate responsibility of liquidity risk management. As autharised by the RC, ALCO exercises its oversight of
liquidity risk and ensures the daily operations of the Group are in accordarce with the risk appetite and policies as
set by the RC. The RMD is responsible for the Group's liquidity risk management. It cooperates with the Financial
Management Department and Irvestment Management, et to assist the ALCD to perform liquidity management
fumctions according to their specific responsibilities.

The Group's liquidity risk management objective is to effectively manage the liquidity of on- and off-balance sheet
items with a reasonable cost based on the liquidity risk appetite to achieve sound operation and sustainable
profitability. Deposits from customers are the Group's primary source of funds. To ensure stable and sufficient
sources of funds are in place, the Group actively attracts new deposits, keeps the core deposit and cbtains
supplementarny funding from the interbank market and by issuing bills in the capital market. According to different
term maturities and the results of funding needs estimated from stressed scenarios, the Group adjusts its asset
structure {including loans, bonds investment, interbank placement, etc) to maintain sufficient liquid assets which
provides adequate funds in support of normal business needs and ensure its ability to raise funds at a reasonable
cost to senve external claims in case of emergency. The Group is committed to diversify the sources, tenors and use
of furding to avoid excessive concentration of assets and liabilities; and prevent triggering liquidity risk due to the
break of funding strand resulting from over-concentration of sources and use of fundirg in a particular area where
problems ococur. In order to manage such risk, the Group sets concentration limits on collateral pocls and sources
of funding such as Tier 1 high-gquality readily liquefiable assets to total high-quality readily liquefiable assets ratio,
top ten depositors ratic and lange depositors ratio. Whernever necessary, the Group could improve the liquidity
position by taking mitigation actions includirg, but not limited to obtaining funding through interbank borrowings
of repos in the money market, selling bonds in the secondary market or retaining existing and attracting rew
customer deposits. &part from increasing the funding, the Group would maintain good communication with the
counterparties, the parent bank and the regulators to enhance mutual confidence.

The Group has established intra-group liquidity risk management guidelines to manage the liquidity funding
amorg different entities within the Group, and to restrict their reliance of funding on each other. The Group
also pays attermtion to manage liquidity risk created by off-balance sheet activities, such as loan commitments,
derivatives, options ard ather complex structured products. The Group has an overall liquidity risk management
strategy to cover the liquidity management of foreign currency assets and liabilities, collateral, intra-day
liquidity, intra-group liquidity, the liquidity risk arising from other risks, etc, ard has formulated comespending
contingency plan.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group established liquidity risk management indicators and limits to identify, measure, monitor and control
liquidity risk on a daily basis. These indicaters and limits include, but are not limited to liquidity coverage ratio
["LCRY), net stable furding ratio ("NSFRT, lban-to-deposit ratio, Maximum Cumulative Cash Outflow ("MCO7 and
liquidity cushion. The Group applies a cash flow analysis to assess the Group's liquidity condition under normal
conditions ard also performs a liquidity stress test (including institution specific, general market crisis and
combined crisis) and other methods at least om @ monthly basis to assess the Group's capability to withstand
various severe liquidity crises. Also, relevant management information systems such as the Assets and Liabilities
Management System and the Basel Liquidity Ratio Management System are developed to provide data ard to
prepare for regular managemenit reports to facilitate liquidity risk management duties.

In accordance with the requirements of Supenisory Policy Manual LM-2 "Sound Systemns and Ciontrols for Liquidity
Risk Managemenit” issusd by the HEMA, the Group has implemented a behavicur model and assumpticons of cash
flow analysis and stress test to enhance the Group's cash flow analysis under both normal and stressed conditions.
Im cash flow analysis under rormal ciroumstances, assumptions hawe been made relating to on-balance sheet items
[such as deposits from customers) and off-balance sheet items (such as loan commitments). According to various
characteristics of the assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items, the Group forecasts the future cash flow based
on the contractual maturity date and the assumptions of customer behaviour and balance sheet changes. The
Group establishes the MCD indicator which predicts the future 30 days makimum cumulative net cash cutflow in
normal situations based on the above assumptions, to assess if the Group has sufficient financing capacity to meet
the cash flow gap in order to achieve the objective of continuing operations. As at 31 December 2024, before
taking the cash inflow through the sale of cutstanding marketable securities into consideration, BOCHKs 30-day
cumulative cash flow was a net cash inflow, amounting to HES238,618 million (2023: HKS357,67& million) and was
in compliance with the internal limit requirements.

Inthe liquidity stress test, institution specific, gereral market crisis and combined crisis scenarios have been set up,
a combined crisis scemario is a combination of institution specific and general market crisis to assess the Group's
capability to withstand a more severe liquidity crisis, with 3 more stringent set of assumptions being adopted.
Stress test assumptions include the run-off rate of retail, wholesale and interbank deposits; the drawdown rate
of lkban commitments and trade-related contingent liabilities; the delinquency ratio ard rollover rate of oustomer
lcans; and haircut of interbank placement and marketable securities. As at 31 December 2024, the Group was
able to maintain a net cash inflow under the three stressed scemarios, indicating the Group has the ability to
meet financing needs under stressed conditions. In addition, the Group has a policy in place to maintain a
liquidity cushicn which includes high quality or comparable quality marketable seourities issued or guaranteed by
sowereigns, central banks, public sector entities or multilateral development banks with 0% or 20% risk weight or
marketable securities issued by mon-financial corporate with a corresponding external credit rating of A- or above
to ensure funding needs even under stressed scenarios. As at 31 December 2024, the liquidity cushion (before
haircut) of BOCHKE was HESS61,451 million (2023: HKS743,626 million). A contingency plan is b=ing established
which details the conditions to trigger the plan based on stress test results and early wamming indicators, the action
plans and relevant procedures and responsibility of relevant departments.

The Group, being classified as a categorny 1 authorised institution by the HEMA, is required to calculate the LCR and
M5FR on a conselidated basis in accardance with the Banking (Liquidity) Rules. The Group is required to maintain a
LCR and W5FR mot less than 100%.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.3 Liguidity risk (continued)

In cerain derivative contracts, the counterparties have the right to request from the Group additional collateral if
they hawe comcerns about the Group's creditworthiness.

The Group's liquidity risk management also cowers new products or business developments. Before launching a
new product or business, the relevant units are required to go through a risk assessment process, which includes
the assessmernt of underlying liquidity risk and consideration of the adequacy of the cument risk management
mechanism. Any material impact on liquidity risk noted during the risk assessment process will be reported to the
RC for approval.

The Group has established a set of uniform liguidity risk management policies which serve as standards and
guidance to all the Group's members for liquidity risk management. On the basis of the Group's uniform policies,
each of the subsidiaries dewvelops its own liquidity management policies according to its own characteristics,
and assumes its own liquidity risk management responsibility. Subsidiaries are required to report their respective
liquidity positions with relevant liquidity ratics on a regular basis to the RMD of BOCHE, which consclidates this
information and evaluates group-wide liquidity risk to ensure relevant requirements are satisfied.

{A)  Liguidity coverage ratio and net stable funding ratic

I ] BT

Awerage value of liquidity coverage ratio

— First quarter 2213.79% 189.68%
- Second quarter 250.58% 188.89%
— Third quarter 31.81% 193.47%
- Fourth quarter 201.06% 207.12%

Average value of liquidity coverage ratio is calculated based on the arithmetic mean of the liquidity coverage
ratiz as at the erd of each working day in the quarter and the calculation methodology and instructicns set
out in the HEMA return of liquidity position.

e T

Quarter-end walue of net stable furding ratio

— First quarter 140.36% 134.51%
- Second quarter 140.96% 131.56%
- Third quarter 140.29% 138.67%
- Fourth quarter 141.83% 137.28%

Quaarter-end walue of net stable funding ratio is calculated based on the calculation methodology and
instructions set out in the HKMA return of stable funding pasition.

Liquidity cowerage ratio and net stable funding ratic are computed on the comsclidated basis which
comprise the positions of BOCHEK and certain subsidiaries specified by the HEMA in accordance with the
Banking (Liquidity) Rules.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.3 Liquidity risk (continued)
(B) Maturity analysis

The followirg aralysis of the Group's assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings is based on the
remaining period at balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.

Qn Upte Tl 12

demind  Tmonth  menths  meaths Syeirs  Indefinite Tatal
HE¥'m HK{'m HK§'m HE§'n HRi'n HE¥'m HE#'m
Asaaty
(s and balanoes ind plecement s with banks and other
rancE indtinutions Wi e MTe e 15% - - S
Firencial amets at i valuk theoughprelil arles - 1w |3 mm nnma o Tosm FLE T P
Dirpwatiwe firenial insmuments 1591 BT e x5A 151 5784 - TN
Herg Kong E Govemme! cenlifonies dindebtedres. T35N0 - - - - - - s
Achvereies and othe oot w0 @76 AT M5 SEge BERe 186630
[rwestment in sequrities
- M A0d - IWEBI 0 9)M AT 1WA 1man 450 108170
- i amaoptized oot - 6331 nAm 1M AT 0N - Inman
Inéerests in smsmoites and joink wamiues - - - - - - 1,196 1,196
Irwestment poperies - - - - - - W46 14046
Properties, plant and aquipraent - - - - - - e aMm
{Orcher zssete fnchafing cument nd defawed tee 2sset:) 155 1481 T Lk mas I 158 11085
Total ausety Me5SE WD MANT @S Mis @il 9T 4154408
Liabilities
Hexig Kiong SR ourency noltes in-crrulation s - - - - - - DS
Deposits nd balerves from banks and other frunddl
Tstiutions 1080 WaEmd 130 1,196 - - - Bym
Firancied Babitier at fair vahue troughpeedt orkees - nBEr ume nga 431 1 - T8
Dizrhwatiwe fnendal insmuments 1,74 641 7| 11T 13,084 4165 - 5gTme
Deposits fom nustomes 12650 SMM0 GRS 1EAM 118 - R EAEE ]
D&t securities and cenficmes of depost i fisue - - - Bl 5186 - - 536
(hther acuounts avl provisions |induding curem and
deizved t=e fabiite) 61185 L 1506 5064 L 17 - T3
Insurnce potred Fabiite: - 1155 140 1nm &5 0738 - l6BEE
Sirbordriated Babilties - - - i K8 BT - N
Total Eabiities 174B801  BER2M  GTERE  IMEE 10T 13060 - 303806
Het iy qp (R0 [SeMY) [QEETN IMAN TEM S T B
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.3 Liguidity risk (continued)
(B} Maturity analysis [continued)

1hi inll T Ooer
natts menths s Syaars  Inefinite
HiEm HEE'n HE&'m Hé'm

L]
Cashand belanoes ind placements mith banks and other

nancil instinugions ok s 55 B 3 - - Al
Firenciel amet o i vahue theough prefil orlos - A wam o E 4] k] LEES LI 1
Diivatine firendal insmments 157 a4n 9 TEE 4 (1] - S
Heng fong S8 Govemment cenificnies of indeboedress = M0 - - - - - - Ny
Advences and other aooounis B 1L GIAT Mk SR 4EEE B0 1ER
[rwestrent in s2ouities

-MA0d - MRS B MM M S8 HE T

- Al aamortised cast - oAl e EI] L £k ] - B
Inierests in sesooistes and joint ventures - - - - - - 1175 1175
ITaESTET pEmerEs - - - - - - HETS WS
Preperties, plent and aquipment - - - - - - 4% a3
Other assets finchadfing cument nd defened e assets) 0e a7l [ 443 135 o 1566 ke
Total isets BRSO HEMAM BT e SRl eI WIS IRETE
Lisbifities
Herg Fong SR ouvendy notes in ciculation Hym - - - - - - N
Depesite and bemees fion bante and othar fiundd

[0 1580 173,28 [ 4 - - - IR
Firenciel Exbiites 2t 2 vihe treugh piciit orloz - g &t 15653 1145 m - B HE
Dirivatioe firendid ingnumert: e 3680 4141 &0 T0g85 434 - 41553
Deposits from customens EEH: B4l SN I i - - ISNER
Dbt seourities-and cenficates of depasit inssue - - 1593 - - - - 15
(hther acrounts and prwisions (nduding cunam and

drfener tn Fablities) SR ) ] it o 562 - W
Insurance contrect fighiliGes - ] EL] Lk a% W - TG
Subordnated Bbities - - - M b - - T8
Total iabiithes Tgeisee TSI Sl WA W W - 15NN
Ket ity qap IR QHEME QI NET RN MW M2 MR

The amalysis of debt securities by remaining pericd to maturity is based on contractual maturity date. The
disclosure does nat imply that the securities will be held to maturity.

The abowe analysis in respect of insurance contract liabilities represents the estimated timing of net cash

outflows resultig from recognised insurance contract liabilities on the balance sheet and excludes the
contractual service margin and risk adjustment for non-financial risk.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.3 Liguidity risk (continued)
{€) Amnalysis of undiscounted cash flows by contractual maturities

(@) Non-derivative cash flows

The tables below summarise the cash flows of the Group as at 31 December for non-derivative
financial liabilities by remainirg contractual maturity.

2024
Ttod 3to 12

months months
HES'm HES'm

Firancial liabilities
Hamg Kong SAR currercy notes in

irculatian 113,510 - - - - IBS0
Depasits and balances from barks and

ather financid irstitutions 337 560 T.447 7300 - - 352307
Finandial liabilities &t fair value thraugh

peafit ar loss 38,326 14317 11,085 4614 17 78,445
Depasits from customers 1,845,007 645507 130,115 1,14 - 2711943
Debt securities and certificates of

depasit in issue - - 106 5,308 - 5,504
Subandinated fabiities - - 1,541 48,867 16,188 77,796
Lease liabilities 45 L] 337 90 76 1,537
Cther financial liabilities 145,487 - 140 13 - 145,640
Total financial liabilities 1,593,035 667450 261544 62,016 216,737 3,611,682

Upto Tt 3 Ital? Tt §

1 morth manths mianths yearns
HES'm HES'm HES'm HE4'm

Financial liabilities

Hamg Kong SAR currercy notes in

dirculation 213000 - - - - 213000
Depasits and balances from barks and

ather financid institutions rgE &08 16 - - ETER-C ]
Firnandial liabilities at fair value thraugh

prafit ar ks 21,704 17630 15,571 1334 19 66232
Depasits from customers 1,714116 461150 MM 1986 - 1512578
Debt securiies and certificates of

depasitin fssue - 1014 - - - m4
Subcndinsted Fabilities - - 2550 REE-e - BO,159
Lease liabilities 49 u 155 &35 121 1,296
Cther financid liabilities 77452 197 4B 14 4 a7
Total financial liabilities 13305 401630 354,307 Bl 580 e 33ms

As at 31 December 2024, the amounts payable on demand of insurance contracts liabilities is
HES37 451 million (2023: HKS43,456 millicn).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{€) Amnalysis of undiscounted cash flows by contractual maturities (continued)

(b} Derivative cash flows

The tables below summarise the cash flows of the Group by remaining contractual maturity as at
31 December for derivative fimarcial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis, together with all
derivative financial instruments that will b= settled on a gross basis regardless of whether the contract
is in am asset or liability position. The amounts disclosed in the tabkles are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows, except for certain derivatives which are disclosed at fair value

The Group's derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a net basis mainly include interest
rate swaps whereas derivative financial instrarments that will be settled on a gross basis mainly include

curency forwands and currency swaps.

Uptao

1 menth

2024

Tted
menths

3tol12
maonths

Tta §
years

HES'm

Derivative finandal liabilities settled

HE¥ m HKS m HES'm

an a net basis 12,115 (1,447 [4,655) (10,114 [1373) [28.704)
Denvative finandal irstruments settled

an 3 groas basis

Tatal inflaw 1,684 506  TA2 438 1485530 431718 30,190 4354 401

Tatal cutflow (1,630,160) (779,825 (1,452995) (431585)  [20805) [4,333380)

Derivative finandal liabilities s=ttled

T3 012
mianths

HES'm

Tte§
yaars
HE4'm

manths
HES'm

an a net basis {11,517 [1,764] [643%) (7753 (1417 et
Denvative finandal irstruments settled

an 3 groas basis

Tatal inflaw 1452917 420,065 727R35 174 12154 1B&0gEER

Tatal cutflow (1451315) @440 [R5 (47T6H (10,7500 [1,851,366)
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.3 Liquidity risk (continued)
{€) Amnalysis of undiscounted cash flows by contractual maturities (continued)
() Off-balance sheet items

Loan commitments

The contractual amounts of the Group's off-balance sheet financial instruments as at
31 December 2024 that the Group commits to extend credit to customers and other facilities
amourted to HESB04,822 million (2023: HK5812.414 million). Majority of those loan commitments can
be drawm within cne year.

Financial guarantee contracts

Majority of financial guarantees and other financial facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2024
amourting to HES49 327 million (2023: HE545,317 millicn) are maturing ne later than cne year.

4.4 Insurance risk

The Group is in the busiress of imsuring against the risk of mortality, morbidity, disability, critical illmess, accidents
and related risks. The Group manages these risks through the application of its underwriting strategy, reinsurance
arrangements and regular experience monitoring.

The urderwriting strateqgy is intended to set premium pricing at an appropriate level that comesponds with
the urderlving exposure of the risks underwritten and the Group's underwriting procedures include screening
processes, such as the review of health condition and family medical histery to ensure alignment with the
urderwriting strategy.

Within the insurance process, comcentrations of risk may arise where a particular ewent ar a series of events could
impact heavily on the Group's claim liabilities. Such concentrations may arise from a single insurance contract
or through a small number of related contracts, and relate to ciroumstances where significant claim liabilities
could arise.

Far the in-force insurance contracts, mast of the underying insurance liabilities are related to endowment,
universal life, annuity, whaole life ard wnit-linked insurance products. For most of the insurance policies issued, the
Group has a retention limit on any single life insured. The Group cedes the excess of the insured benefit over the
limit to reinsurer under an excess of loss reinsurance arrangement. For some of the insurance business, the Group
has entered inko reinsurance arrangements that reinsure mast of the insurance risk.

Urcertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments and premium receipts far long-term insurance contracts
arises from the unpredictability of long-term charges in overall levels of martality, morbidity and persistency. In
this regard, the Group has conducted relevant experience studies and researches regulady to identify emerging
trends. Results would be taken into account in pricing and underwriting management. The results of such studies
are also considered in determining the assumptions used in the estimates of fulfilment cash flows.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

44 Insurance risk (continued)
(A} Change in assumptions
The Group has updated the assumptions for lapse, expense and discount rates to reflect the changes in

Group’s experience and markst conditions.

(B) Sensitivity analysis

The followirg table presents the sensitivity amalysis of the key assumptions used in the estimation of
insurance contracts:

Increase/  Increasel Increasa/ Increase)

[decrease] [decrease] (decrease)  (decreass)
im profit imequity  Increase/ in profit inequity  Imcreass)
before bafore  [decrease] befire before  [decrease)
taxation taxation inCSM taxation taxation in C5M
HES"'m HIS'm HES'm HE4'm HES 'm HE%'m
+10% martalty rate and marbidity rate [41] [39] [221] [53) LK} [487)
+10% lzpse/surrerder rate 50 ] (173] En 50 {105
+10% apanze 43 #41] [235] 45 5] 335
+50 basis paints shift in yiekd curves® (E¥i] [To@) 132 [26) [ L] 454
-10%% mostality rate and merbidity rate 43 L 131 M n 5g
- 10% [apsafsumrender rate [50] 12 191 [E[4] al 10
- 105 enpense 41 40 35 E) L it}
-0 basis points shift in yisld cunes® 33 757 [424) .3 LI ] [503)

*  Senshiviies praserced Inchodes Insurarce contracts and rejraumsnce cortracts beld ard finandal irstrumens.

The abowe analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In
practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be comelated, for example,
changes im lapse rate, in future mortality rate and morbidity rate.

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024 n7

389/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2
oOoOooodd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.5 Capital management

The major objective of the Group's capital management is to maximise total sharebolders' returm while maintaining
a capital adequacy position in relation to the Group's overall risk profile. The ALCC periodically reviews the Group's
capital structure to maintain an optimal balamce among risk, retum and capital adequacy.

The Group has developed ard maintained a sourd framework of policies and controls @n capital management
to support the development of the Group's business and to meet the statutory capital adequacy ratic and
loss-abisorbing capacity requirements.

The Group has complied with all the statutory capital requirements and loss-absorbing capacity requiremerits
of the HKMA for the reported pericds in respect of banking operation. The HEMA supervises BOCHEK and certain
subsidiaries specified by the HEMA on a consolidated and solo basis and, as such, receives information @n the
capital adequacy of, and sets capital requirements for those companies as a whole. Individual cwverseas banking
subsidiaries and branches are directly regulated by their local banking supervisors, who set and monitor their
capital adequacy requirements. Certain ron-bankirg financial subsidiaries are also subject to the supervision and
capital requirements of local regulatory autharities.

The ALCD monitors the Group's capital adequacy and adjusts the capital mix where appropriate. The Group has
adopted the foundation internal ratings-based ("FIRE?) approach to caloulate the credit risk capital charge for the
majerity of its non-securitisation exposures. Small residual credit exposures are remained under the standardised
[credit risk) {"STC) approach. The Group has adopted the standardised credit valuation adjustment ("CWA™ method
to calculate the capital charge for the CVA risk of the counterparty.

The Group continues to adopt the internal models (IMMT) approach to calculate the general market risk capital
charge for foreign exchange and interest rate exposures amd, with the approval from the HEMA, exclude its
structural FX positions in the calculation of the market risk capital charge. The Group continues to adopt the
standardised {market risk) {("5TM") approach to calculate the market risk capital charge for the remaining exposures.

The Group continues to adopt the standardised [operational risk) ("5TO% appreach to cakulate the operational risk
capital charge.

The Group has continued to adopt an internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAPT) to comply with the
HEMA's requirements in the Supervisory Policy Manual "Supenvisory Review Process”in 2024, Based on the HEMA's
guidelimes on Pillar Il, ICAAP has been initiated to assess the extra capital meeded to cover the material risks not
captured or not adequately capbured under Pillar |, and therefore minimum Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio,
minimum Tier 1 capital ratic and minimum Total capital ratio are determined. The Group considers this ICAAP
as an on-goirg process for capital management ard pericdically reviews and adjusts its capital structure where
appropriate in relation to the overall risk profile.

The HEMA has classified BOCHEK as a material subsidiary of the BOC resolution group and required BOCHK
to comply with the applicable internal loss-absorbing capacity requirements under the Financial Instibutions

[Resalution) {Loss-absorbing Capacity Requirements — Bankirg Sector] Rules ["LAC Rules’), with compliance period
starting from 1 January 2023,
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.5 Capital management (continued)

In additicn, the capital plan of the Group is drawn up annually ard then submitted to the Board for approwal
after endorsement of the ALCO. The plan is built up by assessing the implications of varicus factors upon capital
adequacy such as the business strategies, return on equity, risk appetite, credit rating, as well as regulatary
requirements. Herce, the future capital requirement is determined ard capital sources are identified also. The plan
is to ensure the Group maintains adequate capital and appropriate capital structure which align with its business
development needs, thereby achieving an optimal balance among risk, return and capital adequacy.

(A) Basis of regulatory consolidation

The consclidation basis for regulatory purposes comprises the positions of BOCHK and certain subsidiaries
specified by the HEMA in accordance with the Banking [Capital) Rules. For accounting purposes, subsidiaries
are consalidated in accordance with HEFRSs.

The Company, its subsidiaries (BOC Group Life Assurance Company Limited and BOCHK Asset Management
[Cayman) Limited (including their subsidiaries}) and cerain subsidiaries of B3CHK are included within the
accounting scope of consolidation but not included within the regulatory scope of consalidation.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.5 Capital management (continued)
(A} Basis of regulatory consolidation [continued)

The particulars of the above-menticned subsidiaries of BOCHK are as follows:

024 2023
Total assets Total equity Total assets  Total equity
HKS'm HKS'm HES'mi HES'mi
BOC Group Trustee Company Limited 201 k10 00 200
BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited 656 519 627 495
China Bridge Malzysia) Sdn. Bhd.™* NiA NiA 13 1]
Banik of China {Hong Keng) Mominess Limited - - - -
Banik of China {Hong Keng) Trustaes Limited ] 1 g B
BO:C Digital Services Manning) Comparny Limited® 12 52 118 47
BOCHK Information Technology (Shenzhen)
Co, Ltd. 362 156 74 243
BOCHEK Information Technology Services
[Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. a04 239 408 345
Po Sang Finandial Investment Servicas Company
Limited 347 346 351 346
Po Sang Securities Limited 1,016 EL] 605 384
5in Hua Trustee Limited 4 4 3 El

Billizn Express Devealopmani Inc. - - - -
Billicn Qrient Holdings Lid. - - - -
Elite Bond Inwestments Ltd. - - - -
Express Capital Enterprise Inc. - - - -
Express Charm Heldings Corp. - — - -
Express Shine Assets Holdings Corp. - - - -
Express Talent Investrment Lid. - - - -
old Medal Capital Inc. - - - -
Gold Tap Enterprises Inc. - — - -
Maxi Success Holdings Lid. - - - -
Smart Linkage Holdings Inc. - — - -
Smart Union Capital Investmenits Lid. - - - -
Success Trend Developmeanit Lid. - - - -
‘Wisa Key Enterprises Corp. - - - -

*  BOC Finandal S=vices (Marning) Company Limked has charged company's name 1o BOC Digital Services {Hanning) Compary Limied
on 12 Januany 2034
* (hina Eridge (Malaysis) Sdn. Bhd. has commenced members valuntary winding up on 18 Nawernber 2024,
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.5 Capital management (continued)
(A} Basis of regulatory consolidation [continued)

The principal activities of the abowe subsidiaries are set out in "Appendix - Subsidiaries of the Company”

There were no subsidiaries which are included within the regulatory scope of consalidation but not included
within the accounting scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

There were also ro subsidiaries which are included within both the accounting scope of conselidaticn and
the regulatory scope of consaolidation where the methods of consolidation differ as at 31 December 2024
[2023: Mil).

The Group operates subsidiaries in different countries/regions where capital is governed by local rules and
there may be restrictions on the transfer of furds or regulatony capital beteween the members of the Group.

(B} Capital ratio

The capital ratios are analysed as follows:

I T

CET1 capital ratic 20.02% 19.02%
Tier 1 capital ratio 20.02% 19.02%
Tatal capital ratio 22.00% 21.18%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.5 Capital management (continued)
(B} Capital ratio [continued)

The conselidated capital base after deductions used in the cakulation of the above capital ratios is analysed
as follows:

2023
HES'm

CET1 capital: instruments and reserses

Directly issued qualifying CET1 capital instruments 43,043 43043
Retaired earnings 136932 2159744
Disclosed reserves 37,995 40947
CET1 capital before regulatory deductions 37,970 303,734
CET1 capital: regulatony deductions
Valuation adjustments (40} (28]
Cther intangible assets (net of associated deferred tax liabilities) (2,006) (1,894
Deferred tax assets (net of associated deferred tax liabilities) (258) 1328)
Gains and losses due to changes in own credit risk on fair
walued liabilities (67 (62)
Cumulative fair value gains arising from the revaluation of land
and buildings {own-use and investment properties) (41, 863) (45,358)
Regulatony reserve fior general banking risks (6,028) (7,974
Regulatony deductions applied to CET1 capital due to
insufficient AT1 capital and Tier 2 capital to cover deductions (957 (941)
Tatal regulatony deductions to CET1 capital 151,319 (56,625)
CET1 capital 266,651 247109

AT1 capital: instrurments
Qualifying AT1 capital instruments classified as equity under
applicable accounting standards - -
AT1 capital before regulatony deductions - -
AT1 capital: regulatory deductions
Significant LAC irvestments in AT capital instruments issued
by financial sector entities that are outside the scope of

regulatony consolidation (957 (941)
Tatal requlatory deductions to AT1 capital (957) {941)
AT1 capital - -
Tier 1 capital 266,651 47109
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.5 Capital management (continued)
(B} Capital ratio [continued)

2023
HES'm

Tier 2 capital: instruments and provisions
Callective prowisions and regulatory reserse for general banking
risks eligible for inclusicn in Tier 2 capital 7491 TRO7
Tier 2 capital before regulatony deductions 7401 TEOT
Tier 2 capital: regulatory deductions
Add back of cumulative fair value gains arising from the

revaluation of land and buildings {own-use ard irwestment

properties) eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 capital 18 838 0429
Tatal regulatory adjustmenits to Tier 2 capital 18838 20429
Tier 2 capital 216,329 28036
Tatal regulatony capital 292 980 75,145

The capital buffer ratios are analysed as follows:

" ==

Capital comsenvation buffer ratio 2.500%
Higher lass absorbency ratic 1.500% 1.500%
Countercyclical capital buffer ratio 0.422% 0.813%

{€} Leverage ratic

The keverage ratio is analysed as follows:

2023
HES ™

Tier 1 capital 247 109
Lewerage ratic expasure 3,915413 3502432
Lewerage ratio 6.81% 6.86%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Fair values of assets and liabilities

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, “Fair value measurement”. The categorisation are determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation methods and based on the lowest
lewel input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

- Lewel 1: based on quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This category
includes equity securities listed on exchange, debt instruments issued by certain gowernments and certain
exchange-traded derivative contracts.

- Lewel 2. based on wvaluation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is cbservable, either directly or indirectly. This categony includes majority of the OTC derivative
contracts, debt securities and certificates of deposit with quote from pricing services vendaors, issued structured
deposits, advances and other accounts and other debt instruments. It also includes certain foreign exchange
contracts, precious metals and properties with insignificant adjustments or calibrations made to observable
market inputs.

- Lewel 3: based on waluation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is urobservable. This categony includes equity inwestmernts, furds, advances and other accounts
and other debt instruments with significant unobservable inputs. It also includes properties with significant
adjustmenits made to observable market inputs.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statemernts on a recuring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occured between levels inthe hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting pericd.

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value

The Group has an established governance structure and controls framewaork to ensure that fair values are either
determimed or validated by control units independent of the front offices. Control units have averall responsibility
for independent werification of waluation results from front lime businesses and all other significant fair value
measurements. Cther specific contrals include verification of observable pricing inputs; review and approval for
new models and changes to models; calibration and bac k-testing of models against observed market transactions;
analysis and investigation of significant daily valuation movements; review of significamt unobsenvable inputs
and waluation adjustments. Significant valuation issues are reported to senior management, Risk Committee and
Audit Committes.

Gererally, the unit of account for a fimancial instrument is the individual instrument. HEFRS 13 permits a portfalio
exception, through am accounting pelicy election, to measure the fair value of a portfolio of fimancial assets and
financial liakilities on the basis of the net open risk position when cerain criteria are met. The Group applies
valuation adjustments at an individual instrumenit level, consistent with that unit of account. According to its risk
management policies and systems to manage derivative financial instruments, the fair value adjustments of certain
derivative portfolios that meet those criteria are measured on the basis of the price to be received or paid for et
open risk. Those portfolio-level adjustments are albocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of its
relative net risk exposure to the portfolio.

The Group uses waluation technigues or broker/dealer quotations to determine the fair value of financial
instruments when unable to obtain the open market quotation in active markets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

The main parameters used in valuation techniques for financial instruments held by the Group include bond prices,
interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity and stock prices, commodity prices, volatilities and comelations,
counterparty credit spreads and others, which are mostly observable and obtainable from open market.

The techniques used to calculate the fair value of the following financial instrumenits are as below:

Debt securities and certificates of deposit, advances and other accounts and other debt instruments

The fair value of these instruments is determined by obtaining guoted market prices frem exchange, dealer or
independent pricing service vendors or using discounted cash flow technique. Discounted cash flow model is a
valuation technique that measures present value using estimated expected future cash flows from the instrumenits
and then discounts these flows using a discount rate or discount margin that reflects the credit spreads required
by the market for instruments with similar risk. These inputs are observable or can be comoborated by observable
or uncbservable market data.

Mortgage backed securities

Far this class of instramenits, external prices are cbtained from independent third parties. The valuation of these
securities, depending on the nature of transaction, is estimated from market standard cash flow models with input
parameters which include spreads to discount rates, default and recovery rates and prepayment rates that may be
cbservable or compiled through matrix pricing for similar issues.

Derivatives

OTC derivative contracts include forward, swap and option contracts on foreign exchange, interest rate, equity,
commodity or credit. The fair values of these contracts are mainky measured using valuation technigues such as
discounted cash flow models and option pricing models. The inputs can be observable or uncbservable market
data. Observable inputs include interest rate, foreign exchange rates, equity and stock prices, commodity prices,
credit default swap spreads, volatilities and correlations. Unobservable inputs may be used for less commonly
traded option products which are embedded in structured deposits. For certain complex derivative contracts, the
fair values are determined based on broker/dealer price quaotations.

Credit valuation adjustments (*CVAsT and debit valuation adjustments {"DV4s") are applied to the Group's OTC
derivatives. These adjustments reflect market factors movement, expectations of counterparty creditworthimess and

the Group's own credit spread respectively. They are mainly determined for each counterparty and are dependenit
on expected future walues of exposures, default prebakilities and recovery rates
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
(A} Fair value hierarchy

2024

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK S 'm HKS'm HKS'm

Financial assets
Tradirg assets (Mote 23)

- Debt securities and certificates of deposit 525 115,020 - 115,545
- BEquity securities 51 - - 51
- Other debt instruments - 3,800 - 3,800

Cther finamcial assets mandatorily classified at
fair value thraugh profit or loss (Mote 23)

- Debt securities and certificates of deposit - 34729 43 24,772
- Bquity securities 4 861 - - 4,861
- Funds 7,100 4819 10,058 21,977

Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 23)

- Debt securities and certificates of deposit 2,338 36372 - 38,710

— Other debt irs truments - 7440 - 7,440
Deerivative financial instruments (Mote 24) 40 73,874 - 73,914
Advances and other accounts at fair value - 2,163 B9 2,972
Irwestment in securities at PYOC] {(Mote 26)

- Debt securities and certificates of deposit 249 452 797,717 - 1,047,169

- Equity secourities 841 125 3 565 4,531

Financial liakilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or lass (Mote 33)

- Trading liakilities 565 61,638 - 62,203

- Financial liakilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss - 16,618 - 16,618
Deerivative financial instruments (Mote 24) 19 56,560 - 56,779
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

(A} Fair value hierarchy (continued]

Lewel 1 Lewel 2 Lewvel 3 Total
HES"'m HKS'm HES'm HES'm

Financial assets
Tradirg assets (Mote 23)

— Debt securities and certificates of deposit 1 EEATT - ££478
— BEquity securities 69 - - &9
— Other debt instruments - 3,800 - 3800

Cther finamcial assets mandatorily classified at
fair value thraugh profit or loss (Mote 23)

— Debt securities and certificates of deposit BB 48,759 70 48 95T
— BEquity securities 4,132 - - 4133
— Funds 341 1479 58S 12589

Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 23)

— Debt securities and certificates of deposit 1,780 17,685 - 19565

— Cther debt imstruments - 217 5559 - 21T 59
Derivative financial instruments (Mote 24) 19 54192 - 54211
Advances and other accounts at fair value - 4512 B&3 E375
Irwestrment in securities at FVOCI {Nobe 26)

— Debt securities and certificates of deposit 120,681 634575 - T&L 656

— Equity securities B2z 622 3,262 4,706

Financial liakilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or lass (Mote 33)

- Trading liakilities E05 EQ 045 - B2 A50

- Financial liakilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss - 6,353 - 6353
Derivative financial instruments (Mote 24) 195 41,358 - 4] 553

There were n financial asset and liakility transfers between level 1 and level 2 for the Group during the year
[2023: Mil).
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5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
B} Reconciliation of level 3 items

1024
Fimancial assets

Oether fimancial
assets mandatorily Imwestenent in

Advances
classified at FVPL and other securities at FVOCI

Debt acco unts at Dbt Equity

securities Funds fair value securities securities
HES m HE4'm HE4'm HES m HE4'm

At lanuary 2024
[Lasz=sigains
- Income statement
- Wet kass an other finandal instrumernks
at fair value through peofit ar loss [27) (227 - - -
- Other comprehensive income

- Change in fair value - - - - 304
Additiars - 3,039 - o -
[Cispasak, redemptiors and miaturity - [443) ~ - 1]
Transfer put of level 3 - - ~ - -
Exchange difarence - = [54) = =
At 31 Decembsr 2024 43 10,058 0w - 3,565

Tatd unrealised lasses for the yearinduded in
incamea stakement far financidl assets held = 2
31 December 1024
- Net lasz on pther financial instruments at far
valua through profit o lass [27) (227 - - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
(B} Reconciliation of level 3 items [continued)

202

Cxherfinancial
assets mandatorly e Irsestment in
classified at FYPL R —— securities at PVOCI
Debt accounts at Dbt Equity
securities Furds fair walue securiies secunties
HES m HE'm HESm HES'm
At January 2023 1815 B,845 Ba2 735 1860
[Lasz=s)igains

- Income statement
- Met [loss)'gain on other finandal instruments
at fair value through peofit ar loss 140] e - - -
- Other comprehensive income

- Change in fair value - - - - 602
Additiors 110 sz - - 200
Dispasaks, redemphiors and maturity hdl [T0h - - -
Transfer out of level 3 (1,753 - - (735) -
Exchange difference - - 1 - -
At3] Decembesr 2023 n 1583 B&d - 3362
Tatd unrealised {lassesifgains for the year includad

in income stakemant for finandial assets hakd as at
31 December 123
- Met [losz)/gain on other finandal irstruments
at fair value through peafit ar koss 40 g - - -

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024 27

401/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2
oOoOooodd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
(B} Reconciliation of level 3 items [continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, financial instruments categorised as lewel 3 are mainly comprised of
certain debt and equity securities, funds, certain advances and other accounts ard unlisted equity shares.

For cerain illiquid debt securities and funds, the Group obtains valuation quotations from counterparties
ar uses wvaluation techniques to determine the fair value, including discounted cash flow analysis, met asset
value and market comparison approach, which may be based on unobservable inputs with significant impact
on valuation. For certain equity securities, advances and other accounts, the credit spreads of comparables
used in waluation techniques are urobsenable inputs with significant impact on valuation. Therefore, these
instruments have been classified by the Group as level 3. Transfers cut of level 3 in year of 2023 were due to
change of valuation input cbservability. The Group has established intermal control procedures to control the
Group’s exposure to such financial instrurments.

The fair values of unlisted FVOCI equity irwestments are determined with reference to (i) multiples of
comparable listed companies, including average of the pricefearnings ratios or average of the price/
book values ratios of the comparables; or (i) dividerd discount model calculation of the underlying
equity investments; or (iii] ret asset value with fair value adjustments on certain assets or liabilities held
[if applicable), if neither appropriate comparables mor dividend discount model calculation is available or
applicable. The significant uncbservable inputs and their range applied in the fair values measurement of
the Group’s unlisted equity irvestments includes price/eamings ratios of the comparables of 27.1 2x — 4532x,
pricefbook walues ratios of the comparables of 0.21x - 0.60x, liquidity discount of 25% - 30%, dividend
payout ratio of 23.44% - B4.35% and discount rate of 11.33% - 13.01%. The fair value is positively comelated
to the pricefearnings ratios and price/book value ratios of appropriate comparables, forecasted stream of
future dividend payout or net asset values, and is negatively comelated to the liquidity discount used in the
awerage of pricefearnirgs ratics and price/book walue ratios of comparables or discount rate used in dividend
discount madel.

Had all of the significant umobservable inputs applied on the wvaluation techniques favourably changed!
unfavourably changed by 5% (2023: 5%), the Group's other comprehensive income would have increased

by HE5122 millicn and decreased by HES121 million, respectively (2023: increased by HKSE4 million and
decreased by HES63 million, respectively).
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5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)
5.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time based on relevant market information and information
about various financial instruments. The following methods and assumptions have been used to estimate the fair
value of each class of financial instrument as far as practicable.

Balances with/from banks and other financial institutions and trade bills

Substantially all the financial assets and liabilities mature within one year from the balance sheet date and their
carryirg value approximates fair value.

Hong Kong 5AR Government certificates of indebtedness and Hong Kong SAR currency notes in
dreulation

The carrying value of Hong Kong 5AR Government certificates of indebtedness and Hong Korg SAR currency notes
im circulation approximates their fair value.

Advances to customers and banks and other financial institutions

Substantially all the advances to customers and banks and other financial institutions are on floating rate terms,
bear interest at prevailing market interest rates and their carmying value approximates fair value.

Investment in securities at amortised cost

The fair value of securities at amortised cost is determined by using the same approach as those debt securities
and certificates of deposit and mortgage backed securities measured at fair value as described in Naote 5.1,

Deposits from customers

Substantially all the deposits from ocustomers mature within one year from the balance sheet date and their
carryirg value approximates fair value.

Debt securities and certificates of deposit in issue

The fair value of these instruments is determined by using the same approach as those debt securities and
cenificates of deposit measured at fair value as described in Mote 5.1

Subordinated liabilities

The fair value of subzrdinated liabilities is determined by using the same approach as those debt securities and
cerificates of deposit measured at fair value as described in Mote 5.1 and their camying value approximates
fair value.
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5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued)

The follawing tables set out the carmying values and fair values of the financial instruments not measured at fair
value, except for the abowe with their camrying values being approximation of fair values.

Carrying Carrying
value value
HKS'm HE% ' m
Financial assets
Inwestment in securities at amortised cost
(Mate 2£) 177,422 173,974 208,078 2025952
Financial liabilities
Dbt securities and certificates of deposit
in issue (Mobe 34) 5,196 5,331 1,953 2001

The following tables show the fair value hierarchy for financial instrumenits with fair values disclosed.

Financial assets
Inwestment in securities at amomtised cost

20,268

Lewvel 2
HES$ 'm

Level 3
HEKS 'm

153,648 58 173,974

Financial liabilities
Debt securities and certificates of deposit

in issue -

5,331 - 5,331

Financial assets
Inwestment in securities at amortised cost

evel 1
HE4'm

31942

Lewel 3
HE4'm

Level 2
HES 'm

170,958 12 202952

Financial liabilities

Dbt securities and certificates of depasit

in issue -

2,001 - 2001
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.3 Mon-financial instruments measured at fair value

The Group uses valuation techniques or quoted market prices in active market to determine the fair wvalue of
non-financial instrumerits.

Investment properties and premises

The Group's properties can be divided into inwestment properties and premises. All of the Group's inwestment
properties and premises were revalusd as at year end. This year, the valuations were carried out by an independent
firm of chartered surveyors, Knight Frank Petty Limited, who have among their staff Fellow and Members of The
Hong Kong Institute of Sunveyors with recent experience in the locations and categaories of properties being valued.
The Group's Management had discussions with the surveyars on the valuation methods, valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is performed at each interim and annual reporting date. There has been
na charge in waluation methods during the year ard the methods used are consistent with last year.

(il Waluation methods and inputs used in level 2 fair value measurements

The fair value of properties classified as lewel 2 is determined using either the market comparison approach
by reference to recent sales price of comparable preperies or the income capitalisation approach by
reference to market rent and capitalisation rate, with appropriate adjustments to reflect the differences
between the comparable properties and the subject properties. These adjustments are considered as
insignificant to the measurement.

The Group's properties are lecated in Heng Kong, certain major cities in the mainland, Thailand ard Malaysia
where the propery markets are considered active and transparent. 5ales price, market rent and capitalisation
rate of comparable properties are generally observable either directly or indirectly in these markets.

(il  Information about level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of all of the Group's properties classified as level 3, except for the bank wault, is determined
using either the market comparison approach ar the income capitalisation approach, adjusted for a premium
or a discount specific to the features of the Group's properties compared to the comparable properties.

The fair value of the bank vault is determired using the depreciated replacement cost approach as no
direct comparable is available given the specialised nature of the property. The major inputs are the market

value of the existing lard, the current cost of replacing the property and the depreciation rate. Appropriate
adjustrments are made to reflect the specialised nature of the property.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.3 Mon-financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
Investment properties and premises (continued)

{iil] Information about level 3 fair value measurements [continued)

The valuation methods and significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the
Group’s properties classified as lewel 3 are as follows:

Significant Relationship
Valuation uncbservable Weighted of unobservable
method inputs average inputs to fair value
Bank vault Depreciated Cepreciation rate 2% | The higher the depreciaticn
replacement (2023: 2%) | rate, the lower the fair walue.
cost approach per year
Premium on +15% The higher the premium,
specialised nature | (2023: +15%) the higher the fair walue.
af the property o
building cost
Cther Market | Discount on features -1.2% The higher the discount,
properties COMmparison of the property | (2023: -6.8%) the kower the fair value.
approach compared
ar income to comparable
capitalisation properties
approach

Premium/(discount) on features of a property is determined after taken into account various factors, such as
time for market mowvement, location, accessibility, building agefcondition, floor level, size, layout, etc., with
reference to the differences im features with comparable properties.

Far the fair walue of the investment property with a redevelopment plan, it is measured on a redevelopment
basis by adopting residual approach which is a valuation method generally used to value development of
lands. Gross Development Walue ["GDY) is first determined using market comparison approach by reference
to recent transactions of comparable properties and adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to the
quality of the Group's development compared to the comparable properties. The ultimate fair value of the
redevelspment is the residual value after deducting the present walue of the development costs (imcluding
professional fees, demolition cost, constructions cost etc) and developer's prefit frem the present value of
the GOV, The higher the GOV, the higher the fair value; the higher the development costs and the discount
rate, the lower is the fair value.

Precious metals

The fair values of precious metals are determined by obtaining quoted market prices im active market or market
quicke with certain adjustments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.3 Mon-financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

[A)

Faiir value hierarchy

2024

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK S 'm HKS'm HKS'm

Mon-financial assets

Irwestrment properties (Note 28) - 305 13,741 14,046
Properties, plant and equipment (Note 29)

- Premises - B43 35,060 35,903
Cther assets (Mote 30)

- Precious metals - 15176 - 15,176

Lewel 1 Lewvel 2 Lewvel 3 Total
HKs"m HE S 'm HES'm HES ™

Mon-financial assets

Irwestment properties (Note 28) - 308 14,567 14875
Properties, plant and equipment (Note 29)

- Premises - 1075 38 380 39455
Cther assets (Mote 30)

- Precious metals - 11627 - 11827

There were ma non-financial asset transfers between level 1 and level 2 for the Group durirg the year (2023:
il).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.3 Mon-financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
B} Reconciliation of level 3 items

2024

Nen-financial assets

Properties,

plant and

Investment equipment

properties Premises

HE$'m HK$'m

At 1 January 2024 14,567 38,380
Losses

- Income statement
- Met lzss from fair value adjustments
on investment properties (1,469) -
— Met loss from revaluation of premises - (329
- Other comprehensive income

- Revaluatiocn of premises - (2,508)
Depreciation - (1,125)
Additions 118 1,014
Disposals {1 (8]
Transfer inte level 3 - 159
Transfer out of level 3 - -
Reclassification 526 (526)
Exchange difference - 1
At 31 December 2024 12,741 35,060

Tatal unrealised losses for the year included
inincome statement for non-finarcial assets
held as at 31 December 2024
- Met loss from fair value adjustments
on investment properties (1,469) -
— Met loss from revaluation of premises - (329)

(1,459 (329)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Fair values of assets and liabilities (continued)

5.3 Mon-financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

Mon-financial assets

(B} Reconciliation of level 3 items (continued]

Properties,

plant and

Investrment equipment

properties Premises

HKS'm HES'm

At 1 January 2023 15746 40,806
Lasses

- Income statement
— Met loss from fair value adjustments
on investment properties {1,259 -
— Met loss from revaluation of premises - {130
— Other comprehensive income

— Revaluation of premises - (970]
Depreciation - (1,164
Additions 26 27
Transfer into level 3 - 41
Transfer out of level 3 - {176]
Reclassification 54 {54)
At 31 December 2023 14,567 38380

Total unrealised losses for the year included
imincome statement for non-financial assets
held as at 31 December 2023
— Met loss from fair value adjustments
on investment properties {1,259 -
— Met loss from revaluation of premises - {130)

(1,259 (1300

The transfer of properties inbo ard out of level 3 is due to change in the premium/(discount] on features
applied between the subject and comparable properties during the year. Premiumf{discount) on features
is determired with reference to differences in features between the subject properties and the comparable
properties recently transacted in the market. As comparable properties that come from recent market
transactions may be different in each year, the premiumy/(discount) on features applied between the subject
and comparable properties would change from year to year accordingly. As a result, the significance of
adjustments made to observable market inputs may varny and lead to the transfer of properties into and out
of lewel 3.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. Net interest income

2023
HES'm

Interest income

Adwarces to customers, due from banks and other finamcial institutions 91,294 B 240
Inwestmenit in securities and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 47 467 40,691
COthers 678 858
139,439 1284859
Interest expense
Deposits from customers, due to banks and other financial institutions (81,037 (71,5400
Debt securities and cerificates of deposit in issue (25) (118)
Subordinated liabil ities 2,447 12,5065
Lease liabilities (42) 141)
COthers (3,554) (2,805)
(87, 105) (77411
Net interest income 52334 51,078

Included within interest income are HK397,224 million (2023: HK394,206 million) and HE532,580 million (2023:
HES 27,253 million) for financial assets measured at amortised cost and at fair value through other comprehensive
income respectively.

Included within interest expense are HKSES,213 million {2023: HEKS76,174 millior) for financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. Netfee and commission income

2023
HES'm

Fee and commission income

Credit card business 2559 2430
Securities brokerage 2,266 1826
Loan commissicns 2,136 2413
Insurarce 1,018 &51
Trust ard custody services w09 790
Payment services 745 T4
Funds distribution 669 431
Currency exchange 540 398
Bills commissions 444 481
Safe deposit box 200 290
Funds management 42 28
Others 1,567 1,735
13,285 12,187
Fee and commission expense
Credit card business (1,962 {1,790
Securities brokerage (325) (281)
Others {1,105} (249
(3.393) 13,0200
Net fee and commission income 9803 9167
Of which arise from:
Finamcial assets or financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value
through profit of loss
- Fee and commission income 1,492 2563
- Fee and commission expenss {10} {9
1482 2554
Trust and other fiduciary activities
- Fee and commission income 1,103 Gar
- Fee and commission expense (63) 141)
1,040 948

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024 239

411/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2

oOoOooodd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8. Net trading gain

2024 2023
HK$'m HES'm

MNet gainfi{loss) from:

Foreign exchange and foreign exchange products 10585 8,028
Interest rate instruments and items under fair value hedge 151 3
Commedities 361 274
Equity instruments (109 10

10,988 315

9. Net (loss)/gain on other financial instruments at fair value through profit
or loss

2024 2023
HK$'m HES'm

Met gain on ather financial instruments mandatarily classified at fair value

through profit or loss 1,973 2026

Met (koss)gain on financial instruments designated at fair value
through profit of loss (2,755) 251
782 2277

10. Net loss on other financial instruments

2024 2023
HK5"'m HES ™

Met loss on disposalfredemption of investment in securities at FYOCI (1,394) {1,457
Met loss on redemnption of investment in securities at amortised cost 27 {21]
COthers 5 10

(1,416} (1,468)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. Insurance finance expenses

2024 2023
HK$'m HES'm

Finance {expenses)/income from insurance contracts issued

Interest accrated (28800 {2,760
The effect of and changes in financial risk {1,526) (2,285)
Excharge difference 1,725 903
Chamnges in fair value of underlying items of contracts under

variable fee approach (1,239) (3,548)
(2,915) (2,090

Finamce income/{expensas) from reinsurance contracts held
Interest accreted 1,011 1,155
The effect of and changes in financial risk 547 =]
Excharge difference 967 {721]
501 1,130
(3.324) 16,960
Amount recognised in income statement (2,139 (5,430
Amaount recognised in other comprehensive income {1,185) {1,530
(3,324) (6,960)

12. Other operating income

2024 2023
HKS'm HES'm

Dividend income

- Frem investment in securities at FWOC| derecognised during the year 20 -

- Frzm investment in securities at FWOC| held at the end of the year 7 108
Grass rental income from investment properties 433 465
Less: Outgzings in respect of investment properties (76) {7
Others 170 1M
624 &13

Included in the *0utgoings in respect of investment properties”is HES 19 million (2023: HESS million) of direct operating
expenses related to investment properties that were not let during the pear.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. Net charge of impairment allowances

2024 2023
HK$'m HES'm

Met [charge)reversal of impairment allowances an:
Advarces and octher accounts

- At Py 23 48
- At amartissd cost (4.968) (6,467)
(4,945) (6,4159)
Balamces and placements with banks and ather financial institutions (57 (23]
Investment in securities

- At Py (59 (13

- At amartised cost 3 15
(62) 2

Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts 18 120
|5,046) 15315

Others {36) {14)
Met charge of impairment allowances (5,082 (6333)

14. Operating expenses

2024 2023
HKS 'm HES ™

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)

- Salaries and other costs 10,858 10,143
- Pension cost 612 532
11,470 10,725

Premises and equipment expenses (excluding depreciation and amortisation)
- Short-term leases, leases of low-value assets and variable lease payments 91 L&
- Dthers 1,434 1338
1525 1354
Depreciation and amortisation 2867 24919

Auditor's remuneration

- Budit services L 30
- Mon-audit services a9 2
Cither operating expenses 1794 2589
18,701 17,759
Less: Costs directly attributable to insurance contracts {1,207 {1,152)
17,494 16607
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. Net loss from disposal of/fair value adjustments on investment

properties
2024 2023
HK$'m HES'm
Met loss from fair value adjustments on inwestment properties (Mote 28) {1,487 {1,270

16. Net loss from disposal/revaluation of properties, plant and equipment

2024 2023
HK5"'m HES ™
Met loss from disposal of equipment, fixtures and fittings

Met loss from revaluation of premises (Mote 29) {329} 1130]
332) {135)

17. Taxation

Taxation in the income statement represents:

2024 2023
HK5"'m HE%m

Current tax
Homg Kiong profits tax
— Current year taxation 7447 La48
- Ower-provision in pricr years [243) {158)
7,204 5690
Taxation outside Hong Kong
— Current year taxation 1,404 970
— Ower-provision in pricr years 114) (267
8,494 6393
Deferred tax
Qrigination and reversal of temporany differerces and unused tax credits
(Maote 36) (a58) (338
7,636 057

Hong Kang profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year. Taxation on profits outside Hong Korg has been calculated on the estimated assessable
profits for the year at the rates of takation prevailing in the countriesfregions in which the Group operates.
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The taxation on the Group's profit before taxation that differs from the theoretical amount that would arize using the

taxation rate of Hong Kong is as follows:

2023
HESm

Prafit before taxation

Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%)

Effect of different taxation rates in other countriesfregions

Income not subject to taxation

Expenses not deductible for takation purposes
Ower-pravision in pricr years

Withholding tax outside Hong Kong

Others

Taxation charge

Effective tax rate

46,754 40914
7,714 6751
227 171
(2,445) {2,052)
1,804 1562
357) {425)
6567 EEL

26 {285)
7,636 5057
16.2% 148%

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development’s (“OECD") Global Minimum Tax (“Pillar Two") model

rules

The Group is within the scope of the QECD's Pillar Two model rules. Pillar Two legislation was enacted in Vietnam,
Indoresia, Malaysia and Thailand, among the jurisdictions in which the Group cperates and has become effective
in Vietnam since 1 January 2024 and will become effective in Indonesia, Malaysia and Thailand from 1 January 2025
respectively. Under the Pillar Twao legislation enacted in Vietnam, Indomesia, Malaysia and Thailand, the Group is liakle
to pay a top-up tax for the difference between the Global Anti-Base Erosion ["GloBE7) effective tax rate for these four

jurisdictions, and the 15% minimum rate.

For the jurisdiction in which Pillar Two legislation has become effective (ie. Vietnam), the Group has assessed that there
shall mat be related additional current tax expense. The Group applies the exception to recognisimg and disclosing
information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes, as provided in the amendmerits

to HEAS 12 “Income Taxes "issued in July 2023.

For the jurisdictions in which Pillar Teo legislation has been enacted but has mot yet become effective (e Indonesia,
Malaysia and Thailand], the Group has assessed that the GloBE effective tax rate for these three jurisdictions should likely
exceed the 15% minimum rate. Accordingly, there should not likely be top-up tax expense in these three jurisdictions

when the Pillar Two legislation becomes effective.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. Dividends

Per share Total Per share tal

HE% HE% 'm HE% HK3"'m

Interim dividend paid 0.570 6,026 0.527 E572
Proposed final dividend 1.419 15,003 1.145 12,106
1.989 21,029 1672 17678

The final dividerd of HKS1.145 per ordinany share for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounting to approximately
HES12,106 million was approved at the Annual General Meeting beld on 27 Jure 2024 and was paid on 15 July 2024,

At a meeting held on 29 August 2024, the Board declared an interim dividend of HES0570 per ordinary share for the first
half of 2024 amourting to approximately HESE,026 million.

At 3 meeting held on 26 March 2025, the Board proposed to recommend ta the 2025 Annual General Meeting a final
dividend of HK51.419 per ordinary share for the year ended 21 December 2024 amourting to approximately HKS 15,003
million. This proposed final dividend is mot reflected as a dividend payable in these financial statements, but will be
reflected as an appropriaticn of retained earnings for the year ending 31 December 2035,

19. Earnings per share

The cakulation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 is based on the consolidated profit for
the year attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately HES38,233 millicn (2023: HKS32,723 millicn)
and on the crdinary shares in issue of 10,572 780,266 shares (2023 10,572,780,266 ordinary shares).

There was mo dilution of earnirgs per share as no potential crdinary shares were in issue for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024 245

417/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2
oOoOooodd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. Retirement benefit costs

Retirement berefits are provided to eligible employees of the Group.

In Hong Kong, defimed contribution schemes for the Group's employees are ORS0 scheme exempted under the MPF
Schemes Ordinance and the BOC-Prudential Easy Choice MPF Scheme.

Under the QRSO scheme, employees make monthly contributions to the ORS0 scheme equal to 5% of their basic
salaries, while the employer makes morithly contributions equal to 5% to 15% of the employees’ monthly basic salaries,
depending on years of service. The employees are entitled to receive 100% of the employer's contributions upon
retiremert, early retirement or termination of employment after completing 10 years of service. Employees with 3 to @
years of senvice are entitled to receive the employer's contributions at a scale ranging from 30% to 90% upon termination
of employment for other reasons other than summary dismissal. All employer's contributions received by employee are
subject to MPF Schemes Crdinance.

With the implementation of the MPF Schemes Ordimance on 1 December 2000, the Group also launched the MPF
5cheme according to the regulatory requirement. Since 2019, employess with 5 years of senvice or above are entitled to
employer's woluntany contribution. The trustee of the Scheme is BOC-Prudential Trustee and the investment manager is
BOCI-Prudential Asset Management, which are related parties of the Company.

The Group's total contributions made to the ORS00 scheme for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately HKS378 million [2023: approximately HES375 million), after a deduction of forfeited contributions
of approximately HE12 million (2023: approsimately HES15 million). For the MPF Scheme, the Group contributed
approximately HKS 158 million (2023: approximately HES 151 million) for the year ended 31 December 2024,

All eligible employess of instituticns in other countries and regions participate in the bocal defined contribution schemes
or defined berefit plans in accordance with local regulations arnd market practices.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. Directors’, senior management’s and Key Personnel’s emoluments

{a) Directors” and senior management's emoluments
1] Directors” emoluments

Details of the emoluments paid to or receivable by the directors of the Compary in respect of their services
rendered fior the Compary and managing the subsidiaries within the Group durirg the year are as follows:

Basic
salaries,
allowances
Directors” and benefits Other

fer in kind Bonus payments® Total
HKS 000 HES 000 HES 000 HE4$'000 HK4$"000

Executive Director

SUM Yu (Chief Executive) - 6,499 2,905 - 9,404
MNon-executive Directors
GE Haijac - - - - -
LIL Jip meet - - - - -
LIM Jingzhen - - - - -
CHEMG Eva® 600 - - - 600
CHOI Koon Shum® 600 - - - 600
FUMG Yuen Mei Anita® 700 - - - 700
LAW Yee Kwan Quinn® 550 - - - 550
LEE Sunry Wai Kwong® 650 - - - 650
LIP Sai ‘Wo® 650 - - - 650
WA 5i Hang Frederick® 550 - - - 550
4, 300 - - - 4300
4 300 6,499 2,905 - 13,704

Mat= 1: Rzsigned during the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. Directors’, senior management’s and Key Personnel’s emoluments
(continued)

{a) Directors”and senior management’s emoluments {continued)
(il Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Basic
salaries,
allowances
Directors’ and benefits Other

fee in kind Bonus  payments’ Total
HES 000 HES 000 HES' 000 HES'000 HK3'000

Executive Director

SUM Yu (Chief Executive) - 6,313 3320 - 9433
MNon-executive Directors
GE Haijac - - - - -
LI Jin - - - - -
LIM Jingzhen - - - - -
CHEMG Eva® a00 - - - &00
CH2I Koon Shum® a00 - - - &00
FUMG Yuen Mei Anita® 651 - - - &51
LAW Yee Kwan Quinn® S50 - - - 550
LEE Sunry Wai Kwong® 626 - - - E26
LIP Sai'Wo® 231 - - - in
W& 5i Hang Frederick® 110 - - - 110
KCOH Beng Seng® EXd| - - - EF|
TUMG Savio Wai-Hok® 45 - - - 345
4134 - - - 4134
4,134 6312 3320 - 13,767

*  Independeri Morresecuitve Diectors
*  Including the contributions to peralon scheme for directors, Inducemeent bo join the Group and the comperasation for the loss of office:
paid bo or recetvable by direchors

There were no directors waived emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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21. Directors’, senior management’s and Key Personnel’s emoluments
(continued)
{a) Directors”and senior management’s emoluments {continued)
(i} Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year include one (2023: one)
director whose emalument is reflected in the analysis presented abowe. The emoluments payable to the
remaining four (2023: four) individuals during the year are as follows:

2023
HES'm
18

Basic salaries and allowances 17

Bonus 15 14

Contributions to pension schemes 1 1
33 33

Emaoluments paid ta or receivable by individuals during the year with reference to their tenure are within the

fallowing bands:
MNumber of individuals
e

HES7,000,007 to HES T, 500,000 -
HEST, 500,007 to HESE 000, 000 3
HES2,003007 to HES 8,500,000 -
HESZ,003007 to HESS, 500,000 -
HESS 500007 to HES 10,000, 000 1 -

—— i w3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. Directors’, senior management’s and Key Personnel’s emoluments
(continued)
{a) Directors”and senior management’s emoluments {continued)
{iii) Senior management’s emoluments

Emoluments paid to or receivable by individuals during the year with reference to their temure as senicr
management are within the following bands:

MNumber of individuals

HES500,001 to HES 1,000 000 = 1
HKS2,500,007 to HES 3 000,000
HKS3,000,007 to HES 3,500,000
HES4,000,007 to HES 4,500,000
HES4,500007 to HES 5000, 000
HESS,003007 to HES 5, 500,000
HESE,500007 to HES T 000, 000
HES2,000,007 to HESS, 500,000
HES2,500007 to HES 10000 000 - 1

1
—

- ek el o R e
[ —

(B) Remuneration for 5enior Management and Key Personnel under CG-5

Far the purpose of disclosure, Senicr Management and Key Personnel are defined as follows:

- Senior Management: The senior management designated by the Board who are resporsible for cversight of
the Group-wide strategy or activities or material business lines, including the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief
Exeoutive, Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer, Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Risk Officer,
Board Secretary and General Manager of Group Audit.

- Key Personrel: The employees whose duties or activities involve the assumption of material risk, or those
whao take on material exposures on behalf of the Group, or whose individual responsibilities have direct and
material impact on the risk management ard affect the profitability of the Group directly, including heads
af frontline busiress units, local major subsidiaries and Southeast Asian entities, head of trading, heads
of furctional units that hawe direct and material impact on the Group's risk managemert and affect the
profitability of the Group directly, general managers who report directly to the Chief Executive, as well as
"managers” appointed by the Group according to the Banking Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. Directors’, senior management’s and Key Personnel’s emoluments
(continued)
(b) Remuneration for Senior Management and Key Personnel under CG-5 (continued)

Details of the remureration for Senior Management and Key Personnel of the Group during the year are as follows:

(il Remuneration awarded during financial year
2024

Senior Kay Senior Key

Management Personnel
HKS$'m HEKS'm

Management Persannel
HK%'m HES'm

Fized remureration
Cash-based 33 120 0 120
O whiche deferred - - - -
Variable remureration

Cash-based 14 &9 14 70
O which: defermed £ 28 28
Tatal remuneration 47 189 44 190
Mumber of em ployees
Fixed remureration 10 47 9 47
Variable remureration 10 47 9 47

{iii Special payments

2024
Senior Kay Senior Key
Management Personnel | Management Personnel
HK5"000 HK$'000 HEKs'000 HK5"000
Sign-on awards - - - 1240
Number of employees - - - 2

There were no guaranteed bonuses and severance payments to Senior Management and Key Personnel for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023 Nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. Directors’, senior management’s and Key Personnel’s emoluments
(continued)

(b) Remuneration for Senior Management and Key Personnel under CG-5 (continued)
{iii) Deferred remuneration

OF whichz
Total amount
of cutstanding
deferred
and retained  Total amount  Total amount

remuneration of amendment of amendment Total ameunt

Tetal amourt  expesedto ex during the year duringthe year of deferred
of cutstanding  post explicit dus to &x dustoex remuneration
deferred and/orimplict  post explidt  postimplicit paid cut in the
remuneration adjustment  adjustmenmts  adjustments finamcial year
HES mi HES mi HES m HES 'm HES'm

Senior Management

Cash 1" n - = (51
Key Parscnnel

Cash 55 55 - = [21]
Tatd 65 13 - = [26]

Of which:
Tatal amount
of outstanding
defemred
andretained  Totalamount — Total amount
remuneration  of amendment  of amendment  Total amount
Total amount  exposedto ex  during theyear during the year of deferred
of cutstanding post explicit due to ex duetoex  remuneration
deferred  and/or implicit post explicit post implicit  paid out in the

remuneration adjustment adjustrnenits adjustnents  financial year
HES m HES'm HES'm HES'm HES'm

Senior Management

Cash 1 n - - (5
Key Parscnnel

Cath 48 4 - - 14
Tatd 59 kY] - - 15
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. Cash and balances and placements with banks and other financial

institutions
2023
HES'm
Cazh 20711 19257
Balarces with central banks 178,747 141 310
Placemenrits with central banks maturing within cne month 116,633 13595
Placemerits with central banks maturing betwesn ore and twelve months 7,653 3052
Placemenrits with central banks maturing ower one year 1,004 1820
304127 158777
Balamces with other banks and other financial institutions 92329 135544
Placemenrits with other banks and other financial institutions maturing
within cne marth 93772 irarn
Placemenrits with other banks and other financial institutions maturing
betwesn one and twelve moniths o8 679 52,191
Placemenrits with other banks and other financial institutions maturing
OWET ONe year 452 &11
285232 2ITR1E
610,070 406 652
Less: Impairment allowances
- Stage 1 (104) 48]
- Stage 2 - -
-Stage 3 31 (33
600 935 406571
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2023
HES'm

Securities
Trading assets

— Treasury bills 59,209 12882
- Cernificates of deposit 13,11 7449
— Other debt securities 43,135 26,137
115,545 &54T8
— Equity securities 51 &9
115,506 &5 547
QOther financial assets mandatorily classified at fair value through profit or loss
- Cernificates of deposit 300 401
— Cither debt securities 34,382 4B 558
34772 48357
— Equity securities 4861 4133
- Furds 21977 12589
61,610 BEETD
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
— Treasury bills 404 375
- Cernificates of deposit 930 35
— Other debt securities 37376 19,255
38710 19555
Total securities 215916 151 291
COther debt instruments
Trading assets 1800 3,800
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 7,440 217599
Total other debt instruments 11,240 2121 3949
127 156 3732690
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23. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Total securities are analysed by place of listing as follows:

2024 2023
HE$'m HES'm

Diebt securities ard certificates of deposit

- Listed in Hong Kong 21,219 17,709
- Listed cutside Hong Kong 48,629 44 657
- Unlisted 119,179 72,734
188 027 135,100

Equity securities
- Listed in Hong Kong 2617 2819
- Listed cutside Hong Kong 2,295 1383
4912 4202

Funds

- Listed in Hong Kong 4371 1421
- Listed cutside Hong Kong 2,025 -
- Unlisted 15581 9168
21,977 12539
Total securities 215916 151 291

Total securities are analysed by type of issuer as follows:

2024 2023
HKS 'm HES '™

Sowereigns o0 456 E9A56
Pukbdlic sector entities 2919 1,762
Bariks ard other financial irstituticns T4377T L6235
Corpaorate entities 39164 34438
Total securities 215916 151 291
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24, Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group enters inkto excharge rate, interest rate, commodity, equity and credit related derivative financial instument
contracts for trading ard risk management purposes.

Currency forwands represent commitments to purnchase and sell foreign currency on a future date. Interest rate futures
are contractual obligations to receive or pay a net amount based on changes in interest rates or buy or sell interest rate
fimnancial instruments on a future date at an agreed price in the financial market under the administration of the stock
excharge. Forward rate agreements are individually negotiated interest rate futures that call for a cash settlement at
a future date for the difference between a contract rate of interest and the current market rate, based on a noticnal

principal amaount.

Currency, interest rate and commodity swaps are commitments to exchange ore set of cash flows or commodity for
another. Swaps result inan exchange of currencies, interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate), or precious
metals {fior example, silver swaps] or a3 combination of all these (for example, cross-ourmrency interest rate swaps). Except
for certain currency swap contracts, no exchange of principal takes place.

Foreign cumency, interest rate, precious metal and equity options are contractual agreements under which the seller
{writer) grants the purchaser (halder) the right, but not the abligation, either 1o buy (a call option) or sell (a put option)
at or by a set date or during a set period, a specific amourt of the financial instrumert at a predetermined price. In
consideration for the assumption of foreign exchange and imterest rate risk, the seller receives a premium from the
purchaser. Optizns are negotiated owver-the-counter between the Group and its counterparty or traded through the
stock exchange (for example, exchange-traded stock option).

The contract/notional amounts ard fair walues of derivative financial instruments held by the Group are set out in the
following tables. The contract/motional amounts of these instruments indicate the volume of tramsactions outstanding
at the balance sheet dates and certain of them provide a basis for comparison with the fair values of instrumenits
recognised on the balance sheet. However, they do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows inwolved or
the current fair walues of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group's exposure to credit or market risks.
The derivative financial instruments become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liakilities) as a result of fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates, market interest rates, commodity prices or equity prices relative to their terms. The aggregate
fair values of derivative finarcial imstruments can fluctuate significantly from time to time.

(@) Derivative financial instruments

The Group trades derivative products (both emchange-traded and CTC) mainly for customer business. The Group
strictly follows risk management policies and requirements in prowiding derivative products to cur customers and
in tradirg of derivative preducts in the interbank market.

Derivatives are also used to manage the interest rate risk of the banking bock. A derivative instrument must be
included in the approwved product list before any transactions for that instrumernt can be made. There are limits to
cantrol the mational amount of exposure arising from derivative transactions, and the maximum tenar of the deal is
set. Every derivative transaction must be input inte the relevant system for settlement, mark-to-market revaluation,
reporting and central.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24, Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)
(@) Derivative financial instruments (continued)

The following tables summarise the contract/noticnal amounts and fair values of each class of derivative financial
instrument as at 31 December:

Contract/

notional Fair values

amounts Assats Liabilities
HK$'m HES'm HEKS'm

Exchange rate contracts

Spot, forwards and futures 285,199 15,030 (11,801}
Swaps 3,346 4T 37,910 [26,698)
Opticns 93,749 662 (345)
3,725419 52,602 (38,844)

Interest rate contracts
Futures 70,934 26 (210}
Swaps 2,352,193 19,297 (16,832)
Options 1,284 - -
2,424.41 19,323 (17,042)
Commodity contracts 26 517 983 (887)
Equity contracts 730 [ (-]
6,177,077 72,914 (56,779)

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024 257

429/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2
oOoOooodd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24, Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

(@) Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Contract/

1 i o
— Fair values

amounts Liakilities
HES'm HES'm

Exchange rate contracts

Spot, forwards and futures 307 690 15,566 {11,035)
Swiaps 25098, 252 16,176 {13,000
Opticns 52950 459 {194)
2458932 32211 (24,229

Interast rate contracts
Futures 24139 10 {19
Swiaps 1,810,768 21,461 (16,684)
Opticns - - -
1,835,107 21471 (16,703)
Commodity contracts 16637 497 (5594)
Equity contracts 1,196 32 {27
4,311,852 54211 (41,553)

(b) Hedge accounting
Fair value hedges

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against change in fair value of financial assets and liabilities arising
fraom mawements in market interest rates. Interest rate risk to which the Group applies hedge accounting arises
from fixed-rate debt securities and senior notes, whaose fair value fluctuates when benchmark interest rates
change. The Group only designates interest rate risks to the extent of benchmark interest rates as the hedged risks
because the changes in fair value of the ficed-rate debt securities and senior notes are significantly influenced by
the chamges in the benchmark interest rates. Hedge accounting is applied where economic hedaging relationshi ps
meet the hedge accounting criteria.

Possible sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:
- Motional and timing differerces between the hedged items and hedging instruments;

- Significant changes in counterparties’ credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24, Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

(b) Hedge accounting (continued)
Fair value hedges [continued)

The table below summarises the comtract/notional amounts and average fieed interest rate of the hedging
instruments as at 31 December by remaining contractual maturity.

Up to Tte 3

1 month months
HES'm HK$'m

Initerast rate swaps
Contract/noticnal

amcunts 350 2,624 17,852 38,009 19742 78,667
Average fixed
interest rate 2.32% 2.99% 1.15% 3.34% 2.95% N/A

Upto 1tad Ito 12 Ttos

1 momth months months years
HES'm HHEE"'m HEE 'm HES 'm

Interast rate swaps
Contract/notional

amounts 1,388 4712 16,446 56,610 22568 101 224
Average fiwed
interest rate 340% 3.48% 2590 321% 302% i
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24, Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

(b) Hedge accounting (continued)
Fair value hedges [continued)

The amaunts relating to items designated as hedgirg instruments are as follows:

Change in fair

Contract/ value used for

notional i e 1o recognising hedge

amounts Assels Liabilities ineffectivenass
HES'm HES 'm HK$'m HKS'm

Cierivative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps 78,667 3,668 (54} (1,038)

Change in fair
Contract/ value used for

notional Al recognising hedge

amounts Assets Liabilities ineffectiveness
HES'm HES'm HES'm HES'm

Deerivative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps 101,824 L0222 [142) (2,480
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24, Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

(b) Hedge accounting (continued)
Fair value hedges [continued)

The amaunts relating to hedged items are as follows:

2024

Aceurniulated smount of Change in

fair value hedge

value used for

adjustrment included in ———

Carrying amounts the carrying ameunts hedge
Assets Liabilities Assats Liabilities ineffectiveness

HK4'm HES'm HES'm HK4'm HE$'m

Investmenit in securnities

Diebrt sacurities T8N - [4,146] - 980
Diebrt securities and certificates of depasit

in issua

Senior nates - - - - [l

Accumulated amount of
fair value hedge

Change in
value used for

adjustment included in
Carrying amounts the carrying amounts hedgs

recagnising

Assels Liabilities Lisbilities  ineffectiveness
HES'm HE4'm HES'm

Investmenit in sacurities

Dbt sacurities a2 - (5833 - 1195
Dbt sacurities and certificabes of depasit
in issue
Senior nates - 1,959 - o 63
a2 11,999 (5833 LK FAEN]

Hedge imeffectivensss recognised is as follows:

2023
HES'm

Met trading loss (56) (348)

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024 261

433/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2
oOoOooodd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25, Advances and other accounts

2023
HES'm

Personal leans and advances 600 944 &00813

Corpaorate boans and advances 1,075.942 1,101 485

Advances to customers 1,676 886 1,702302
Less: Impairment allowances

- Stage 1 (5,454) 14,1100

- Stage 2 11,551) {1,05&)

- Stage 3 (79500 (9555)

1,661,931 1 £E7 581

Trade bills 2,154 3751
Less: Impairment allowances

- Stage 1 n in

- Stage 2 - -

- Stage 3 - -

2,153 3,750

Adwarces to banks and other financial imstitutions 2222 1815
Less: Impairment allowances

- Stage 1 4) 2]

- Stage 2 - -

- Stage 3 - -

12118 1213

1,666,302 1693144

A5 at 31 December 2024, advances to customers included accnued interest of HES5,519 million (2023: HKSE,731 million).
As at 31 December 2024, advances and other accounts at fair value through other comprehensive income and
mandatorily classified at fair value through profit or loss amounted to HESZ,163 million (2023: HK34.512 million) and
HES80% million (2023: HES863 millicn) res pectively.

As at 31 December 2024, impairment allowance of advances and other accounts at fair value through

other comprehensive income amounted to HKSE millicn {2023: HKS29 million) and was credited to other
comprebensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. Investment in securities

2023
HES'm

Inwestment in securities at fair walue through other comprehensive income

- Treasury bills 474 367 305,168
- Certificates of deposit 4334 25910
- Other debt securities 529 481 434578
1,047 169 TELESE
- Equity securities 4531 4,706
1,051,700 770362

Investmenrit in securities at amortised cost
- Treasury bills 58 12
- Certificates of deposit 122 1214
— Other debt securities 177,202 206 8559
177,472 208,125

Less: Impairment allowances

- Stage 1 1500 47
- Stage 2 - -
- Stage 2 - -
177,422 208078
1,129,122 G7EA40
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. Investment in securities (continued)

Inwestrment in securities is analysed by place of listing as follows:

2024 2023
HE$'m HES'm

Inwestment in securities at fair walue through other comprehensive income
Debt securities ard cenificates of deposit

- Listed in Hong Kong 91,396 BB 26D
- Listed cutside Hong Kong 207 254 174,722
- Unlisted 748,519 B02065
1,047,169 765656
Equity s=curities

- Listed in Hong Kong 966 1,040
- Unlisted 3,565 1666
4531 4706

1,051,700 770362

Inwestment in securities at amortised cost
Debt securities ard cenificates of deposit

- Listed in Hong Kong 15597 15827

- Listed cutside Hong Kong 100574 12243

- Unlisted 52251 70208
1774212 208078

1,229,122 978440

Market value of listed securities at amortised cost 123,226 13459

Inwestment in securities is amalysed by type of issuer as follows:

2024 2023
HK5"'m HES ™

Sowereigns 682918 450,733
Pukblic sector entities 143,567 105,128
Banks ard other financial instituticns 324,209 286 400
Corporate entities T8 418 92085

1,129.122 975440

264  BOCHong Kong (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024

436/507



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2
oOoOooodd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. Investment in securities (continued)

The mowements in investment in securities are summarised as follows:

2024
At fair value
through other
comprehensive At amortised
incoma cost
HK5'm HK5'm
At 1 Januany 2024 770,362 208,078
Additions 1,524,535 45 515
Disposals, redemptions and maturity (1,228,954) (73,748)
Amaortisation 1,439 [151)
Chamge in fair value/fair value hedge adjustment 1,214 24
Met charge of impairment allowances - (3]
Excharge difference (17,896 (2,303)
At 31 December 2024 1,051,700 177,422
At fair value
through other
comprehensive At amortised
income cost
HK% 'm HES m
At 1 January 2023 697,817 2359196
Additions 1,316,600 40655
Disposals, redemptions and maturity {1,243 340) {T1,518)
Amaortisation 3,460 &17
Charge in fair value/fair value hedge adjustment 6,838 213
MNet reversal of impairment allowarnces - 15
Exchange difference {11,063} (1,102
At 31 December 2023 770,362 208078

The Group has designated certain equity securities as equity securities at fair walue through other comprehensive
income. The fair value through other comprebensive income designation was made because these are held for strategic
inwestments. Irvestments include subordinated Additicnal Tier 1 securities, listed and unlisted equity shares.

The Group derecognised certain equity securities at fair value through other comprebensive income with fair value of
HES488 millior {2023: HK5233 million) during the year. The derecognition was made because of portfolic rebalancing
and the redemption by issuer.
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27. Interests in associates and joint ventures

20
HKS

At 1 January

Addition of associates and jeint ventures
Share of results

Share of tax

Dividend received

Excharge difference and athers

At 31 December

23

‘m

1275 843
25 1,102
(92) {215)
12 (13

- 431

= {1
1,196 1275

The particulars of the Group's associates and joint ventures, all of which are unlisted, are as follows:

Place of
incorporation
Name

and operation

BOC Services Company Limited Beijirg, China

FutureX Inrowation Limited Cayman lslands

zolden Harvest
{Cayman)] Limited

Cayman lslands

Joint Electronic Teller Horg Komg, China

Services Limited
Liwi Bank Limited Hamg Komng, China
Sunac Realtor Capital Limited Cayman Islands
Black Spade Asia Acquisition Ca.

Cayman [slands

GEA Equity Fund Il LPF Horg Komg, China

Interast

Issued share capital held Principal activities

Registered capital 455 Credit card back-end
ReNAB S0 (0o (Do service support
uss1 20% Inwestmert holding

55100 40% Inwestmernt holding

HES 10 025,200 19.96%  Operation of a private
inter-bank message

switching metwork in

respect of ATM services

HES3, 792 000,000 49.91% Banking business
LS5l 20% Inwestmernt holding

HES 1595 D00 108 Inwestmernt holding

ha 10.20% Fund

Mane of the above associates and joint ventures is considerad individually or in aggregate material to the Group.
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28. Investment properties

2023
HES'm

At 1 January

Additions

Disposals

Fair value losses (Mate 15)

Reclassification from properties, plant ard equipment (Mote 23]

At 31 December

14,875 16069
118 %
m -
{1,487 {1,270
541 50
14,045 14875

The carryirg walue of investment properties is analysed based on the remaining terms of the leases as follows:

2023
HES'm

Held in Hzng Kzng
On long-term lease (over 50 years)
O medium-term lease (10 to 50 years)

Held cutside Hong Kiong
On mediurm-term lease (10 to 50 years)
On short-term lease {less than 10 years)

4562 4519
9,201 9937
232 261

51 58
14,046 14875

As at 31 December 2024, investment properties were included in the balance sheet at waluation carried out at
31 December 2024 on the basis of their fair value by an independent firm of chartered surseyors, Knight Frank Petty Limited.
The fair value represents the price that would be received to sell each investment property in an ordery transaction with

market participants at the measurement date.

439/507

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2024 267



EDINETOOOO
o o {0 o2
oOoOooodd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. Properties, plant and equipment

Equipment,
fixtures and Right-of-use
Premises fittings assels®
HKS 'm HK5"'m HKS 'm
Met book value at 1 January 2024 39,455 1,051 1,232 41,738
Additions 1,045 49 TH2 1076
Disposals [6) 4 (24) (34)
Revaluation (2,877 - - (2,87T)
Depreciation for the year 1A74) (386) (556] (2,116)
Reclassification to investment properties (Note 28) (541) - - (541)
Excharge difference 1 {2) |2} 4)
Met book value at 31 December 2024 35,903 08 1,431 38 242
At 31 December 2024
Cost or valuation 35,903 6,559 3,219 45 681
Acoumulated depreciation and impairment - (5,651) (1,788) (7,439)
Met book value at 31 December 2024 35,903 08 1,431 38242

The analysis of cost or valuation of the abowe assets

is as follows:
At 31 December 2024
AL cost - 6,559 3,219 9778
At waluation 35,903 - - 35,903

35,903 6,559 3,219 45,681
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. Properties, plant and equipment (continued)

Equipment,
fixtures and  Right-of-use
fittings assats®
HES m HKS '™
Met book value at 1 January 2023 41,782 1,155 1,324 44 261
Additicns 51 337 431 259
Disposals 30y (6} - (38
Revaluation {1,115} - - {1,115)
Depreciation for the year {1,181} (433) (569 (2,183)
Reclassification to investment properties (Note 28) ()] - - (L]
Excharge difference @ 2 5 (2
Met book value at 31 December 2023 30,455 1,051 1,232 41,738
At 31 December 2023
Cost or valuation 39,455 6557 2814 48826
Acoumulated depreciation and impairment - {5,506) {1,580 {7,088)
Met book value at 31 December 2023 39,455 1,051 1,232 41,738

The analysis of cost or valuation of the abowe assets

is as follows:
At 31 December 2023
AL cost - 6557 2814 2371
At waluation 39,455 - - 39455

39,455 6557 2214 45826

*  The right-of-use assets of the Group are mainky relsied oo lease of properies.
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29. Properties, plant and equipment (continued)

The carryireg walue of premises is analysed based omn the remaining terms of the leases as follows:

2023
HES'm

Held in Hzrg Kzng
On long-term kease (over 50 years) 10,403 11508
On mediurm-term lease (10 to 50 years) 25217 27542

Held cutside Hong Kiong

Or long-term lease [ower 50 years) 51 56
On medium-term lease (10 to 50 years) 201 17
On short-term lease {less than 10 years) N 32

35,903 39455

As at 31 December 2024, premises were included in the balance sheet at valuation carried cut at 31 December 2024
on the basis of their fair value by an independent firn of chartered surveyors, Knight Frank Petty Limited. The fair value
represents the price that would be received to sell each premise in an orderly transaction with market participants at the
measurement date.

As a result of the above-menticned revaluations, changes in value of the premises were recognised as follows:

2023
HES'm

Diecrease in valuation charged to income statement (Mote 16) {130
Diecrease in valuation charged to other comprehensive income IZ,EHIB} (985
(2,87T) (1,115)

As at 31 Decemnber 2024, the ret book value of premises that would have been included in the Group's balance sheet
had the premises been cammied at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses was HEKS9,528 million (2023:
HES5%,181 million).
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2023
HES'm

Precious metals

Intangible assets

Accounts receivable, prepaymenits and others
Insurarce contract assets

Reinsuramce contract assets

15,176 1127
2,535 2382
55415 33341
2 2
35,878 43792
100,006 90,524

The mowements in intangible assets are summarised as follows:

2023
HES'm

MNet book value at 1 January
Additions

Amaortisation for the year

Met book value at 31 December
At 31 December

Coat

Acoumulated amortisation ard im pairment

Met book value at 31 December

2,282 2213

934 905

781 {738
2,535 3322
7,849 5532
(5,314 {4,556)
2,535 2322

31. Hong Kong S5AR currency notes in circulation
The Hong Kong 38R curency notes in circulation are secured by deposit of funds in respect of which the Hong Kang

AR Gowermment certificates of indebtedness are held.
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32. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

2024 2023
HK$'m HES'm

Trading liabilities

- Shart positions in securities 62203 B9 50
Financial liabilities designated at fair walue through profit or loss

- Repurchase agreements 5807 4,154

- Structured deposits (Mote 33) 10,811 2159

16618 £353

78821 66,203

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the difference between the carrying amount of financial liakilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss and the amournt that the Group would be contractually required to pay at maturity to the
halders was not significant.

33. Deposits from customers

2024 2023
HKS"'m HESm

Current, sawings and other deposit accounts (per balance sheet) 2,713 410 2,501 pa2
Stnuctured deposits reported as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (Note 32) 10,811 2159
2,724.221 2503841
Analysed by
Demand deposits and current acoou nts
- Corporate 156,246 153546
- Persocnal 74101 62,720
230,347 216dss
Savings deposits
- Corporate 549 64 L9868
- Personal 483 593 451245
1,033 457 T3
Time, call and notice deposits
- Corporate 789, 749 620576
- Persocnal 670,668 &£495, T35
1,460 417 1316362
2,724221 2503841
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34. Debt securities and certificates of deposit in issue

2023
HES'm

At amortised cost
- Senior notes under the Medium Term Note Pragramme, with fair value
hedge adjustment® - 1599
- Rerminbi bonds'™ 5206 -

5208 1999

{i'  In February 2022, BOCHK issued HKS2 billion senior notes, interest rate at 1.33% per annum payable semi-annually,
due in 2024,

(i)  InMovember 2024, BOCHEK issued AMBS billion bords, interest rate at 2% per annum payable annually, due in 2026.

35. Other accounts and provisions

2023
HES'm

Cither accounits payable and provisions 154,123
Lease liabilities 1,402 1 ,E'L"Eu
Impairment allowances on lean cemmitments and

financial guarantes contracts

- Stage 1 32 ER bl

- Stage 2 o7 30

- Stage 2 21 1
Reinsurance contract liabilities 9 714
155,904 54554
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36. Deferred taxation

Ceferred tax is recognised in respect of the temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carryirlg amounts in the financial statements and unused tax credits in accordance with HEAS 12 “Income
Taxes"

The major components of deferred tax (assets)fliabilities recorded in the balance sheet, and the mowements durirg the
year are as follows:

Accelerated
tax Property Imipa ireent
depreciation  revaluation allowances
HK%'m HK%'m HK5'm
At | January 2024 865 5011 [918) (1,019 {1,577 3,262
Charged#credited] toincome
staterment (Mota 17} o9 [195) [80) [251) [341) (858)
{Credited)icharged to other
comprehensive incoma - [508) - - T [429)

Relaase upon disposal of equity
instrurments at fair value through

other comprehensive income - - - - T 7
Ewcharge difference and others - - - 7 - 7
At 31 Decamber 2024 874 5,208 (9498) [1,263) (1,832) 1,989

Accelerated
tax Property Impairment
depreciation revaluation allowances
HES'm HES'm HK4'm
At | January 2023 341 6278 (E31) [1,128) 11,978) 3034
Chargedfcredited] toincome
statement {Mota 17} 4 165} am 10% 217 338
{Credited)/icharged to other
comprehensive income - [202) - - a4 411

Aelaaza upon disposd of equity

instrurments at fair value through

other comprehansive income - - - - - -
Excharge diffarence and others - - - - 2 l

At 31 Decamber 2023 1 £an {BE) 0% {1,570 3,242
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. Deferred taxation (continued)

Cieferred tax assets and liabilities are offset on an irdividual entity basis when there is a legal right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxation relates to the same authority. The following amounis,
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the balance sheet:

2023
HES ™

Deferred tax assets 11,953 11,4800
Deferred tax liabilities 1,941 4,742
1,989 3262

2023

HES'm

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than tweke months (1,764) (1,453)
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after mare than twelve months 4935 Lary
317 4524

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no unrecognised deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses (2023: Nil).
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37. Insurance contracts

(@) Reconciliation of remaining coverage and incurred claims for insurance contracts
issued

024

Liabilities for remaining coverage

Excluding
loss Loss Liabilities for
component component  incurred daims
HKS"m HK5'm HKS'm
At 1 January 176,912 625 334 177,871
Insurance revenue [1,685) - - [1,695]
Insurance service expensas
Incurred claims and other directly
attributable axperses - (11} 441 430
Amortisation of insurance acquisition
cash flows 367 - - 367

Changas that relate to past senvice -
changes in the fufilment cash flow
relating te the liabilities for incumred

claims - = (5] (5]
Losses on onerous contracts ard
reversals of those lossas - 187 - 287
Lossas for the net cutflow recognised
on initial recognition - 138 - 138
167 414 436 1,217
Insurance finance expensas/incoma) 1,873 45 (3) 3,915
Investment components (31,927 - 31,9217 -
Cash flows
Pramiums received 37,674 - - 37,674
Claims and other directly attributable
axperses paid - - (32,375) [32,275)
Insurarce acquisition cash flows [1,854) - - [1,854)
35,820 - [32,375) 3,445
A1 31 Decembsr 181,350 1,084 319 183,753
Insurance contract liabilities 182,352 1,084 319 183,755
Insurance contract assets 2] - - (2]
181,350 1,084 319 183,753
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37. Insurance contracts (continued)

(@) Reconciliation of remaining coverage and incurred claims for insurance contracts
issued (continued)

2023

Liabilities for remaining coverage

Excluding
loss Loss Liakvilities for
component component incurred claims
HES m HKS 'm HES'm
At 1 January 168,674 120 409 163,243
Imsuranca revenue (1897} - - [1,697]

Insurance service expensas

Incurred claims and other directly

attributable axperses - (6] 478 471
Amortisation of insurance acquisition

cash flows 177 - - 177

Changas that relate to past senvice -
changes in the fufilment cash flow
relating te the liabilities for incumred

claims - - {13 13
Losses on onerous contracts ard
reversals of those lossas - 154 - 354
Lossas for the net cutflow recognised
on initial recognition - &8 - &%
177 417 465 1,065
Insurance finance expensas/incoma) 8,047 48 5} 8,090
Investment components {22,342) - 12341 -
Cash flows
Premiums received 25743 - - 25743
Claims and other directly attributable
axperses paid - - {22877} {11E77T
Insurarece acquisition cash flows (1,490 - - (14900
14353 - 22877 1376
A1 31 Decembsr 176,512 625 EES) 177 E71
Insurance contract liabilities 176517 6325 331 177 B73
Insurance contract assets [45] - 3 12
176,512 6325 334 177 BE71
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. Insurance contracts (continued)

(b} Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contracts not measured
under the premium allocation approach

Contractual service margin

Present value Contracts

of future cash measured under
flows and risk Contracts the fair value
adjustment for recognised after approach at
non-financial isk  transition date transition
HEKS 'm HK$'m HES'm

&t 1 January 166,528 4470 6863 177,861
Changes that relate to current service
Contractud sarvice margin
recognisad for tha service
providad = (572 (1,034) (1,606]
Changa in the risk adjustmeni for
rion-finanicial risk for the risk

aupired 41) = - (41)
Exparience adjustmants [228) - - [228)
[269) 572 (1,024) (1,875]

Changas that relate to future sarvica
Changas in estimates that adjust the
confractual serice margin 140 446 [586) -
Changas in estimatas that result
in orerous contract losses and

reversals of those lossas 287 - - 287
Contracts initially recegnised (3.,998) 4136 - 138
[3,571) 4 581 [586) 425

Changas that relate to past service
Changas in the fulfilmant cash
flow relating to the liabilities for
ircumed claims [5) - - (5]
Experience adjustmants - - - -

[5) = = (51
Insurance finance expensas/incoma) 3,861 [82) 136 3,915
Cash flows
Premiums receiwved 37,634 - - 37,634
Claims and other directly attributable
axperses paid [31,351) = = [31,351)
Insurarce acquisition cash flows [1,851) - - [1,851)
3,432 - - 3,432
&1 31 Decamb=er 169,976 8398 5319 183,753
Insurance contract liabilities 169,977 B§.308 5,379 183,754
Insurance confract assets i - - (1]
169,976 8398 5319 183,753
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. Insurance contracts (continued)

(b} Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contracts not measured
under the premium allocation approach (continued)

Contractual service margin

Present value Contracts

of future cash measured under
flowis and risk Contracts the fair value
adjustment for  recognised after approach at
non-financial risk transition date transition
HES'm HES '™ HES 'm

&t 1 January 158,233 1,750 9,256 169,235
Changes that relate to current service
Contractual service margin
recognised for the service
provided - (246 (895} [1,141)
Changa in tha risk adjustrment for
non-finandal risk for the risk

expired Z3) - - (PE]]
Expeariance adjustmenits [y - - [
{14 (246 (A5} [1,255)

Changas that relate to future sarvica
Changas in estimatas that adjust the
contractual service margin 1,599 181 (1587} -
Changas in estimatas that result
in cnergus contract losses and

revarsaks of those losses 354 - - 354
Centracts initially recognised [2926) 1,995 - 1
R 2,087 1,551} 423

Changas that relate to past service
Changes in the fulfilment cash
flow relating to the liakilities for

incurrad claims 3 - - AE]]
Experience adjustmenits - - - -
3 - - E]]
Insurance finance expensas/incoma) A0E 21 a3 8,090
Cash flows
Pramiurms received 15,736 - - 15,736
Claims and other directly attibutable
expensas paid {22 365 - - {22 865)
Insurance acquisition cash Aows (1,490 - - (1,490
1377 - - 1377
&1 31 Decamb=er 166526 4,470 6,863 177 841
Insurance contract liabilities 165525 4,470 6463 177 842
Insurance contract assets in - - i
166526 4,470 6863 177 841
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. Insurance contracts (continued)

(c) Impact of insurance contracts recognised in the year

Mon-onerous

contracts
originated
HKS'm

Estimates of the present value of future cash cutflows

Insurance acquisition cash flows 117 453 2170
Claims and other directly attibutable expenses 24 802 7,754 32,556

26,519 8,207 34,726
Estimates of the present value of future cash inflows (30,730) (8,080) (38, 800]
Risk adjustmenit for nenefinancial risk 65 n 76
Contractual servica margin 4136 - 4136
Loss component on initial recognition - 128 138

Non-onerous Onerous
contracts contracts

originated originated
HKS'm HKS'm

Estimates of the present value of future cash cutflows

Insurance acquisition cash flows 1,661 117 1, BB
Claims and other directly attibutable expenses 15,473 4310 19783
17,134 45317 21,671
Estimates of the present value of futura cash inflows [20,1&7) [4474) {24,641)
Risk adjustmenit for rorefinancial risk £l & 44
Contractual service margin 2,995 - 2,95
Loss component on initial recogrition - 63 1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. Insurance contracts (continued)
(d) Expected release of the contractual service margin

An analysis of the expected release of the contractual service margin remaining at the end of the reporting pericd
charge to income statemenit after the reporting date is provided in the following table:

Less than

1 year
HE% 'm

Insurance contracts issued 1,078 3427 9272 13,777

Less than

1 year
HES m

Insurance contracts issued 837 2729 7767 11333

The amounts disclosed in the table include projections of the contractual service margin recognition for the
services that will be provided ar received in the future for the contracts in force as at the repering date, but dao
nat take account of future interest accretion under the gereral measurement model ard future adjustments of the
contractual service margin reflecting changes in the wariable fee for contracts under the variable fee approach.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. Subordinated liabilities

2023
HES'm

Suberdinated loans, at amortised cost

RMEBT 0.0 billicnk - 1108
SO0 Billior = 7RG
LS00 billion™ = TA53
RMET 7.0 billicnk - 18,704
USE.0 Billior = 7A36
RMEBZ0.0 billicnt = 22043
RMBZE.5 billion™ 30,282 -
RMBT 5 billiort=® 7,965 -
RMEBT & billicon® 7,959 -
RMEB17.0 billion™ 18,037 -
RMEBT 2 billicnk= 7,739 -

71,982 75323

In compliance with the applicable intermal loss-absorbing capacity requirements under LAC rules, BOC has granted mon-
capital lass-absorbing capacity debt instruments totalling RMBEY 8 billion to BOCHE in 2024,

(i) Interest rate at 2.47% per annum payable annually, early repaid in 2024,

(i)  Interest rate at 5.30% per annum payable annually, early repaid in 2024,

(il  Imterest rate at 502% per annum payable annually, early repaid in 2024.

{iw)  Interest rate at 2.85% per annum payable annually, early repaid in 2024.

{¥]  Interest rate at 4.9%% per annum payable annually, early repaid in 2024,

{wi) Interest rate at 2.67% per annum payable annually, early repaid in 2024,

{wil} Interest rate at 2.11% per annum payable annually, due in 2026 with early repayment opticn.

{wiii] Interest rate at 2.19% per annum payable annually, due in 2028 with early repayment opticn.

{ix]  Interest rate at 2.13% per annum payable annually, due in 2028 with early repayment opticn.

{x) Imterest rate at 2.28% per annum payable annually, due in 2030 with early repayment opticn.

{«i]  Interest rate at 2.10% per annum payable annually, dus in 2030 with early repayment opticn.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. Share capital

2023
HES'm

Issued and fully paid:
10,572,780,266 ordinary shares 51864 L2pe4

40. Notes to consolidated cash flow statement
{a) Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash inflow before taxation

2023
HES'm

Operating profit 48 677 42558
Ciepreciation and amortisation 2867 2919
Met charge of impairment allowances 5082 6333
Unwind of discount on impairment allowances (162) (143)
Advances written off net of recoveries (4,5500 {2,955)
Interest expense on kease liabilities 42 41
Change in subordinated liabilities 470 1413
Change in balances and placements with banks and other financial

institutions with original maturity over three months (56.147) {(5111)
Change in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 153,217 (21,4600
Change in derivative financial instrurments 14,477 (1,082)
Change in advances and other accounts 26,606 {52,255)
Change in irwestment in securities (234,616) 23960
Change in other assets (26,057) {9793)
Change in deposits and balances from banks and other financial

institutions (21,621) 57047
Change in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 12,618 &,750
Change in deposits from customers 211,728 124,475
Change in debt securities and certificates of depaosit in issue 3297 {1,637)
Change in other accounts and provisions 71,718 15,263
Change in insurance ard reinsurance contract assets/liabilities 11,926 12,069
Effect of changes in exchange rates 13,987 5,495
Cperating cash inflow before taxation 8171 203877
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. Notes to consolidated cash flow statement (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

2024 2023
HEK$ 'm HES'm

Subcrdinated liabilities

At 1 January 75323 76393
Cash flows:
Payment for redemption of subordinated liabilities (73,045) {21,937
Interest paid for subordinated liabilities (2,535) 12,483)
Proceeds from subordinated liabilities 71,769 21837

Man-cash changes:

Exchamge differerce (1,977 {1,096)
Other charges 2,447 2509
At 31 December 71982 75323
2024 2023
HE$'m HES'm

Lease liabilities
At 1 January 1,206 1298

Cash flows:

Payment of lease liabilities (&00) {&13)

Man-cash changes

Additicns 778 430
Dizposal [24) -
Other charges 42 41
At 31 Decembser 1,402 1206

ic) Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents

2024 2023
HKS 'mi HES ™

Cash ard balamces and placements with banks and other financial

institutions with original maturity within three months 492 709 345438
Treasury bills, certificates of deposit and other debt instruments with

original maturity within three months

- financial assets at fair value through profit or lass 29 840 273,191
— irvestment in securities 126,739 112301
640 288 686230
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. Contingent liabilities and commitments

The followirg is a summary of the contractual amounts of each significant class of contingent liability and commitmenit
and the aggregate credit risk-weighted amount and is prepared with reference to the completion instructions for the
HEM& retum of capital adequacy ratio.

2023
HES ™

Direct credit substitutes 1,104 7

Transacticn-related contingencies 35614 28132

Trade-related contingencies 12,609 16,068

Commitments that are unconditionally cancellable without pricr motice 625977 628682
Cither commitments with an original maturity of

- up to one year 16,003 16520

- OWET ONe year 162,762 168212

854159 BEETI

Credit risk-wweighted amount 74205 78102

The credit risk-weighted amount is calculated in accordance with the Banking {(Capital) Rules. The amounit is deperdent
upon the status of the counterparty and the maturity characteristics of each type of contract.

42, Capital commitments

The Group has the following cutstandirg capital commitments not provided for inthe financial statements:

2023
HES '™
Authorised and contracted for but not provided for

Authorised but mot contracted for 132 49
578 E41

The abowe capital commitments mainly relate to commitments to purchase computer equipment and software, and to
renovate the Group's premises.
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43, Operating lease commitments
As lessor
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The Group has contracted with tenamts for the following future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable

operating leases:

2023
HES'm

Properties and equipment
- Mot later tham cne year
- One to twao years
- Two to three years
- Three t four years
- Four ta five wears

375 335
199 128
8 73
4 -
659 )

The Group leases its investment properties under operating lease arrangements, with leases typically for a peried from

one to three years. The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for rent
adjustments according to the prevailing market conditions upon the lease renewal.

44, Litigation

The Group has been served a number of claims and counterclims by various independent parties. These claims and
counterclaims are in relation to the normal commercial activities of the Group.

Mo material prowision was made against these claims and counterclaims because the directors believe that the Group
has meritorious defences against the claimants ar the amounts irvzlved in these claims are not expected to be material.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. Segmental reporting

The Group manages the business mainly from a business ssgment perspective and over 90% of the Group's revenues,
profits before tax and assets are derived from Hong Kong. Currently, four operating segments are identified: Personal
Bankirg, Corporate Banking, Treasury ard Insurance. The classification of the Group's operating segments is based on
customer segment and product type, which is aligned with the RPC (relationship, product and chanrel) management
madel of the Group.

Both Persenal Banking and Corporate Banking provide general banking services includirg warious deposit products,
overdrafts, loans, credit cards, trade related products and other credit facilities, investment ard insurance products, and
foreign curency and derivative products. Personal Banking mainly serves retail customers and small enterprises, while
Corporate Banking mainly deals with corporate customers. Treasury manages the funding and liquidity, and the interest
rate ard foreign exchange positions of the Group in addition to proprietary trades. The Insurance segment represents
business mainly relating to life insurance preducts, including individual life insurance and group life insurance products.
*Others” mainly represents the Group's holdings of premises, investment properties, equity inwestments, certain interests
in associates and joint ventures ard the businesses of the Southeast Asian entities.

Measurement of segment assets, liabilities, income, expenses, results and capital expenditure is based on the Group's
gccounting policies. The segment information includes items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that
can be allecated on a reasonable basis. Inter-segment funding is charged according to the internal funds transfer
pricing mechanism of the Group, which is primarily based on market rates with the consideration of specific features of
the product.

As the Group derives a majority of revenue from interest and the senior management relies primarily on ret interest
income in mamagirg the business, interest income and expense for all reportable segmenits are presented on a ret basis.
Under the same consideration, insurance service result is alsa presented on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. Segmental reporting (continued)

Parsend

Banking Subtetal Hinhators Comsoldated
HKi'n HKs'n HKi'n HE§'m

Yaaranded 31 Dacombsr 2004
NetinEies |penel fhooms

- Eeeml (12,65 FLH a0 5,116 184 14 - 52114
- ImEsagmen nso CAE] 7549 118 Bl - = =
18,908 19,036 5545 400 185 814 - 5134

Ketfee nd commi =i incomefapen)

- Eeeml 1T i 15 [2.56T) 1] L - 9053

- rersagnan [1515) 5 il 1561 66 1] [B58) -

510 R 1] Ll L] 174 10,751 L] Ll

Insurce senice resut - - - 1,608 - 1508 iL ] 1751
Net tragiing geinylloss) 5% 1674 0,17 2,134 & g 1] 10588
Net loss on cther finandial nsuments 2 farvalie

theough profit or sz 1 = [378] 8T - 784 | (2]
Ket qainlass) on othes inencl insnments - H [LEL Nz i [1,416] = 1,416
Insurnce finance fespenseshinaome - - = 2,139 = [FAELT] = 2139
(ther cpeiing ncome k]l 1 n " 1748 154 {1210 M4
Wt s prating incomes bafors inpaimant alkwances M6 4484 14508 1,616 T4 7,52 1, B8 i ]
Net ioharpelenenal of impaiment dwange: e (42261 (58] 1 (28] (5,063 = [5,082]
Wt perating incoma FUkLH 156 A0 1,07 E ] wam 1,808 66,171
[peiing seenzs (10,01 39611 1731 8] [354] [19,363] 1,68 [17.84]
() perating prafit 1481 16,195 1151 11 180 85m - 4807
Wt bos from disposdl e e sdjusiments on

imednen prpatis - - - - 01,47 {1,467 = 1,87
Wt boss fromm ciposarenaustion of properies,

plant nd equipmen k] - - - (30 [ - (3]
Share of wesuts sfer ta o associates and it vendues (15 - F| Fi] [114] 104 - [104]
Profit befars taxation 14284 16,195 1150 1,744 1670 £754 - 45754
31 Descarnbar 2004
ASSETS
Tegrem mEs CTr W Ty S A ] 191,61 W el (55,600 419210
Inteiests n assadates and joint veriues ] - 5 kL) Ti6 1,186 - 1,196

BISO 06T L3 WO 13 A2SON GSE 4184M8

LIABILITIES

Segmet fazitis 1M 1 B93,380 188541 e 3eamTE [S5,600)  3ms207e
Yaarardud 31 Dacernber 2024

Crthr infomation

Cipial exgerditue 1] n - i 167 iu8 - ERFL]
Deprecistion and avatization 1,08 kil W ] 147 1910 (40 1887
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. Segmental reporting (continued)

Persond

Eanking g Teamny g [Cthers Surild  Bimingtiors  Consolidaied
HES'm HiEm HEE'm HEEm HES'm HES'm

Yaaranded 31 Dacembsir 2003
NetinEies |penel fhooms

- Egeml (10250 0 B R 150 i - R
- hesanen T & A ey [ - - -
! W 34 40 1 Al - i

Het e e commizion inzeme fempenas)

- Egeml £ i1 145 (1054 1] LU - Wi

- fa-seqnen (1028 g 1 i) a7 i e -

) g1 m m 141 oy 4 g

Inswrerce senice resut - - - EE - i e o
et tding geinfios| 5 175 I 4 al EEY 12 B3E
Rt qaind)azs)on other francil netnmens 2 farvhe

theough ofit aross ] - (43 | - 1% 1 i
Net gainfesshon ather inncl nstnunens - 10 1333 151 & 1455 - 458
swrence irance (espenses|iname - - - {54304 - 5] - B8
Dthe apssting come il [ £ L3 e 1 [L3%5) i3
Wit o parating income bafors inpaimant alkwancas uma et i1 15 T 634 {14} £E
Het (phargelirenersa of mpaiment dlomance: 30 B 1] {1} m [0 ] - [ 20]
Wt parting incoms nu a7 i4n 1385 TH0 158 {134} B
[peying zezansa o BEIy (145 el L] (AL LEE ST
Ojpsrating prolit W 15 e 11 Efi] 2350 - Fi:o]
el lossFrom dsposdl offin e adjustmerts on

ivesmer prpstis - - - - 1270 ({hey ] - 170
et loes o dspod fevduction of preris,

plant nd equipmen il - - - 34 51 - i)
Share of sesuits dher i of msodaes and joint venons 2] - L - i} |5 - ]
Preft befrs taxation e 15 e 1o 20 94 - 2904
Bt 31 Decurmbar 2003
ASSETS
Sepmet e GBEE IS BB WIR W RE Al RS
Imesests i assadiates nd joim venues mn - 3 b 50 1,175 - 1275

(210K 1154 188132 W46l 150, 17 LEA Al HRETES

LIABILITIES

Segmet fazitis | 355 THE [RE A w2 13521 1400 1438y TRLIS
Yoarandsd 31 Decembse 2003

Crthr infomation

Cipial exgerditue 4 15 1 3] 181 11 - 17
Deprecistion and avatization 1068 i IR | 134 135 1 1am
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. Offsetting financial instruments

The following tables present details of the Group's financial instruments subject to offsetting, erforceable master netting
arrangements and similar agreemenits.

(Gross amounts Relyted ameunts
ofrecognised  Met amourtts of it st off in the balance shest
Gross amounts finandal fimandal
of recognised liabilities nssats Cash
financial setoffinthe  presembed inthe collateral
FET balarce shieat balance sheet received
HKS'm HKY'm HS'm HES'm
Assets
Dierivetive firancl incinum ens 56,170 - 56,110 [31,851) [18,675) 6,44
Reverse repurchase agreements 17478 - ITam (27,8790 - -
Serurities bomawing agresments 3,00 - 3,800 (3,000 - -
(ither as:ets 15,585 [8,654] 6,88 m = 150
104,034 [8,654] 9530 [63,531) [18,675) 13,134
Gross ameunts Related ameunts
ofrecognised  Metamourtts of it st off in the balance shest
Grass ameunts finandal finandal
of recognised REmats liabilities Cash
finandial satoffinthe presembed inthe Frandal caollateral
liahilities balarice shest balarice sheet instrumenits* pled ged
HKS'm L HS'm HES'mi HES'm
Liabilities
Dierivative financal instum ents 4154 - 42,548 [31,613) [8,613) 131
Repurchae ageements 06,933 - 96,033 [06533) - -
Cither liabdities B985 [8,654] m m = W

148,47 I8, 664) 130,782 [128,547) 18,613 2522
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. Offsetting financial instruments (continued)

Gros amaunts Related amounts

ofrecognised  Met amounts of not set off in the balance sheat

Gross amounts financial financial
of recognisad liahikties assets Cash
fimancial setoffinthe  prasentedin the Financial collateral
assets balance sheet balance shest retuments® raceived Net amount
HKSm HES'm HES'mi HIS'mi HKS'mi HE'm
Assels
Dierivative francl irctum ers sl - sl {13565 {2300 1212
Rewerse repurchase areaments mm - nm 217 - -
Senurities bamowing agresments 150 - 1B (3800 - -
(ther asets 15658 11534 405 - - 4005

AR 1534 £6757 48,135 2310 LIE

Gros amaunts Related amounts

ofrecognised  Met amounts of nt set off inthe balance sheat

farass amounts financial financial
of recognisad assets liahikties [Cash
firancial setoffinthe  prasentedin the Financial collateral
liabilkies balance sheet balance shest retumenks® pledged LEE T
HES'm HES'm HES'm HES'm HKS'm HE'm
Liabilities
Disrivitiee finarecil ircstrum enits A - iRt 3614 (2,288 1552
Repurchaze agements 445 - 48 4405 - -
Other liabditiss 143:4 1824 13 - - 30

73 (11534 76219 [£6 105 (2,285 5832

* Including norrcash collateral

For master netting agreements of OTC derivative, sale and repurchase and securities lending and borrowing transactions
entered into by the Group, related amounts with the same counterparty can be offset if an event of default or other
predetermired events ocour.
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47. Assets pledged as security

&5 at 31 December 2024, the liabilities of the Group amounting to HKS31 257 million (2023: HKS38,253 million) were
secured by assets deposited with central depositories to facilitate settlement ocperatiens. In addition, the liabilities of the
Group amounting to HKS115533 millicn (2023: HK5$84,241 million) were secured by debt securities related to sake and
repurchase arrangements. The amount of assets pledoed by the Group to secure these liabilities was HES 149091 million
(2023 HK5122,929 millicn) maink included in “Financial assets at fair walue through profit or loss” and “Investment in
securities”

In addition, the Group pledges securities amounting to HKS3,17% million (2023: HES3,271 millien) as initial margin of
derivative transactions.

48. Transfers of financial assets

B

Transferred financial assets that do not qualify for derecognition include debt securities held by counterparties as
collateral urder sale ard repurc hase agreements. The counterparties are allowed to sell or re-pledge these securities in
the absence of default by the Group, but have an obligation to return the securities upon maturity of the contract. These
securities are not derecognised since the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards. Amournts received under
sale and repurchase agreements are recognised as fimancial liabilities.

The followirag table analyses the carrying amount of the financial assets transferred to counterparties that do mot qualify
for derecegnition and their associated financial liabilities:

Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying

amount of amount of amount of amourt of
transferred associated transferred associated
assels liabilities assets liabilities
HKS'm [ ] HEZ'm HES'm

Repurchase agreements 97,135 96,933 44389 43 Beh

49, Interests in unconsolidated structured entities

"

The Group inwolves a number of inwestment funds in the normmal course of business, which mest the definition of
uncorsolidated structured entities, and eams management fee and trustes fee from those sponsored by the Group.
The Group's investment holding interests in the unconsclidated structured entities were recognised in financial assets
measured at FWPL As at 31 December 2024, the total net asset value of unconsclidated structured entities sponsored by
the Group amounted to HKS302,328 million (2023 HES1B7 425 million). Interests in unconsolidated structured entities
sporsored by the Group amounted to HES660 million (2023: HESS11 million) and interests in those sponsored by other
financial institutions amounted to HKS21,317 million (2023: HES 12,078 millior). For the year ended 31 Decembser 2024,
the abowe-mentioned management fee and trustee fee amounted to HEST7E million (2023: HE3660 millior). The
maximum exposure to loss from Group's interssts in these fund investments is equal to the total fair value of its
investments in these funds.
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50. Loans to directors

Particulars of loars made to directors of the Company pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies COrdinance
and Part 3 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

2023
HESm

Aggregate amount of relewant transactions cutstanding at year end 5 E

Maximum aggregate amount of relevant transactions outstanding
during the year 1 E

51. Significant related party transactions

The Group is subject to the control of the State Council of the PRC Gowernment through China Investment Corporation
{"CICT, its wholly-owred subsidiary Central Huijin Investment Ltd. ("Central Huijin®), and BCC in which Central Huijin has
controlling equity interests.

(a) Transactions with the parent companies and the other companies controlled by the
parent companies

Gereral information of the parent companies:

The Group is contralled by BOC. Central Huijin is the contralling entity of BCOC, and it is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CIC which is a wholly state-owned compary engaging in foreign curency irvestment management.

Central Huijin has controlling equity interests in certain other entities in the PRC

The Group enters inte banking ard other transactions with these entities in the normal course of business which
include loans, investment securities, meney market and reinsurance transactions.
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51. Significant related party transactions (continued)

(@) Transactions with the parent companies and the other companies controlled by the

parent companies (continued)

The majority of transactions with BOC arise from money market activities. Related party transactions with BOC
as disclosed below constitute conmected transactions as defined in Chapter 144 of the Listing Rules but under

exemption from its disclosure requiremeni.

2023
HES'm

Income statement items

- Interest income 3,190 2520
- Interest expenses 1694 4240
Balance sheet items

— Cash and balances ard placements with banks and other finarcial

institutions 117,459 134242
— Cther assets 585 W
- Irwestment in securities 14,070 B0
— Deposits and balances from banks and other financial institutions 74463 75445

Related party transactions with subsidiaries of BOC are summarised as below:

2023
HES ™

Balance sheet itemns

— Cash and balances and placements with banks and other financial

institutions 1,627 516
- Advances and other accounts 12,109 2416
— Deposits and balances from banks and ather financial institutions 16,693 19238

Far details of subordinated liabilities granted by BOLC, please refer to Nate 38,

Except as disclosed above, other transactions with BOC and with companies controlled by BOC are not

considered significanit.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

51. Significant related party transactions (continued)

(b) Transactions with government authorities, agencies, affiliates and other state
controlled entities

The Group is subject to the control of the 5tate Council of the PRC Gowvernment through CC ard Central Huijin,
which also directly or indirectly controls a significant number of entities through its government authorities,
agencies, affiliates and other state controlled entities. The Group enters inte banking transactions with
gowernment authorities, agencies, affiliates and other state controlled entities in the normal course of business at
commercial terms.

These transactions include, but are not limited to, the following:

- lendirg, provisicn of credits and guarantees, and deposit taking;

- inter-bank balance takirg and placing;

- sales, purchases, underwriting and redemption of bords issued by cther state controlled entities;
- rendering of foreign exchange, remittance and investment related senvices;

- prowision of fiduciary activities; and

- purchase of utilities, transpert, telecommunication and postage senvices.

() Summary of transactions entered into during the ordinary course of business with
associates, joint ventures and other related parties

The Group enters into banking and other tranzactions with associates, joint ventures and other related parties
which include but are mot limited to loans, inwestment securities and money market transactions. The aggregate
ircomefexpenses and balances arising from related party tramsactions with these entities are summarised as
fiolbows:

2023
HES'm

Income statement items
Associates and joint ventures
- Fee and commission income 12 20
- Other cperating expenses 14 70
Balance sheet items
Associates and joint ventures
- Irwestment in securities 957 41
— Deposits and balances from banks and ather financial institutions 49 406
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

51. Significant related party transactions (continued)

(€) Summary of transactions entered into during the ordinary course of business with
associates, joint ventures and other related parties (continued)

The related party transactions in respect of the other operating expenses arising from associates and joint
ventures abowve constitute conmected transactions as defined in Chapter 144 of the Listing Rules and the required
disclosures are provided in "Connected transactions”on pages 304 to 305,

Except as disclosed above, other transactions with associates, joint ventures and other related parties of the Group
are rot considered significant.

(d) Key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for plannirg, directing and
controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including directors and senicr management. The Group
accepts deposits from and grants loans and credit facilities to key management perscnrel in the ordinany course of
busiress. During both the current and priar years, no significant transaction was conducted with key management
personnel of the Company and its holding companies, as well as parties related to them.

The compensation of key management persennel for the year ended 31 December is detailed as follows:

2023
HESm

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 43 EL:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

52. International claims

The below analysis is prepared with reference to the completion instructions for the HEMA retum of international
banking statistics. In response to the HEMA revision of the relevant completion instructions, which took effect at
the end of September 2024, the following analysis for the year is prepared with reference to the revised completion
instructions. International claims are exposures to counterparties on which the ultimate risk lies based on the locations
of the counterparties after taking into account the transfer of risk, and represent the sum of cross-border claims in all
currencies and kocal claims in foreign currencies. For a claim guarantesd by a party situated in a lbocation different from
the counterparty, the risk will be transferred to the location of the guarantor For a claim on an owerseas branch of a
bank whaze head office is located in another location, the risk will be transferred to the location where its head office
is located.

Claims on individual countriesfregions, after risk transfer, amounting to 10% or more of the aggregate intermational
claims aof the Group in either year end are shown as follows:

2024

Non-bank private sector

Mon-bank
financial Non-financial
institutions  private sector

HK$'m HES'm
Chinese mainland 330,628 344179 14,223 63,022 761,052
Horg Kong, China 12,587 17,796 35 876 366,393 433,652
United States 23 897 191,831 58 687 B,145 282 560

Naon-bank private sector

Man-bank
Cifficial financial Non-financial
sector institutions private sector
HE$'m HE% 'm HEK% 'm
Chinese mainland 330,222 391,169 12,064 116,644 850 0o
Horg Kong, China 8439 16,902 43698 357,83 426 870
United States 29,635 146,302 14412 24334 214583
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53. Non-bank Mainland exposures

The analysis of non-bank Mainland exposures is based on the categories of non-bank counterparties and the types of
direct exposures with reference te the completion instructions for the HEMA return of Mainland activities, which includes
the Mainland exposures extended by BOCHK's Hong Kong office cnly.

2024

On-balance Off-balance
sheet sheat

BNpOSUrE eXposure
HESm HES'm

Cenitral gowermment, central government-owned

entities and their subsidiaries and joint wentures 1 333,254 43 216 176,480
Local gowernments, local govermmeant-owred
entities and their subsidiaries and joint venturas 2 71,21 3,803 75,114

PRC nationals residing in Mainland ar other
entities incorporated in Mainland and their

subisidiaries and joint ventures E 105,293 11,873 117,166
Crther entities of central government mot reported

in itern 1 abowe 4 17,687 1,804 30,491
Crther entities of local governments rot reponted

in item 2 above 5 200 1 201

PRC nationals residing cutside Mainland or
entities incorporated outside Mairland where

the credit is granted for use in Mainland & 10 454 6,337 55,8311
Crther counterparties where the exposures are

considerad to be non-bank Mainland exposures 7 2475 - 1,475
Tota E 590,324 68,134 658,458
Tota assets after prowision 9 3925776

Cn-balance sheet exposures as percentage of
total assets 0 15.04%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

53. Non-bank Mainland exposures (continued)

ltems
in the On-balance Off-balance
HEMA shest sheet

return exposure exposure
HEKS" m HES'm

Cenitral gowermment, central government-owned

entities and their subsidiaries and joint ventures 1 34E,102 23,154 371,258
Local gowernments, local government-owred
entities and their subsidiaries and joint wentures 2 84,302 4,581 B2.373

PRC nationals residing in Mainland ar other
entities incorporated in Mainland and their

subsidiaries and joint ventures i 125,112 20,785 145,897
Crther entities of central government mot reported

in item 1 above 4 27 53 2450 30,313
Crther entities of local governments rot reponted

in item 2 abowe g 1 406 1&2 1,568

PRC nationals residing cutside Mainland or
entities incorporated cutside Mairland where

the credit is granted for use in Mainland & 56 366 10,321 6h,6ET
Crther counterparties where the expaosures are

considerad to be non-bank Mainland exposures 7 2017 - 2917
Totd E 646,148 61,853 08,011
Tota assets after prowision 9 3421071

Cin-balance sheet emposures as percentage of
total assets 10 17.84%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

54. Balance sheet and statement of changes in equity
(@) Balance sheet

As at 31 December 2023
HESm

ASSETS

Bank balances with a subsidiary 1,011 1,147
Investment in securities a4 822
Inwestment in subsidiaries 55,422 LoA422
Amounits due from a subsidiary 17,906 12095
Investment in associates and joint ventures 685 928
Other assets - 2
Total assets 75865 o4&
LIABILITIES

Amounts due to a subsidiary 3 E
Total liabilities 3 5
EQUITY

Share capital 52864 L2864
Reserves 12998 17547
Total equity 75862 70411
Total liabilities and equity 75865 FLERAL

Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and signed on behalf of the Board by:

SUN Yu
Director
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

54. Balance sheet and statement of changes in equity (continued)
(b} Statement of changes in equity

Reserves
Reserve for
financial
asselts Retained

Share capital at FVOC] earnings Total equity
HEKS 'm HK$'m HES'm HKS'm
At 1 January 2023 52,864 (3,180 18,307 &7 531
Profit for the year - - 17,598 17598

Other comprehensive income:
Equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive

income - 15 - 15
Total comprebensive income - 15 17,598 17513
Dividends - - {15,193} (15,193)
At 31 Decembser 2023 52,864 [3,165) 0712 704N
At 1 January 2024 52,864 (2,165) 20,712 70,411
Prafit for the year - - 23,564 23,564

Crther comprehensive income:
Equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive

income - 19 - 19
Total comprehensive income - 19 23,564 23583
Dividends - - (18,132) (18,132)
At 31 Decembsr 2024 52,864 (2,146) 26,144 75,862
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55. Principal subsidiaries
The fiollowing is a list of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024:

Place of
incorporation Issued share

Name and operation capital =l Principal activities
Barik of China (Hong Kong) Limited Hang Kong, China  HE543,042 840,858 *100% Banking business
BOC Group Life Assurance Company Hang Kang, China HE%3,538,000,000 "L1% Life insurance

Limited business
BOC Credit Card (Intermnational) Limited ~ Hong Kong, China HKE5 565,000,000 100%  Credit card services
Barik of China (Malaysia) Berhad Malaysia RM7TE0,518480 100% Banking business
Barik of China (Thail Public Company

Limited Thailamd  Baht10,000,000,000 100%: Banking business

* Shares held directly by the Comparsy

The issued share capital of Bank of China (Malaysia) Berhad had increased by RM54,216310 to RMB14,734.790 on
28 February 2025,

The particulars of a subsidiary with significart non-contrelling interests are as fiol lows:

BOC Group Life Assurance Company Limited

e T T )

Prapaortion of cwnership interests and voting rights held by
nion-contralling interests 400 405

2023
HES '™

Prafit attributable to non-contralling interests

Acoumulated non-controlling interests 3,2'.'!6 2.993

Summarised fimancial information:

—total assets 191,436 187,153
- total liabilities 184 804 181 045
- profit fior the year 1,384 1,135
- total comprehensive income for the year 485 1425
- dividend paid to non-controlling interests 25 -
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56. Ultimate and immediate holding companies

The Group is subject to the control of the State Council of the PRC Gowermment through China Irwestment Corporation,
its wholly-owned subsidiary Central Huijin Investment Ltd. ("Central Huijin®), and BOC in which Central Huijin has
controlling equity interests. The immediate halding company of the Group is B3 Hong Kong (B Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of BCC

57. Events after the balance sheet date
Proposed acquisition and proposed disposal

According to the announcement of the Company made on 24 January 2025 BOCHE and BOCI Asia Limited
{"BOCI Asia”) have entered into (i) a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which BOCHEK has agresd
to acquire a total of 1,000,000 issued ordinary shares of Bank of China International Limited {"BOCI Private
Bank’), representing all the issued shares of BOC| Private Bank, from BOC| Asia at a consideration of RMB1,914
million {equivalent to approximately HES2,097 million) (the *Proposed Acquisition®), and (ii] a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which BOCHE has agreed to dispose a total of 3,350,000 issued ocrdinary
shares of Po Sang Securities Limited ["Po Sang Securities’), representing all the issued shares of Po Sang
Securities, to BOCI Asia at a consideration of RMB410 million [equivalent to approximately HES449 million)
ithe "Proposed Disposal’). For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24 Januarny 2025

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Proposed Acquisition and the Proposed Disposal were not completed. The gain
{or lzss) arising from the Proposed Disposal to be recognised in the consolidated income statemernt of the Group will
be cakulated based on the consideration for the Proposed Disposal, less the net asset of Po Sang Securities as of the
completicn date of the Proposed Disposal and the transaction costs for the Proposed Disposal. Based on the existing
information awailable, the expected gain arising from the Proposed Disposal to be recognised in the consolidated
income statement of the Group is not expected to be material. The Group intends to apply the majority of the sales
proceeds from the Proposed Disposal for its general working capital, with the remaining allocated for payment of the
transaction costs for the Proposed Disposal.

As of 31 December, the profit after tax and net assets of Po Sang Securities are as follow:

Pruﬁt after tax
2023 2023
HKS m HKS'm

Po Sang Securities

The completion of each of the Proposed Acquisition and the Proposed Disposal is subject to the satisfaction (or if
applicable, waiver) of its respective conditions precedent stated in the Acquisition Agreement and the Disposal Agreement
including the abtaining of requisite approvals from regulatorny authorities. Upon completion of the Proposed Acquisition
and the Proposed Disposal, BOC Private Bank will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of BOCHK and Po Sarg Securities
will cease to be a subsidiary of BOCHK respectively.

58

®

Approval of financial statements

The financial staterments were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025,
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the members of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 129 to 303, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide
the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Measurement of expected credit loss (“ECL") for advances to customers

Refer to material accounting policies in Note 2.14,
critical estimates and judgements in applying accounting
policies in Note 3.1, and disclosures on credit risk, net
charge of impairment allowances and loan impairment
allowances in Note 4.1, Note 13 and Note 25 to the
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group reported total gross
advances to customers amounted to HK$1,676,886
million, representing 40.0% of total assets and the
impairment allowance for advances to customers
amounted to HK$14,961 million, representing 95.0% of
the total impairment allowance on financial instruments.

The Group has adopted a forward-looking expected-
loss impairment model to recognise the expected credit
losses (“ECL") of its advances to customers. The
assessment of credit risk and the measurement of ECL
are required to be based on unbiased and probability-
weighted possible outcomes, and reasonable and
supportable information at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Significant management
judgements and estimates are involved in the
development and the application of models and the
choices of inputs in the calculation of ECL, including:

1) segmentation of financial assets according to credit
risk characteristics;

2) estimation of probability of defaults, loss given
defaults, exposure at defaults and macroeconomic
factor forecasts;

3) criteria on significant increase in credit risk; and

4) selection of forward-looking macroeconomic

scenarios and their probability weightings;

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s credit
management and policies and procedures and
evaluated the Group’s impairment methodology,
including the management judgement over the
segmentation of portfolio, the criteria on significant
credit deterioration and the measurement approach of
expected credit losses.

We tested the design and the operating effectiveness of
the key controls over the systems and processes of
credit assessment, loan classification, stage
classification and calculation of impairment allowances.
Our control testing on the loan impairment process
included an evaluation of the governance in respect of
the use of economic scenarios and the system
interfaces of inputs or other data sources such as
internal loan gradings and probability of default.

We adopted a risk-based sampling approach for our
loan review procedures. We selected samples based on
risk characteristics of individual items including the
industry (including loans granted to Mainland property
developers and local commercial real estate developers
and investors) and geographic location of the
operations of borrowers, internal loan grading and past
due history. We formed an independent view on the
loan staging through reviewing the selected borrowers’
detailed information such as their financial performance,
recoverable cash flows, valuation of collaterals and
other available information.
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

For Stage 3 advances to customers, management
judgement is required to determine the probability of
multiple scenarios and estimate the impact that the
uncertainties observed in current economic environment
may have on these exit strategies, the time required to
collect and collateral valuation.

In view of the significance of the impairment allowance
recorded by the Group and the management
judgements and estimates involved, the impairment
assessment of advances to customers are considered a
key audit matter.

We performed testing on the completeness and
accuracy of the data used in the ECL calculation as at
31 December 2024 by comparing the individual loan
data to the relevant data source on a sample basis;
evaluating the calculation logic and data processing and
recomputing for a sample of management’s calculation
of the impairment allowance.

We engaged our modelling specialists in evaluating the
impairment methodology and model enhancements. We
assessed the appropriateness of the ECL model used
by management in determining impairment allowances,
including changes made to forward-looking
macroeconomic scenarios, and evaluated the key
parameters and assumptions adopted in the model. The
key parameters and assumptions included ECL stages,
probability of default, loss given default, exposure at
default, and probability weighted economic scenarios.

For loans and advances classified as Stage 3, we
recalculated the impairment allowance by reviewing
inputs such as future recoverable cash flows and
valuation of collateral on a sample basis. For each
sample selected, we also assessed the reasonableness
of future recoverable cash flows and reviewed the
collateral value used where applicable.

We also evaluated and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the Group’s key controls related to
disclosures on credit risk in Note 4.1 to the financial
statements, and assessed the adequacy of disclosures
for compliance with the relevant accounting standards.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities

Refer to material accounting policies in Note 2.19,
critical estimates and judgements in applying accounting
policies in Note 3.3, and disclosures on insurance risk
and insurance contracts in Note 4.4 and Note 37 to the
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group, through its
consolidated subsidiary BOC Group Life Assurance
Company Limited, had insurance contract liabilities
amounting to HK$183,755 million, representing 4.8% of
the Group’s total liabilities.

The valuation of insurance contract liabilities involves
significant management judgements and estimates over
the eligibility for the measurement approach, the
determination of coverage unit and the uncertain future
cash flows. The valuation of insurance contract liabilities
was mainly measured as the total of fulfilment cash
flows (“FCF”) and contractual service margin (“CSM”).

Complex actuarial models and actuarial assumptions
with highly judgmental nature are used to support the
valuation of insurance contract liabilities. Key
assumptions, such as mortality, morbidity, lapse rates,
discount rates in the estimation of FCF and the
determination of coverage units for releasing of CSM,
expenses ratios, claim ratios, dividends and risk
adjustment for non-financial risk are key inputs used to
estimate the insurance contract liabilities as reported in
the consolidated balance sheet.

We obtained an understanding over the reserving
process through meeting with and inquiry of actuarial
team of the Group and inspecting the relevant
documentation.

We tested the design and operating effectiveness of
key controls over the valuation of insurance contract
liabilities and reperformed reconciliations on the
actuarial data back to the financial ledger and source
systems.

We engaged our internal actuarial specialist to assess
the valuation methodologies and key assumptions
applied with reference to relevant accounting policies,
market observable data (as applicable), the Group’s
past experience or industry experience. For the
assumptions updated in current year, we have also
assessed reasonableness of the changes against the
documentation provided by the Group.

For certain actual data used in the actuarial reserving
process, we performed test of details, on sample basis,
on the accuracy of amount of premiums, claims incurred
and commissions.

We tested the application of the valuation
methodologies and measurement of insurance contract
liabilities on selected insurance products or groups of
insurance contracts by comparing our independent
recalculation results and performed analytical review to
verify the reasonableness of the overall insurance
contract liabilities.

We also assessed the adequacy of disclosures related
to the valuation of insurance contract liabilities.
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Valuation of level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value

Refer to material accounting policies in Note 2.12,

We evaluated and tested the design and operating

critical estimates and judgements in applying accounting effectiveness of key controls related to the valuation of

policies in Note 3.2, and disclosures on fair values of
financial instruments in Note 5.1 to the financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's financial assets
measured at fair value amounted to HK$1,355,742
million, representing 32.3% of the Group’s total assets.
The Group’s financial assets measured at fair value
which were categorised within level 3 amounted to
HK$14,475 million, representing 1.1% of the Group’s
financial assets measured at fair value.

The Group has applied valuation techniques to
determine the fair value of financial instruments that are
not quoted in active markets. These valuation
techniques, in particular those requiring significant
unobservable inputs, involve management using
judgements and assumptions. With different data input,
assumptions and modelling techniques applied, the
valuation results can vary significantly.

Financial instruments which had significant
unobservable inputs in the valuation were categorised
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Higher degree
of uncertainty was involved in valuation of financial
instruments categorised within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.

In view of the significance of the higher degree of
uncertainty was involved in valuation of financial
instruments categorised within level 3, the valuation of
level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value are
considered a key audit matter.

financial instruments categorised within level 3,
including validation and approval of valuation models
and assumptions, review and approval of valuation
results, and back-testing on valuation results and
assumptions.

We performed the following substantive procedures on
financial instruments categorised within level 3 on a
sampling basis:

In respect of unlisted equity securities, we involved
our valuation specialists in evaluating the data
inputs, assumptions and modelling techniques,
through comparison with valuation techniques that
are commonly used in the market, and validation of
inputs against external market data.

In respect of unlisted fund investments, we assessed
the unobservable valuation inputs, such as net asset
values, by examining the most recent financial
statements of investee funds or net asset value
statements, conducting back-testing and evaluating
the accounting policies of investee funds.

We also evaluated and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the Group’s key controls related to the
fair value disclosures in Note 5.1 to the financial

statements, and assessed the adequacy of disclosures
for compliance with the relevant accounting standards.
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our

report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Mr. Huen Chun Man.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2025
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